
NOTICE

OF

MEETING

ADULT SERVICES AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
PANEL

will meet on

THURSDAY, 16TH MARCH, 2017

7.00 pm

COUNCIL CHAMBER - TOWN HALL, MAIDENHEAD 

TO: MEMBERS OF THE ADULT SERVICES AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL

COUNCILLORS MOHAMMED ILYAS (CHAIRMAN), MICHAEL AIREY (VICE-
CHAIRMAN), JUDITH DIMENT, CHARLES HOLLINGSWORTH, LYNNE JONES, 
JOHN LENTON AND SHEILA HOLMES (HEALTHWATCH (WAM)) 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS
COUNCILLORS MALCOLM BEER, DR LILLY EVANS, ASGHAR MAJEED, 
MARION MILLS, SIMON WERNER, EILEEN QUICK, LYNDA YONG AND 
GERRY CLARK

Karen Shepherd - Democratic Services Manager - Issued: Wednesday, 8 March 2017

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend this meeting. 

The agenda is available on the Council’s web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel 
Administrator Andy Carswell 

Fire Alarm - In the event of the fire alarm sounding or other emergency, please leave the building quickly and calmly 
by the nearest exit.  Do not stop to collect personal belongings and do not use the lifts.  Congregate in the Town Hall 
Car Park, Park Street, Maidenhead (immediately adjacent to the Town Hall) and do not re-enter the building until told 
to do so by a member of staff.

Recording of Meetings – The Council allows the filming, recording and photography of public Council meetings. This 
may be undertaken by the Council itself, or any person attending the meeting. By entering the meeting room you are 
acknowledging that you may be audio or video recorded and that this recording will be available for public viewing on 
the RBWM website. If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to the Democratic 
Services or Legal representative at the meeting.

Public Document Pack

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


AGENDA

PART I
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO

1.  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest.
 

5 - 6

3.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

To approve the Part I Minutes of the meeting held on February 1st 2017.
 

7 - 10

4.  FINANCIAL UPDATE

To note the contents of the report and appendices.
 

11 - 26

5.  ADULT SERVICES BUSINESS PLAN 2017-2018

To review the report and make recommendations to Cabinet.
 

27 - 44

6.  MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES UPDATE

To receive a verbal update from Angela Morris.
 

45 - 58

7.  BERKSHIRE HEALTHCARE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 2017 
QUALITY ACCOUNT

To consider the draft copy of the report and agree comments to be submitted 
to the Trust.
 

59 - 130





This page is intentionally left blank



MEMBERS’ GUIDANCE NOTE 
 

DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS 
 
 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS (DPIs) 
 
 
DPIs include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any 
expenses occurred in carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed 
which has not been fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any license to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in 
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, 
and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class belonging to the relevant person exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS 
This is an interest which a reasonable fair minded and informed member of the public would 
reasonably believe is so significant that it harms or impairs your ability to judge the public 
interest. That is, your decision making is influenced by your interest that you are not able to 
impartially consider only relevant issues.   
 
DECLARING INTERESTS 
If you have not disclosed your interest in the register, you must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as you are aware that you have a DPI or  
Prejudicial Interest.  If you have already disclosed the interest in your Register of Interests 
you are still required to disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.  
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the 
item but  must not take part in discussion or vote at a meeting. The term ‘discussion’ 
has been taken to mean a discussion by the members of the committee or other body 
determining the issue.  You should notify Democratic Services before the meeting of your 
intention to speak. In order to avoid any accusations of taking part in the discussion or vote, 
you must move to the public area, having made your representations.  
 
If you have any queries then you should obtain advice from the Legal or Democratic Services 
Officer before participating in the meeting. 
 
If the interest declared has not been entered on to your Register of Interests, you must notify 
the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.  
 
 
 

5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



ADULT SERVICES AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL

WEDNESDAY, 1 FEBRUARY 2017

PRESENT: Councillors Mohammed Ilyas (Chairman), Michael Airey (Vice-Chairman), 
Charles Hollingsworth, Lynne Jones and John Lenton

Also in attendance: Councillor David Coppinger, Gargi Caur (Healthwatch WAM)

Officers: Andy Carswell, Alan Abrahamson, Alison Alexander, Angela Morris and Rob 
Stubbs

APOLOGIES 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Diment and Sheila Holmes.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest received.

MINUTES 

The Part I minutes of the meeting held on November 23rd 2016 were agreed as an accurate 
record.

BUDGET AND COUNCIL TAX 

The Head of Finance gave a presentation to Members on the proposals, reminding Members 
that an increase in core Council Tax and an acceptance of the Adult Social Care Precept had 
been recommended for approval by Cabinet.

The Head of Finance told Members that the proposals had taken into consideration a number 
of factors, which included an increased demand for social care, changes in profiling of some 
recipients of social care, the introduction of the Apprenticeship Levy and additional funding to 
cover the loss of the main Government grant.

The Head of Finance said that an investment need of £2.5million in Adult, Children and Health 
Services had been identified. For services in other priority areas the investment need had 
been identified as £1.6million. However the Head of Finance added that potential savings of 
£5.9million had also been identified. These savings had already been considered by Cabinet 
in September and full Council in December, along with the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees.

Members were told that the proposed budget would mean a Band D charge for 2017/18 would 
be £961.46, which would incorporate the Adult Social Care Precept. Members were told that 
the charge for 2016/17 was £925.09 and the proposal therefore meant a total increase of 
£36.37 per annum for a Band D property.

The Head of Finance informed Members that the Council needed to borrow in the region of 
£73million; however significant returns on investment had been forecast through the 
completion of the Regeneration Programme, which would outweigh the amount that needed to 
be borrowed.

The Finance Partner told Members that an extra £3.6million had gone into providing services 
for older people during the previous two years. Significant investment had also been made on 

7

Agenda Item 3



residential and nursing home places, home care packages, services for people with mental 
health issues, Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding and being able to meet demographic 
growth within the Royal Borough.

Cllr Hollingsworth asked how much of the money allocated towards meeting demographic 
growth was provided towards refugees and immigrants. The Finance Partner said there was 
separate funding specifically for this.

Cllr Jones said she had asked for analysis of trends within Adult Social Care to identify either 
where savings could be made, or where extra funding was needed. She informed Members 
that she had raised this at other Overview and Scrutiny Panels. The Head of Finance said 
they were aware of Cllr Jones’ enquiries and would provide this information for her. He added 
that the data is likely to indicate an increase in the number of clients, complexity of cases and 
costs.

Cllr Lenton asked what assumptions had been made based on the trends in the Retail Prices 
Index. The Head of Finance said the fees and charges had been based on a two per cent rate; 
however the current rate was 2.5 per cent.

Cllr Lenton asked about the Council’s attempts at recruiting new staff members. The Head of 
Adult Social Care and Health said recruitment in the domiciliary care sector was proving 
challenging, although staff had been recruited for internal services. She added that the 
Council was working more closely with its provider networks in order to recruit more staff, and 
endeavouring to make early contact with them if contingency plans needed to be put in place.

Cllr Airey asked about investment into temporary accommodation for the homeless, and 
whether those eligible for it are either rough sleepers or people who had been identified as 
being at risk of becoming homeless due to the benefit cap. The Managing Director and 
Strategic Director of Adult, Children and Health Services said it would be provided for people 
in both of those categories and told Members that families who had been identified as being at 
risk due to the benefit cap had been visited and advised that the Council would make up the 
gap in their funding for a period of time in order to allow them to adjust. She added that rough 
sleepers had to demonstrate residency of the Royal Borough within the last few years in order 
to receive support. This was to discourage the arrival of an influx of rough sleepers from 
outside the Royal Borough.

Cllr Airey asked about the proposed six per cent increase to the Adult Social Care Precept up 
to 2019/20. The Head of Finance said that when the Precept was proposed there was an 
expectation any increases would be two per cent each year. Cllr Airey asked if there was any 
dialogue with the Government over the Precept. The Lead Member for Adult Services and 
Health said there was a dialogue through the LGA Wellbeing and Community Board, of which 
he was a member.

Cllr Jones noted that savings had been identified due to a reduction in the demand for 
services, and asked if this had been built into the base budget. The Managing Director and 
Strategic Director of Adult, Children and Health Services said that predictions on the number 
of older people accessing services could now be made more accurately. This was partly due 
to them being brought to the Council’s attention by the partnership arrangement with the CCG. 
The Managing Director and Strategic Director of Adult, Children and Health Services reminded 
Members that services would in future be provided in conjunction with Optalis and added that 
trends relating to services for older people would be monitored in the future.

Cllr Airey asked for more detail on the Apprenticeship Levy. The Head of Finance explained 
that the Government had instructed Local Authorities to fund an Apprenticeship Programme, 
and the Council had set a target of finding 33 apprentices. So far 10 had been found and were 
working in various roles throughout the Council. 

8



Cllr Airey asked if any apprentices could be taken on within the adult social care sector. The 
Managing Director and Strategic Director of Adult, Children and Health Services said that 
apprentices were being sought for all areas of the Council, but particularly for schools. She 
added that a Cabinet paper relating to apprenticeships, which would contain further 
information, was being produced.

Cllr Jones said that she was concerned the costs of recruiting apprentices would be passed 
on to schools, particularly smaller community schools, and informed Members that she had 
raised her concerns with the Head of Schools and Educational Services.

Cllr Jones asked what were the greatest identified risks in Adult and Social Care. The 
Managing Director and Strategic Director of Adult, Children and Health Services said changes 
in policy requiring the Council to respond differently to residents; changes in rulings on how 
Local Authorities have to be responsible for people originally from within the Royal Borough 
but now living outside of it; and possible increases in the number of people up to the age of 25 
living in residential care being supported in education had all been identified as risks.

Cllr Lenton asked what business rates the Council would be expected to pay. The Head of 
Finance said the rates would vary depending on when each project was brought before 
Cabinet, but said that rates would generally be higher when the Council borrows long term. 
The Head of Finance added that the Council received a preferential interest rate from the 
Public Works Loan Board.

The Chairman noted there had been a projected increase in users of Home to School 
Transport and asked why this was the case. The Managing Director and Strategic Director of 
Adult, Children and Health Services said this was due to changes in the demographic growth 
and more young people being eligible for Home to School Transport; an increase in the 
number of parents with children with Special Educational Needs applying for schools long 
distances from their homes; and an increase in people aged 18-25 returning to education who 
needed transport.

It was

RESOLVED: That the Panel noted the report and approved all of the recommendations 
to Cabinet:

i) Detailed recommendations contained in Appendix A which includes a Council Tax at 
band D of £915.57, including a 0.95% increase of £8.62.

ii) Adult Social Care Precept of 3% (an increase of £27.75 on the £18.14 precept 
included in the 2016/17 budget) to be included in the Council’s budget proposals, 
making this levy the equivalent of £45.89 at band D.

iii) Fees and Charges contained in Appendix D are approved.

iv) Capital Programme, shown in appendices F and G, for the financial year 
commencing April 2017.

v) Prudential borrowing limits set out in Appendix L.

vi) Business rate tax base calculation, detailed in Appendix O, and its use in the 
calculation of the Council Tax Requirement in Appendix A.

vii) Head of Finance in consultation with the Lead Members for Finance and Children’s 
Services is authorised to amend the total schools budget to reflect actual Dedicated 
School Grant levels.

9



viii) Head of Finance in consultation with the Lead Member for Finance is authorised to 
make appropriate changes to the budget to reflect the impact of the transfer of services 
to Achieving for Children and Optalis.

ix) Responsibility to include the precept from the Berkshire Fire and Rescue Authority 
in the overall Council Tax charges is delegated to the Lead Member for Finance and 
Head of Finance once the precept is announced.

(Four Councillors (Cllrs Ilyas, Airey, Hollingsworth and Lenton) voted in favour of the 
recommendations. Cllr Jones abstained from the vote after announcing that she would be 
making a presentation to Full Council on the Budget.)

Cllr Lenton asked if it would be possible for the Housing Associations within the Royal 
Borough to give a presentation to the Panel. The Managing Director and Strategic Director of 
Adult, Children and Health Services requested that the presentation be given to the Planning 
and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Panel and asked that Cllr Lenton be invited to the 
meeting. Cllr Jones requested that all Adult Services and Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
Members be invited to the meeting, which was agreed.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting whilst discussion took 
place on item 6 on the grounds that it may involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 1-7 of part I of Schedule 12A of the Act.

The meeting, which began at 7.00 pm, finished at 7.43 pm

CHAIRMAN……………………………….

DATE………………………………..........

10



                                    

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet:

i)  Notes the Council’s projected outturn position

ii) Approves the Foster Care allowances contained in paragraph 4.4 
and Table 2.  

iii) Approves a £65,000 loan the Crauford Arms Society Ltd. repayable 
after three months at a rate of 5% p.a. The loan would be secured 
on the Crauford Arms pub should the Society be successful in 
purchasing it. Details in paragraph 4.17. 

iv) Approves the addition of the Crauford Arms Society Ltd to the 
Council’s counterparty list for loans.

2.   REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 As this is a monitoring report decisions are not normally necessary. 

Report Title:    Financial Update  
Contains confidential 
or exempt 
information?

NO - Part I 

Member reporting: Councillor Saunders, Lead Member for Finance 

Meeting and date: 23 March 2017
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Russell O’Keefe, Strategic Director of Corporate 
and Community Services, Rob Stubbs Head of 
Finance.

Wards affected:  All

REPORT SUMMARY

1. This report sets out the Council’s financial performance to date in 2016-17.  In 
summary there is a projected £528,000 underspend on the General Fund, see 
Appendix A, which is a decrease of £11,000 from the February financial 
monitoring report.  This is due to a net reduction in the underspend forecast in 
a number of service budgets, see section 4.

2. The Council remains in a strong financial position, with a  combined General 
Fund Reserves of £6,359,000 (7.09% of budget) in excess of the £5,270,000 
(5.88% of budget) recommended minimum level set at Council in February 
2016.

11

Agenda Item 4



3.    KEY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 There is a General Fund Reserve of £5,355,000 and a Development Fund 
balance of £1,004,000, see appendix B for a breakdown of the Development 
Fund.  The combined reserves total £6,359,000.  The 2016-17 budget report 
recommended a minimal reserve level of £5,270,000 to cover known risks for 
18 months.

Table 1: Performance of general fund reserves
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded
Date of 
delivery

General 
Fund 
Reserves
Achieved

Below 
£5,000,000

£5,000,000
to
£5,490,000

£5,490,000
to
£6,000,000

Above 
£6,000,000

31 May 
2017
 

4.   FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY

4.1. The Strategic Director of Adults, Children & Health Services  reports a 
projected outturn figure for 2016-17 of £57,333,000 against a controllable net 
budget of £57,364,000, an underspend of £31,000. This represents a change of 
£103,000 from the overspend reported in February 2017.  The main changes 
from the previous month’s report are:
 £117,000 saving comprise a £31k reduction in home to school transport - 

following detailed review of individual cases, £86k arising from delays in 
recruitment and reduced costs of placements for young people with 
disabilities.

 £214,000 saving in services provided to people with learning disabilities 
following a detailed review of spending commitments and estimates of 
demand to the end of the financial year.

 £56,000 pressure from one new high cost child residential placement in 
January 2017.

 £100,000 pressure from legal advice provided in child care cases and agency 
staff in the PODs.

 £72,000 net pressure from a range of services including the provision of 
occupational therapy equipment and placements of older people into 
residential and nursing homes.

4.2. Within the dedicated schools grant (DSG) two variances have reduced the 
forecast pressures by £86,000:  
 £180,000 reduction in spend in respect of 3 and 4 year old children in private, 

voluntary and independent settings following the annual January “headcount” 
that informs this commitment.

 £94,000 additional spend on independent special school places.

4.3. There are no projected variances to report within the HR budget.

12



4.4. Foster care Allowance. The Department for Education (DfE) published revised 
recommended weekly rates for the payment of foster care allowances on 21 
 Feb 2017. These rates average 1.4% above the RBWM recommended rates 
for the current year.  It is recommended that cabinet approve these rates with 
effect from 1st April 2017.  Adoption allowance, special guardian allowances 
and residence order allowances are linked to foster care allowance rates, so 
they will increase in line with the increase in foster allowance.  Therefore the 
RBWM recommended weekly rates are detailed below.  There will no significant 
impact on the budget.  The fees are detailed in table 2 below: 

Table 2: Foster care allowances

 Age of Child
2016-17 

Rate
2017-18 

Rate
% 

Increase
0-2 £142 £144 1.4%
3-4 £145 £147 1.4%
5-10 £163 £165 1.2%
11-16 £184 £187 1.6%
16+ £216 £219 1.4%

4.5. The Strategic Director of Corporate and Community Services maintains the 
full year underspend projection of £64,000 on the 2016-17 controllable 
directorate budget of £4,337,000.

4.6. New pressures in the Communities service are matched by released cost 
provisions in the Property area.  

4.7. A part II report was taken to April 2016 Cabinet which described the potential 
cost of an appeal to a rejected planning application from Legoland for a new 
attraction. The claim was estimated at £170,000 and a provision made on the 
balance sheet. A £170,000 payment in full and final settlement of the claim has 
now been made and is included in the Directorate’s figures this month. This has 
been offset by a release and drawdown of the provision.

4.8. The Interim Strategic Director of Operations and Customer Services 
reports a full year underspend projection of £428,000 on net budget of 
£21,637,000.

4.9. Operational budget performance is maintained, with minor changes in Customer 
Services and Libraries Arts and Heritage and a larger additional IT spend of 
£115,000.  The latter figures includes:
 £13,000: Audio visual review of Town Hall meetings rooms including Council 

Chamber.
 £10,000: Replacement of Tinkers Lane Data hubs.
 £25,000: Upgrade to Network Shares platform (improves file download 

times).
 £50,000: Replacement of Network firewall protection.
 £17,000: Planned extension of interim Transitions Programme manager.

13



4.10. The projected pressure of £119,000 on Housing Benefits has been maintained. 
The latest estimate (January 2017) does indicate increased Housing Benefit 
Over Payment recoveries and an improved subsidy position.  At this point it is 
appropriate to hold this projection. The position will continue to be reviewed in 
the remaining month. 

4.11. Improved income reporting in Highways and Registrars is partially offset by 
additional pressures in Customer Services and Housing benefits, giving a net 
operational improvement of £11,000 from last month. 

Revenue Budget Movement
4.12. Revenue budget movements this month are in table 3, see Appendix C for an 

expanded full year Movement Statement.

Table 3: Revenue Budget Movement
Service expenditure budget reported to February Cabinet £83,338,000
No budget changes this month

Service expenditure budget  this month £83,338,000

Cash Balances Projection
4.13. Appendix D provides details of the Borough’s cash balance which is based on 

the assumptions contained in the 2017-18 budget report.  In addition to the 
investments in the 2017-18 capital programme, the borrowing expectations 
need to consider other capital proposals likely to come forward for approval 
during the year. 

Capital Programme
4.14. The approved 2016-17 capital estimate is £50,401,000, see table 4.  The 

projected outturn for the financial year is £32,851,000, an increase on the 
capital outturn in 2015-16 of £27,421,000. 

4.15. Variances identified in the capital programme have resulted in £1,274,000 of 
budget no longer required in 2016-17.  The majority of these savings relate to 
the revision of the Housing capital programme. 

4.16. Slippage of capital programmes to 2017-18 total £16,276,000.  There are no 
material changes to the slippage reported to February Cabinet, see appendices 
E and F.  Table 5 shows the status of schemes in the capital programme. Table 
6 is a reconciliation of the slippage reported to Cabinet in this report to the 
slippage estimated in appendix N (cash projection) of the February 2017 budget 
papers.

Table 4: Capital estimates 
 Exp Inc Net
Approved estimate £50,401,000 (£19,550,000) £30,851,000
Variances identified (£1,274,000) £1,332,000 £58,000
Slippage to 2017-18 (£16,276,000) £3,213,000 (£13,063,000)
Projected Outturn 2016-17 £32,851,000 (£15,005,000) £17,846,000
  

14



Table 5: Capital programme status
 Report Cabinet 

March 2017
Number of schemes in programme 532
Yet to Start 11%
In Progress 61%
Completed 23%
Ongoing Programmes e.g. Disabled Facilities Grant 5%
Devolved Formula Capital Grant schemes budgets devolved to 
schools

0%

Table 6: Slippage reconciliation
Net slippage projected in this report. £13,063,000
Less

LED street lighting*
         

(£2,300,000) 
Schools expansions* (£2,090,000) 
Additional slippage included in the cash projection (appendix N 
of February 2017 budget papers) £1,327,000
Slippage estimated  in February 2017 budget papers          £10,000,000 
* Slippage included on separate lines in Appendix N of the budget papers

4.17. Loan to the Crauford Arms Society Ltd. The Society has been raising funds 
with the aim of purchasing the Crauford Arms which they believe to be the last 
remaining pub in North Maidenhead. Social motives for the purchase are in line 
with the Borough's social initiatives to tackle loneliness and social isolation, 
particularly in the elderly. 

4.18. Negotiations with the owner are progressing at the time of writing and the 
Society has requested support from the Council in the form of a short term loan 
whilst VAT issues are dealt with. 

4.19. It is proposed that the Council make a £65,000 loan to the Society repayable 
after three months at a rate of 5% p.a. It is further proposed that the loan is 
secured on the Crauford Arms pub.

5.   LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 In producing and reviewing this report the Council is meeting its legal 
obligations to monitor its financial position.

6.   RISK MANAGEMENT
    

Table 7: risks resulting from this report
Risks Uncontrolled 

Risk
Controls Controlled 

Risk
None

15



7.   POTENTIAL IMPACTS 

7.1 None 

8.  CONSULTATION

8.1 Overview & Scrutiny meetings are scheduled prior to this Cabinet. Any 
comments from those meetings will be reported verbally to Cabinet.

9.   TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: Immediately.

10.   APPENDICES 

10.1 Appendix A Revenue budget summary
Appendix B Development fund analysis
Appendix C Revenue movement statement
Appendix D Cash flow projection
Appendix E Capital budget summary
Appendix F Capital variances

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

11.1 Budget Report to Council February 2016. 
11.2 Budget Report to Cabinet February 2017

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY) 

Name of consultee Post held Date sent Commented 
& returned 

Cllr. Saunders Lead Member for Finance. 20/02/17 20/02/17
Cllr. Rankin Deputy Lead Member for 

Finance.
20/02/17

Alison Alexander Managing Director. 13/02/17 13/02/17
Russell O’Keefe Strategic Director of 

Corporate and Community 
Services.

13/02/17

Andy Jeffs Interim Strategic Director of 
Operations and Customer 
Services.

13/02/17

Rob Stubbs Section 151 Officer. 10/02/17 10/02/17

REPORT HISTORY 

Decision type: 
For information 

Urgency item?
No

Report Author: Richard Bunn, Chief Accountant 01628 796510

16



 FINANCE UPDATE FOR MARCH 2017 CABINET Appendix A

SUMMARY Budget

Approved 

Estimate

Projected 

Variance

£000 £000 £000

Adult, Children's & Health Commissioning 7,636 7,113 694

Schools and Educational Services 5,285 5,278 (76)

Health, Early Help & Safeguarding 8,040 8,083 420

Health and Adult Social Care 32,408 33,012 (1,257)

Human Resources 1,167 1,537 0

A,C&H Management 834 1,116 188

Total Adult, Children & Health 55,370 56,139 (31)

Better Care Fund-Expenditure 9,915 11,047 0

Better Care Fund-Income (8,485) (9,822) 0

Total Better Care Fund 1,430 1,225 0

Maintained Schools 42,127 39,467 0

Early Years Education and Childcare Provision 7,154 6,335 (207)

Admissions and Pupil Growth 545 381 (40)

Support Services for Schools and Early Years 1,714 1,755 (207)

High Needs and Alternative Provision 13,430 13,641 1,177

Dedicated Schools Grant (64,970) (61,579) (723)

Total Schools Budget (DSG) 0 0 0

Total Adult, Children and Health Services 56,800 57,364 (31)

Director of Operations & Customer Services (27) 377 0

Revenues & Benefits 816 719 119

Highways & Transport 6,125 6,378 (50)

Community, Protection & Enforcement Services 6,957 7,223 (543)

Customer Services 1,704 1,813 106

Technology & Change Delivery 2,915 2,687 (40)

Library, Arts & Heritage Services 2,316 2,440 (20)

Total Operations & Customer Services 20,806 21,637 (428)

Director of Corporate & Community Services 85 146 0

Planning, Development and Regeneration Service (813) (696) (62)

Corporate Management 433 654 (41)

Performance 429 454 (30)

Democratic Services 1,955 1,895 14

Elections 261 263 0

Legal 104 98 (19)

Finance 2,353 2,381 (20)

Building Services 40 26 20

Communities and Economic Development (801) (884) 74

Total Corporate & Community Services 4,046 4,337 (64)

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 81,652 83,338 (523)

2016/17

17



 FINANCE UPDATE FOR MARCH 2017 CABINET Appendix A

SUMMARY Budget

Approved 

Estimate

Projected 

Variance

£000 £000 £000

2016/17

Total Service Expenditure 81,652 83,338 (523)

Contribution to / (from) Development Fund 1,133 355 0

Pensions deficit recovery 2,115 2,115 0

Pay reward 500 5 (5)

Transfer to/(from) Provision for the clearance of Shurlock Road (180) 0

Transfer to/(from) Provision for Redundancy (422) 0

Environment Agency levy 150 150 0

Capital Financing inc Interest Receipts 5,128 5,258 0

NET REQUIREMENTS 90,678 90,619 (528)

Less - Special Expenses (981) (981) 0

Transfer to / (from) balances 0 59 528

GROSS COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENT 89,697 89,697 0

General Fund

Opening Balance 4,681 4,768 4,827

Transfers to / (from) balances 0 59 528

4,681 4,827 5,355

NOTE Service variances that are negative represent an underspend, positive represents an overspend.

Memorandum Item 

Current balance on the Development Fund

£000

Opening Balance 649

Transfer (to) / from other reserves

Transfer from General Fund - sweep 

Transfer (to) / from General Fund - other initiatives 355

1,004

18



Appendix B

Corporate Development Fund (AE35) £000
Balance B/F from 2015/16 649

Transacted amounts in 2016/17
To/From Capital Fund

0

To/From General Fund
Transition Grant (2016/17 budget - February 2016 Council) 1,278
Restructure of the Development and Regeneration service  (2016/17 budget - February 2016 Council) -56
Minerals and Waste Strategy  (2016/17 budget - February 2016 Council) -61
Adjustment to contribution due to revised New Homes Bonus (2016/17 budget - February 2016 Council) -28
Delivering Children's Services (March 2016 Cabinet) -200
Additional Transport Model costs (April 2016 CMT) -43
Heathrow Expansion (March 2016 Cabinet) -30
Delivering Operations Services (March 2016 Cabinet) -100
Road & Streetworks Permit scheme (March 2016 Cabinet) -120
Review of Sunday Parking charges (April 2016 Council) -81
Forest Bridge Contingency (CMT June 2016) -100
Dynamic Purchasing System (March 2016 Cabinet) -4
Forest Bridge Contingency no longer required - revenue budget removed 100
Delivering Adults Services (Oct 2016 Cabinet) -200

355

1,004

19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C
Budget Movement Statement 2016-17

Funded by
Development
Fund (1)

Funded by
the General
Fund (2)

Funded by
Provision (3)

Included in
the original
budget (4) Total Approval

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Original Budget 81,652

1 Transforming Services 200 200 Cabinet March 2016
2 Disabled Facilities Grant (302) (302) Council Feb. 2016
3 Transport model 43 43 CMT April 2016
4 Heathrow Expansion 30 30 Cabinet March 2016
5 Redundancy cost 73 73 Cabinet May 2016
6 Redundancy cost 92 92 Cabinet May 2016
7 Desborough improvements 50 50 Cabinet March 2016
8 Transforming Services 100 100 Cabinet March 2016
9 NRSWA parking scheme 120 120 Cabinet March 2016

10 Sunday parking 81 81 Cabinet April 2016
11 Cleaning & maintenance costs at Cox Green Youth Centre 20 20 Council Feb. 2016
12 Redundancy cost 96 96 Cabinet May 2016
13 Forest Bridge Contingency 100 100 CMT June 2016
14 Pay reward 191 191 Council Feb. 2016
15 Pay reward 173 173 Council Feb. 2016
16 Pay reward 131 131 Council Feb. 2016
17 Dynamic purchasing system 4 4 Cabinet March 2016
18 Redundancy cost 25 25 Cabinet May 2016
19 Bus contract 44 44 Cabinet May 2016
20 Loss of rental income 50 50 Cabinet June 2016
21 Transforming Services 100 100 Cabinet June 2016
22 Redundancy cost 18 18 Cabinet May 2016
23 Redundancy cost 101 101 Cabinet May 2016
24 Removal of Forest Bridge Contingency (100) (100) Cabinet November 2016
25 Redundancy cost 17 17 Cabinet May 2016
26 Transforming Services 200 200 Cabinet October 2016
27 External support for management of the property portfolio 29 29 CMT June 2016

Changes Approved 778 293 422 193 1,686

Approved Estimate March Cabinet 83,338

NOTES
1 When additional budget is approved, a funding source is agreed with the Lead Member of Finance. Transactions in column 1 have been funded from a usable

reserve (Development Fund).
2 If additional budget is approved but no funding is specified, the transaction would, by default, be funded from the General Fund Reserve. Transactions in column

2 are funded by the General Fund.
3 A provision for future redundancy costs is created every year and this is used to fund additional budget in services for the costs of redundancy they incur during

the year. Transactions in column 3 are redundancy costs funded by the provision for redundancy.
4 Transactions in column 4 are amounts approved in the annual budget which for various reasons need to be allocated to service budgets in-year. An example

would be the pay reward budget. Pay reward payments are not approved until June. The budget therefore has to be re-allocated.

21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Note 1 – Reduced Council Tax and Business Rates collections in February and March coupled with 

the commitment to pay out £16m of LEP funding in March 2017 and £4.5m for the purchase of the 

Tenpin Bowling Alley site in Maidenhead causes a decrease in cash balances towards the end of the 

financial year 2016/17. Contract payments to AFC and Optalis due at the beginning of April 2017 will 

also reduce cash balances and increase the need to borrow. 

Note 2 – Capital expenditure is projected to increase steadily throughout 2017/18. The exact profile 

may vary and monitoring of schemes and cash balances will decide the rate at which our borrowing 

will increase to ensure that no unnecessary debt charges are incurred. 

£0

£20

£40

£60

£80

£100

£120

£140

1
0

/0
2

/2
0

1
7

1
0

/0
4

/2
0

1
7

1
0

/0
6

/2
0

1
7

1
0

/0
8

/2
0

1
7

1
0

/1
0

/2
0

1
7

1
0

/1
2

/2
0

1
7

M
ill

io
n

s 
12 Month Cashflow 

Debt

Cash assets

Appendix D

23



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E

 

Portfolio Summary Gross Income Net Gross Income Net Gross Income Net

2016/17 

Projected

2016/17 

SLIPPAGE 

Projected

TOTAL 

Projected

VARIANCE 

Projected

VARIANCE 

Projected

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's (£'000) (£'000) (£'000) (£'000) (%)

Community & Corporate Services

SMILE Leisure 428 (120) 308 1,418 (120) 1,298 46 (14) 32 923 540 1,463 (1) 0%

Community Facilities 155 0 155 330 (200) 130 17 0 17 267 77 344 (3) -2%

Outdoor Facilities 370 (100) 270 597 (154) 443 760 (486) 274 720 639 1,359 2 1%

Property & Development 0 0 0 30 0 30 512 0 512 325 210 535 (7)

Governance, Policy, Performance_Partnerships 588 0 588 340 0 340 406 0 406 539 207 746 0 0%

Regeneration & Economic Development 6,377 (185) 6,192 10,788 (495) 10,293 4,812 (1,075) 3,737 10,397 5,210 15,607 7 0%

Total Community & Corporate Services 7,918 (405) 7,513 13,503 (969) 12,534 6,553 (1,575) 4,978 13,171 6,883 20,054 (2) (0)

Operations & Customer Services

Technology & Change Delivery 0 0 0 0 0 0 334 (6) 328 285 49 334 0

Revenues & Benefits 0 0 0 162 0 162 48 0 48 96 114 210 0

Customer Services 0 0 0 200 0 200 276 0 276 278 198 476 0

Green Spaces & Parks 343 (308) 35 436 (322) 114 269 (136) 133 578 127 705 0 0%

Highways & Transport 9,609 (3,155) 6,454 10,519 (3,555) 6,964 2,118 (892) 1,226 8,014 4,623 12,637 0 0%

Community,Protection & Enforcement Services 890 (380) 510 960 (380) 580 993 (721) 272 1,445 465 1,910 (43) -5%

Libraries, Arts & Heritage 367 (295) 72 467 (295) 172 468 (147) 321 360 505 865 (70) -19%

Total Operations & Customer Services 11,209 (4,138) 7,071 12,744 (4,552) 8,192 4,506 (1,902) 2,604 11,056 6,081 17,137 (113) (0)

Adult, Children & Health

HR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Adult Social Care 41 0 41 48 0 48 217 (185) 32 216 51 267 2 5%

Housing 0 0 0 10 (10) 0 2,397 (2,017) 380 632 575 1,207 (1,200)

Non Schools 0 0 0 175 (130) 45 302 (229) 73 477 0 477 0

Schools - Non Devolved 4,550 (4,190) 360 5,817 (3,852) 1,965 2,015 (2,015) 0 5,168 2,686 7,854 22 0%

Schools - Devolved Capital 250 (250) 0 1,029 (1,029) 0 1,085 (1,085) 0 2,117 0 2,117 3 1%

Total Adult, Children & Health 4,841 (4,440) 401 7,079 (5,021) 2,058 6,016 (5,531) 485 8,610 3,312 11,922 (1,173) 0

Total Committed Schemes 23,968 (8,983) 14,985 33,326 (10,542) 22,784 17,075 (9,008) 8,067 32,837 16,276 49,113 (1,288) ()

(£'000) (£'000) (£'000)

Portfolio Total 23,968 50,401 32,837

External Funding

Government Grants (7,890) (12,528) (12,527,994) (10,691)

Developers' Contributions (933) (5,954) (5,954,183) (3,785)

Other Contributions (160) (1,068) (1,067,720) (515)

Total External Funding Sources (8,983) (19,550) (14,991)

Total Corporate Funding 14,985 30,851 17,846

2016/17 Original Budget

New Schemes -                                         

2016/17 Approved Estimate Schemes Approved in Prior Years Projections - Gross Expenditure

25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and:

i) Approves the Adult Services Business Plan for 2017-2018.

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1. In October 2016, the Royal Borough agreed to enter into a partnership with 
Wokingham Borough Council to deliver its adult services through Optalis, a local 
authority trading company.  This report provides the business plan for the 
delivery of adult services through Optalis in 2017-2018.

2.2. The service objectives set out in the business plan, see appendix 1, build on 
those delivered in 2016-2017 and have been developed in the light of current 
performance and key priorities, including delayed transfers of care and the NHS 
commitment around Transforming Care Pathway.

2.3. There are seven objectives for 2017-2018:
 Deliver a more agile and rapid response to residents which is based on 

having different conversations with residents maximising community 
support, enhancing residents’ abilities and independence.

 Deliver the Transforming Care Pathway action plan.
 Work on a career structure to retain high performing social care staff who 

do not hold a social work qualification.
 Implement making safeguarding personal across the statutory agencies.
 Maintain a good performance on delayed transfers of care.
 Ensure contract compliance with the Royal Borough’s service specification.

Report Title:    Adult Services Business Plan 2017-2018
Contains Confidential 
or Exempt 
Information?

NO - Part I 

Member reporting: Cllr David Coppinger, Lead Member for Adult 
Services, Health and Sustainability

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 23 March 2017
Responsible Officer(s): Alison Alexander, Managing Director/Strategic 

Director Adult, Children and Health Services
Wards affected:  All

REPORT SUMMARY

1. In October 2016, the Royal Borough agreed to enter into a partnership with 
Wokingham Borough Council to deliver its adult services through Optalis, a local 
authority trading company.  This report provides the business plan for the 
delivery of adult services through Optalis in 2017-2018.

2. The service objectives set out in the business plan build on those delivered in 
2016-2017.

27

Agenda Item 5



 Ensure all regulatory services achieve a good outcome through Care 
Quality Commission inspection.

2.4. The business plan is the operational delivery plan for adult services.  The 
service specification with Optalis sets out the performance management 
framework and expectations for the contract.

Table 1: Options
Option Comments
Approve the Adult Services 
Business Plan for 2017-2018.

This is the recommended 
option.

The business plan sets out the 
objectives for Adult Services for 2017-
2018 which aims to provide a consistent 
and coordinated response to residents 
with adult social care needs.

Not to have a business plan for 
Adult Services

This is not the recommended 
option.

Not having clear objectives for Adult 
Services for 2017-2018 will not enable 
the Royal Borough to meet its statutory 
duties under the Care Act.

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The key implications of the recommendation are at table 2.

Table 2: Key implications
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded
Date of 
delivery

Delivery of 
Adult Services 
business plan 
2017-2018

30 June 
2018

31 
March 
2018

28 
February 
2018

31 January 
2018

31 March 
2018

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY

4.1 No financial implications.  All activities outlined in the Business Plan will be met 
from existing budgets.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The Council has a range of statutory duties in relation to the provision of adult 
services principally:
 Those linked to its functions and responsibilities under the Care Act 2014.
 Regulations in relation to the delivery of public health duties as set out in the 

Health and Social Care Act 2012.

5.2 Delivering the business plan service objectives will support the Royal Borough 
to comply with its statutory obligations in relation to adult services. 

28



6. RISK MANAGEMENT 

6.1 The risks are set out in table 3.

Table 3: Risks and controls
Risks Uncontrolled 

Risk
Controls Controlled 

Risk
Impact of 
transition to 
Optalis delays 
implementation of 
the service 
objectives.

MEDIUM Tight 
performance 
monitoring.

Senior 
management 
sponsorship

LOW

Service objective 
activities do not 
have the desired 
impact.

MEDIUM Robust 
monitoring of the 
business plan.

Senior 
management 
sponsorship

LOW

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS 

7.1 None.

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 The report will be considered by Adult Services Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 
16 March 2017, comments will be reported to Cabinet.

8.2 Consultation has also taken place with the Deputy Director Health and Adult 
Social Care.

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

9.1 The implementation timetable is at table 5.

Table 5: Implementation timetable
Date Details
1 April 2017 to 31 
March 2018

Delivery of Adult Services business plan

9.2 Implementation date if not called in: Immediately.

10. APPENDICES 

10.1 Adult Services Business Plan 2017-2018

29



11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

11.1 None

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY) 

Name of consultee Post held Date 
sent

Commented 
& returned 

Cllr David 
Coppinger

Lead Member for Adult 
Services

22/2/17 23/2/17

Alison Alexander Managing Director 22/2/17 23/2/17
Russell O’Keefe Strategic Director 22/2/17
Andy Jeffs Interim Strategic Director 22/2/17
Rob Stubbs Section 151 Officer 22/2/17
Terry Baldwin Head of HR 22/2/17
Angela Morris Deputy Director Health and 

Adult Social Care
22/2/17

REPORT HISTORY 

Decision type: 
Key decision 15 February 
2017

Urgency item?
No

Report Author: Hilary Hall, Head of Commissioning – Adults, Children and 
Health, 01628 683893

30



Adult Services
Business Plan 2017-2018

March 2017

31



“The Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead is a great 
place to live, work, play and do business supported by a 

modern, dynamic and successful Council”

Our vision is underpinned by four principles:
Putting residents first

Delivering value for money
Delivering together with our partners

Equipping ourselves for the future

32



Content

1. Introduction / Executive Summary 1

2. Vision and business 1

3. Description of services provided 2

4. Workforce 3

5. Finance summary 4

6. Review of performance/achievements, 2016-2017 5

7. Environmental changes 6

8. Objectives, 2017-2018 8

9. Risks and mitigation 9

Commonly used acronyms
EST Each Step Together
FTE Full time equivalent
RBWM Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead

33



Diagram 1:  The Golden Thread

Council Strategic Plan

Adult Services 
Business Plan 

2017-2018

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
Commissioning Framework

Individual staff appraisals

Optalis Business Plan
2017-2018

34



1

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Adult Services’ workforce aims to provide a truly outstanding service for each 
and every resident it serves.

1.2 This Business Plan, which stems from the Council’s Strategic Plan, describes the 
operating context, vision, values and aims and objectives of the service for 2017-
2018.  On 3 April 2017, the Royal Borough will form a partnership with Wokingham 
Borough Council to deliver its adult services through Optalis, a local authority trading 
company.  In addition to the transfer of operational staff and services, there will be a 
proportionate transfer of support services resource.

1.3 This is the first business plan for the new delivery arrangements and it summarises 
our commitment to our workforce and shows how finances are used to effect change.  
It outlines the achievements in 2016-2017.  The plan is part of the ‘golden thread’ of 
plans and strategies which underpin the work of the service and its employees (see 
diagram 1).

1.4 Delivery of the plan will be monitored internally by the Optalis Executive Board and 
the Shareholders Board.  External monitoring of performance will be undertaken 
through the agreed commissioning arrangements, with additional scrutiny through the 
Lead Member for Adults Services, Health and Sustainability and the Adult Services 
and Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel.

1.5 The service’s annual resource equates to £30m gross, which is sufficient to meet 
current levels of demand in the Royal Borough.  The service also has access to draw 
down from block contracts commissioned and managed by the Royal Borough, 
totalling just under £10m.  Adult services’ business is delivered through four service 
areas:
 Adult Care.
 Integrated Learning Disabilities Service.
 Integrated Community Mental Health Team.
 Adults Governance and Quality Assurance.

2 VISION AND BUSINESS

2.1 Adult services’ vision is that:

Residents’ needs are met as early as possible by highly skilled professionals 
and our residents are given every opportunity to fulfil their potential. 

2.2 Our vision reflects the core values of Optalis, see diagram 2.

35



2

Diagram 2:  Optalis core values

2.3 The Borough’s ambition for our residents is high.  The Adult Services and wider 
Council management team’s activities are focussed on supporting the workforce to 
work successfully with all those who need our services.  This includes: 
 Ensuring that basic standards of service delivery are met for every service user.
 Raising practice standards, so that every team becomes a pocket of excellence 

and service users are genuinely at the centre of their business.
 Strengthening effective partnerships to increase the level of service available.
 Creating a healthy working environment, where staff are respected, enjoy their 

work and experience inspirational leadership.

2.4 Core business is structured around prevention and safeguarding, underpinned by 
robust commissioning and a skilled workforce.

Prevention
2.5 The Borough’s Adult Services deliver a number of services to help our residents and 

prevent their needs escalating to specialist services.  For instance: the Short Term 
Support and Rehabilitation team provides intensive support to residents coming out 
of hospital to enable them to continue living in their own homes and domiciliary care 
is delivered on the basis of outcomes and independence plans.

Safeguarding
2.6 Whilst large numbers of the borough’s residents do not require safeguarding 

services, robust systems are in place for those who need protection from abuse and 
harm.  There is a commitment, across the borough and the wider services, to ensure 
that all agencies work together in a purposeful and timely fashion to maintain the 
safety of residents in the borough.

3 DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES PROVIDED

3.1 Adult Services provides a range of services for the benefit of residents as 
innovatively as possible to ensure that services are fit for purpose for the future.

3.2 Under the Care Act, local authorities must ensure that local residents receive 
services that prevent their care needs from becoming more serious and they have a 
range of high quality, appropriate services to choose from.  

36



3

3.3 The Royal Borough, through Optalis, discharges this duty through:
 Services for around 1,400 older people and those with a physical disability, 

encompassing a hospital team and a short term support and rehabilitation team.
 An integrated service with Berkshire Healthcare Foundation Trust providing 

services for around 350 people with a learning disability or difficulty.
 An integrated mental health service with Berkshire Healthcare Foundation Trust 

for around 700 residents.
 A governance and quality assurance service managing around 700 safeguarding 

alerts each year and maintaining a standards of care framework for the borough’s 
46 care homes.

 Day centres for adults with a learning disability and those with dementia.
 Residential homes for adults with disabilities.
 Respite facility for adults with a learning disability.

4 WORKFORCE

4.1 Adult Services is structured through four service areas, see diagram 3. 

Diagram 3:  Adult Services structure
ANGELA MORRIS

Deputy Director Health and 
Adult Social Care

 

RITA MORRISON
Locality Manager – 

Integrated Community 
Mental Health 

JAYNE RIGG
Service Lead for Adult 

Governance and 
Quality Assurance 

LOUISE KERFOOT
Service Manager – 

Integrated Learning 
Disability Service 

LYNN STEPHENS
Service Manager – 
Physical Disability 
and Older People 

JEANETTE BAILEY
Team Manager – 

Short Term Support 
and Rehabilitation

 

 
OLGA GRACIA 1fte

SHARON 
WHITEHEAD 0.5fte
Team Managers – 

PDOPT 

JULIE WILLIS
Strategic 

Safeguarding 
Coordinator

 CLARE JUSTIS
Hospital Team 

Manager
 

JEREMY CANNON 
Joint Service 

Manager CMHT
 

 
PATRICIA FINDLEY

Joint Service 
Manager MHOP

 

PAUL SWEENEY
Social Care Team  

Manager
 

TRACY PATTERSON
Health Team 

Manager

JULIA HARRIS
Provider Services 

Manager
 

Management 
Information Post 

 Hari Cheema

 Care Homes & 
Home Care Quality 
Assurance Manager

Kay Spicer

Principal Social 
Worker  Adults

Aga Buckley

Performance and 
Information Officer  

 Daryl Brady

 
Care Homes & 

Home Care Quality 
Assurance Officer 
Stephanie Diggle 

 

  
Deprivation of Liberty 

Safeguards Coordinator
Howard Griffin 

 

DOLS
  Support Officers

 Elizabeth Howard
          Charlotte Hickey

Care Homes & 
Home Care Quality 
Assurance Assistant

 Anjum Sheikh

 
Brokerage Team

Natalie Long
Jamie Ford

Danielle Scanlon
 

A&I
Harpreet Bachoo
Jacinta Smithers

Anita Savage
Belinda Brincat

 

 
Business Support 

Manager
 Diane Lindsay

 
 

Assistive 
Technology

Michaela Helman

  
Independent 

DOLS Best 
Interest Assessor

 

Business Support
Penny Street (York House); Lili Varney (York House); 
Beth Kruk-Strzelecka (York House); Alastair Tinouye 

(York House);
Vicky Gotobed (York House); Vacant x 2 fte (York 

House)
Mary Worth (CTPLD); Sumita Rajput (CTPLD)

Linda Dewar (Boyn Grove); Vacant x 1 fte (Boyn Grove)
 

PA to Deputy 
Director of Health & 

Adult Social Care 
Lynn Hutton

Safeguarding 
Support Officer  
Stuart Beecham

37



4

4.2 The Borough’s Adult Services comprises 260FTE.  Its sickness levels are currently 
higher than the targeted six sickness absence days lost per FTE.  Data to the end of 
December 2016 show an actual of 11.74 days lost per FTE (year to date).  Individual 
service areas have undertaken specific targeted work to support reducing higher 
levels of long term sickness and staff exceeding the Bradford factor trigger of 1201.  
Sickness absence rates have been reduced – but remain a priority for 2017/18.

Workforce development
4.3 Recruitment and retention for hard to fill posts continues to be business critical.  The 

over reliance on interim and agency workers, currently xx in the service, means that 
organisational history is not always known and knowledge is lost.  Alternative 
recruitment strategies are being utilised including search and selection at senior 
levels and possibly international recruitment for social workers.  Whilst these 
methods can traditionally be more costly, securing a permanent workforce will have a 
long term positive effect in reducing overall staff costs.

4.4 The alternative recruitment methods will be used alongside the continued 
development of our current workforce, whereby those who have the required 
competence and interest in promotional opportunities are actively encouraged to 
make applications.  For those who require further development first, as identified 
through appraisals and ongoing 1-1s and supervisions, this will be given and, where 
required, funded through the agreed training needs analysis.

5 FINANCE SUMMARY

5.1 Adult Services’ gross expenditure budget for 2017-2018 transferring to Optalis is 
£31.4m, see table 1.  

Table 1: Adult Services revenue budget 2017-2018 in Optalis

Service Areas
Gross 
Budget
£’000

Directly provided services
Windsor Day Care Centre for older people 289
Oak Bridge Centre for adults with learning disabilities 445
Boyn Grove day care centre 1,229
Short term support and reablement 2,403
Winston Court registered residential home 527
Homeside registered residential home 487
Allenby Road respite services 362
Care management
Physical disabilities and older people – staffing 1,781
Integrated service for learning disabilities – staffing 486
Adult Governance and Quality Assurance - staffing 543
Community mental health – staffing 1,094
Brokerage support services 
Operational commissioning – care brokerage and placements 87
Business Support 283
Data analyst and telecare 90
Senior management

1 The Bradford Factor is a system used to calculate a score for each employee's absence in a year and it identifies persistent short-
term absence for individuals.  It places greater emphasis on the number of occasions of absence, rather than the total number of days' 
absence.

38



5

Service Areas
Gross 
Budget
£’000

Adult social care management and support 365
Commissioned services
Residential/Nursing Care - spot contacts 6,610
Direct payments, respite care, external daycare and other 2,364
Spot contracts for services for learning disability 8,981
Adult social care support services 446
Mental health care budget – services 2,332
Projects funded from Better Care Fund 236
Total 31,440

5.2 In addition to the £31.4m transferring to Optalis, Adult Services is able to draw down 
services from a number of block contracts commissioned and managed by the Royal 
Borough, totalling around £14m, see table 2. 

Table 2: Royal Borough commissioned services for adults

Commissioned services
Gross 
budget
£’000s

Homecare - outcome based commissioning contract 4,277
Residential/Nursing Care - care element of block contracts for tender in 2016 5,226
Equipment BCES contract - telecare & other 457
Block contracts for LD services 4,214
Total 14,174

5.3 In 2016-2017, the Royal Borough took up the new adult social care precept at the 
maximum then permitted of 2%, adding £18.14 to band D council tax of £906.95.  In 
2017-2018, the budget assumes the recently revised maximum of 3%, adding a 
further £27.75 to sustain the growing need for adult social care services. 

6 REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE 2016-2017

6.1 The performance of the directorate in 2016-2017 is set out in table 3.

Table 3:  Performance 2016-2017 
Performance
 Services were delivered to 2,246 service users, a rate of 200 adults per 10,000 

in the borough.
 2,958 contacts were received, of which 86% progressed to a referral and 14% 

resulted in no further action.
 Of the referrals which required adult social care intervention, 67% were 

allocated to long term care teams.
 Of the long term care service users, 60% were living in the community, 26% 

were in residential care and 14% were in nursing care.
 2,308 support plans were completed, a rate of 206 per 10,000 adults in the 

borough.
 652 safeguarding alerts were received, a rate of 58 per 10,000 adults.

39



6

6.2 A regional peer review of adult safeguarding was undertaken in October 2015.  A 
number of recommendations were made primarily around processes and systems to 
support ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ and a comprehensive action plan has been 
delivered in 2016-2017 to address the recommendations. 

6.3 The Care Quality Commission undertakes inspections of all regulated services in the 
borough and in 2015-2016, rated the Short Term Support and Rehabilitation service 
as Good in all categories.  In 2016-2017, inspections were undertaken of 9 Allenby 
Road in July 2016 and 16 Homeside Close and 5 Winston Court in November 2016.  
9 Allenby Road was judged Good and the other two services were judged Requires 
Improvement, see table 4.

Table 4:  Care Quality Commission judgements, 2016-2017
9 Allenby Road 16 Homeside 

Close
5 Winston Court

Overall rating for this service Good Requires 
Improvement

Requires 
Improvement

Is the service safe? Good Requires 
Improvement

Requires 
Improvement

Is the service effective? Good Requires 
Improvement

Requires 
Improvement

Is the service caring? Good Good Good
Is the service responsive? Good Good Good
Is the service well-led? Good Requires 

Improvement
Requires 
Improvement

7 ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGES

7.1 There are a range of changes in legislation and demography which will impact on the 
delivery of adult services during 2017-2018.  These include:

 The borough’s population is ageing with the number of people aged 65 and over 
increasing by 9.2% (2,500 individuals) in the next five years to 2020 and by 
20.1% (5,500 individuals) in the next 10 years to 2025.  This represents a 
significant and growing challenge in terms of health and social care services 
because the need for care services increases significantly over the age of 85.  
Reablement, out of hospital care services and residential care services are all 
likely to experience increases in demand as the population ages with the number 
of individuals requiring crisis care, such as stroke, heart attack, falls and hip 
fracture, rises.

 The borough has the largest number of care homes per population size in 
England, 46, for which the Royal Borough has the safeguarding duty and which 
consumes significant resource in managing the risk.

 Approximately 13,125 people have identified themselves as carers in RBWM in 
the 2011 Census, and this is likely to be an underestimate of the true numbers of 
people caring.  This number has increased by 15.1% since 2001 – which is much 
faster than the rise in the overall population (8.2%).  Carers make up 9.2% of the 
total population in the borough.  27.4% of carers provide care for more than 20 
hours per week, 16.6% for more than 50 hours per week.  The peak age for 

40



7

caring is between 50 and 64 years.  As the caring role gets more intensive, the 
proportion of older carers increases.

 The requirement from government for a local health and social care integration 
plan to be agreed in 2017 that will deliver integration of health and social care by 
2019-20.

 The Sustainability and Transformation Plan for the Frimley Health and Care 
System.

8 OBJECTIVES 2017-2018

8.1 The objectives for the Adult Services for 2017-2018 have been set, see table 5.  
They represent the priorities for the service for the year linked to the corporate 
objectives and the manifesto commitments.  Day to day business is monitored 
through detailed action plans and management arrangements.

Table 5: Service objectives 
Contributes to 
manifesto 
commitment(s):

 Ensure residents who receive council care are covered by a 
care plan.

 Train all staff, and work with partners, to recognise symptoms to 
guard vulnerable people against abuse 

Contributes to 
corporate 
objective(s):

Residents First, Delivering Together, Equipping Ourselves for the 
Future

No: Directorate level outputs Achieved 2016-
2017

Target 
2017-2018

Target 
2018-2019

1 Deliver a more agile and 
rapid response to residents 
which is based on having 
different conversations with 
residents maximising 
community support, 
enhancing residents’ abilities 
and independence.

Jan 2017

2 Deliver the Transforming 
Care Pathway action plan.

Remodelled 
inpatient and 
support services 
for people with 
learning 
disabilities, autism 
and challenging 
behaviour in place, 
meeting RBWM's 
priorities

Reduced 
hospital 
admissions and 
strengthened 
community 
support meeting 
RBWM's needs

Reduced 
hospital 
admissions 
and 
strengthened 
community 
support 
meeting 
RBWM's 
needs

3 Work on a career structure to 
retain high performing social 
care staff who do not hold a 
social work qualification.

N/A Improve the 
retention rate 
for social care 
staff by April 
2018.

41



8

No: Directorate level outputs Achieved 2016-
2017

Target 
2017-2018

Target 
2018-2019

4 Implement making 
safeguarding personal across 
the statutory agencies.

N/A Have a robust 
system in place 
to measure 
outcomes by 
April 2018

5 Maintain a good performance 
on delayed transfers of care.

Ongoing Continue the 
engagement 
and solution 
based approach 
to respond in an 
agile manner to 
transfer of care 

6 Ensure contract compliance 
with the Royal Borough’s 
service specification.

N/A All targets 
achieved within 
the 
performance 
management 
framework.

7 Ensure all regulatory services 
achieve a good outcome 
through Care Quality 
Commission inspection.

2 Good 

2 Requires 
Improvement

4 Good 
judgements

9 RISK AND MITIGATION

9.1 Adult Services undertakes an annual analysis of risk.  There are currently four areas 
of risk and all have plans for mitigation, see table 6 for a summary.

Table 6: Risk and mitigation 
No Risk Mitigation 
1. Net increase in 

demand as service 
users transition from 
children’s to adults’ 
services alongside 
lack of cost effective 
placements.

 Increase collaborative working in East Berkshire.
 Implement supportive care pathway tiers defined primarily 

on customer risk and need.
 Plan services four to five years in advance in terms of 

commissioning and framing expectations.
 Plan and manage transitions by good operational working 

between Optalis and Achieving for Children.

2. Delayed transfers of 
care that stop people 
leaving hospital when 
they are medically fit 
increase and the 
Royal Borough is 
charged for the delay.

 Delayed transfers of care are monitored closely by the 
hospital discharge and commissioning teams 

 Weekly updates are provided to the Deputy Director 
Health and Adult Social Care to escalate as required 

 Ongoing work with the acute trust and East Berkshire 
project to address delayed transfers of care.

3. Provider failure leads 
to significant 
harm/death to 
vulnerable people.

 Deploy the Provider Failure protocol.

42



9

No Risk Mitigation 
4. Homecare contract 

fails to deliver 
independence 
outcomes for 
residents and 
therefore budget 
efficiencies 

 Carewatch and sub contractors take 100% of referrals.
 Robust financial processes ensure payments are 

accurate and timely.
 Care governance process holds the provider to account.
 Data enables accurate forecasting of demand and 

budget.
 Independence plans and the new way of working is 

realised.

43



10

Document 
Name

Adult Services Business Plan 2017-2018

Document 
Author

Adult Services management team

Document 
owner

Deputy Director Health and Adult Social Care

Accessibility This document can be made available in other formats upon request.

Destruction 
date

N/A

Version 1 Author March 2017

Version 2 Directorate Management Team March 2017

Document 
approval dates

Version 3 Cabinet March 2017

Circulation 
restrictions

None

Review date March 2018

44



Angela Morris, Deputy Director of Health 
& Adult Social Care

Susanna Yeoman, BHFT Locality 
Director, East Berks Mental Health 

Mental Health Service

45

A
genda Item

 6



Mental Health Context

• Mental Health problems represent the largest single cause 

of disability in the UK.

• One in four adults experiences at least one diagnosable 

mental health problem in any given year.

• RBWM:  by 2020, 2,350 projected to have dementia; 

approx. 19,000 expected to have mental health problem, 

of which over 1,100 likely to be psychosis or severe 

depression.  

2

46



Policy, Plans & Guidance

• Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016).

• Frimley Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).

• Crisis Care Concordat for Berkshire 2016-17.

• RBWM Wellbeing Strategy – Priorities 6 and 7 include support to 

people with mental health needs and earlier access to dementia 

diagnosis. 

• Berkshire Healthcare Foundation Trust (BHFT) Mental Health 

Strategy:  effectiveness;  quality experience;  access;  partnerships;  

engagement; workforce.

• Suicide Prevention Strategy and ‘Zero Suicide’ initiative.

• National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance.

• Local partnerships between RBWM, BHFT, voluntary and third sector.

• Anti-stigma campaigns e.g. Brighter Berkshire 2017, Time to Change.

Common themes of all the above:  

Prevention and earlier intervention;  Easier access including 24/7;  Parity of Esteem;  

Challenging Stigma; Recovery; Physical health inequality.  3

47



• Primary care.

• Talking therapies / Improving Access to Psychological 

Therapies (IAPT).

• Crisis and Home Treatment team.

• Liaison Psychiatry – Wexham Park Hospital.

• Specialist services:  perinatal, eating disorder, personality 

disorder, Early Intervention Psychosis.

• In patient services - Prospect Park Hospital.

• Community, voluntary sector, public health wellbeing 

initiatives.

• Community Mental Health Team (CMHT) and Older 

People Mental Health (OPMH) services – delivered 

jointly in partnership between RBWM and BHFT.

Current Mental Health Service 

48



• Integrated health and social care multidisciplinary service.

• Aims  to support people with enduring and serious mental ill 

health to lead as fulfilled a life as possible through health and 

social care intervention.  

• Underpinned by partnerships:  a comprehensive range of 

resources to promote recovery.

• Service users have an agreed care plan, risk management 

plan, named care coordinator.  

• Includes social workers, health/social care support workers, 

community psychiatric nurses, psychiatrists, psychological 

therapists, occupational therapist, Autism Spectrum worker, 

community development worker.

Integrated Health and Social Care: 

CMHT and OPMH

49



• Services include health and social care assessment; home 

and community based treatment, Approved Mental Health 

Practitioner (AMHP) service;  psychological therapies; Autism 

Spectrum Disorder (ASD) service; Memory Service; Physical 

Health monitoring.

• Access to 24/7 crisis support; Acute mental health in patient 

services.  

• Safeguarding.

• Carers assessment and support.

• Recovery college, employment support and social inclusion.

Integrated Health and Social Care: 

CMHT and OPMH

50



The service is provided to individuals who have a level of complexity arising

from mental ill health, and/or who meet the criteria as set out by the Care

Act 2014.

• Functional mental illness where severe mental illness is evident e.g. 

severe depression, psychotic disorder, severe and incapacitating anxiety 

or obsessional symptoms.

• Organic mental illness:  known or suspected dementia, including younger 

people with dementia who present with significant needs.   

• Care Act 2014 eligibility: unable to achieve two or more of the listed 

outcomes (e.g. managing various aspects of independence, relationships 

and work-related activity) resulting in significant impact on wellbeing. 

• The service also works with individuals who have a personality disorder,  

as well as those with a dual diagnosis (substance misuse/serious mental 

illness; and learning difficulty/serious mental illness). 

Who is eligible for CMHT 
services?

51



Current Response Times
New referrals (Common Point of 

Entry/Crisis Resolution and Home 

Treatment Team)

Crisis (GP referral only) 4 hours

Urgent -24 hours

Priority - 14 days

Routine - 28 days

Mental Health Act Assessment

Same day response (urgent within 1 

hour)

24/7 cover through the Emergency

Duty Service

Community Mental Health Team

Urgent:  same day response

Routine: weekly allocation

Social work assessment: within 1 week
Aim is to avoid waiting list:  where a person 

cannot be immediately allocated, weekly 

contact and review is provided through a 

duty system.  

Psychiatrist appointments offered flexibly 

depending on the urgency;  (typically 2-12 

weeks but could be same day if urgent) 

Early Intervention Psychosis service

Referral to Treatment standard: 2 

weeks

Memory Clinic

Initial assessment: 90% seen within 6 

weeks (target is 70%)  

8

52



• Employment and Support Allowance (ESA) replaced 

incapacity benefit (2008);  includes strict ‘Work Capability 

Assessment’ (WCA) - 20 page questionnaire and face to 

face assessment. The WCA  includes consideration of 

mental, cognitive and intellectual difficulties. 

• CMHT supports Service Users to contact the Citizens Advice 

Bureau and/or assist completion of WCA questionnaire; 

provides  supportive letters as necessary. Staff can 

accompany service users and may support service users to 

challenge the Department for Work and Pensions decisions 

if appropriate.

• Employment is considered as a key part of CMHT care 

plans:  CMHT supports access to Ways into Work. 

Mental Health and Health Reviews for 

Employment and Support Allowance

53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Case Study 1 – Community Mental Health Team (CMHT)
 
21 year old AB has a complex psychiatric history and was known to Mental Health 
services since October 2011, with prolonged periods of in-patient care at the Berkshire 
Adolescent Unit and Prospect Park Hospital.  Over the past year she was treated 
under the provisions of Supervised Community Treatment Order.    AB has care has 
been complicated by repeated incidents of self-poisoning coupled with 2 x counts of 
fire setting behaviour  

She has a diagnosis of unspecified non-organic psychosis coupled with emotionally 
unstable personality disorder.    

Although the risks of fire-setting subsided by the time she was to be discharged from 
hospital, the clinical team remained concerned about this risk.  AB was therefore 
discharged from PPH and was funded to reside in a 24 hr supported living 
accommodation locally, with support from CMHT.   

Over the past 2 years, AB engaged well with the staff from the supporting living 
placement.  She attended outpatient appointments with her psychiatrist and care-
coordinator, was concordant with her medication and gradually took ownership of her 
care plan. 

There was no fire setting occurrence and the frequency of reporting auditory 
hallucinations and delusions gradually lessened.  With encouragement & support, she 
went to the gym and also returned to her part time job at weekends whilst also working 
as a volunteer for Richmond Fellowship. 

AB has been discharged off her Community Treatment Order and is now compliant 
with her medication (which has been gradually reduced to a maintenance dose).  As 
she became more stable and her confidence grew she enrolled into college in 
September 2016 and is managing very well academically.  Whilst attending college 
she developed a larger circle of friends and she felt more abled/ready to leave 
supported living.  Recently AB has moved into a ‘stepped down’ flat where there is less 
support and where it is less obvious that she has mental health issues. 

AB remains motivated to make progress, is less dependent on CMHT and continues to 
engage in her studies.  It is hoped that in time she will feel sufficiently able to be fully 
discharged from mental health services but in the meantime, the limited support from 
her support worker is keeping her well and engaged in her studies. 

AB was assessed for Self Direct Support – she felt that the support she is receiving 
from the CMHT and the support available from Housing Solutions is currently sufficient 
whilst she is undertaking her studies.   

55



This page is intentionally left blank



Case Study 2 – Older People Mental Health Service (OPMH)

AZ is a 74yr old gentleman living in supported living- not previously known to services.  
He was referred to Older People Mental Health by the local District Nurses after he 
was found to be confused and aggressive following a hospital admission. The Home 
Treatment Team visited and confirmed the district nurses findings and also found AZ 
was self-neglecting, his flat was dirty and he had no food in the cupboards.  AZ also 
had no social support other than the warden who felt he required a care home 
placement.  

Through liaison with the district nurses, the Home Treatment Team was able to 
discount any underlying physical health needs. The Home Treatment Team visited AZ 
daily, established a working diagnosis of Alzheimer’s disease and began a treatment 
regime.  Alzheimer’s disease was later confirmed and following discussion at a multi-
disciplinary team meeting, a social worker from the Older People Mental Health Team 
organised an interim care package to negate the immediate risks of self-neglect.  

AZ was not very accepting of support and the Older People Mental Health Team spent 
a lot of time working collaboratively with the warden and the district nurses to build a 
relationship with AZ.  Despite his eventual engagement with carers, AZ remained at 
risk due to self-neglect and confusion and the warden was of the view that he required 
a placement.  The community psychiatric nurse and social worker maintained a high 
level of contact with AZ and the warden, to continue assessing and managing the risks 
presented.  The social worker assessed AZ’s capacity in relation to his social care 
needs and ability to manage his finances - he was found to be lacking on both counts. 
The social worker then involved an Independent Mental Capacity Advocate and 
arranged a best interest meeting where it was agreed that AZ should remain in the 
community, as were his wishes, with an appropriate support plan. The community 
psychiatric nurse arranged for a support worker and regular shopping call to ensure 
compliance with medication and to maintain AZ’s physical health. The social worker 
also established a long term package of care and worked with the local authority to 
arrange deputyship for AZ’s finances. 

The multidisciplinary approach of the team ensured the risks were swiftly managed 
and that AZ was supported in a manner with which he felt comfortable.  Through close 
working with the local authority the social worker was able to arrange care and 
deputyship avoiding the need for costly long term placement in a dementia care home. 

Dementia adviser and Cognitive Stimulation Therapy were considered but not felt to be 
appropriate for AZ as he was unable to acknowledge or understand that he has 
memories issues/diagnosed with dementia.  

57



This page is intentionally left blank



  

1 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

 

 
 
 

Berkshire Healthcare  
NHS Foundation Trust 

 
 

Quality Account 
2016/17 

 

Quarter 3 Report 
 
 
 

 
 

Our Values: 
Caring for and about you is our top priority 

We are committed to providing good quality, safe services 
and working together with you to develop innovative solutions 

59

Agenda Item 7



  

2 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

What is a Quality Account? 
A Quality Account is an annual report about the quality of services provided by an NHS 
healthcare organisation. Quality Accounts aim to increase public accountability and drive 
quality improvements in the NHS. Our Quality Account looks back on how well we have 
done in the past year at achieving our goals. It also looks forward to the year ahead and 
defines what our priorities for quality improvements will be and how we expect to achieve 
and monitor them. 
 

About the Trust 
Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (BHFT) provides specialist mental health and 
community health services to a population of around 900,000 within Berkshire. We operate 
from more than 100 sites across the county including our community hospitals, Prospect 
Park Hospital, clinics and GP Practices. We also provide health care and therapy to people in 
their own homes. 
 

The vast majority of the people we care for are supported in their own homes. We have 
216 mental health inpatient beds and 180 community hospital beds in five locations and we 
employ more than 4,000 staff. 
 

Working in partnership with patients and their families is really important to us as this helps 
us to provide the best care in the right place. We support people with long-term health 
problems to manage their own lives as much as we can, so they can stay at home and do 
not need to be in hospital. 
 

We organise our services around the six areas of Berkshire, to match the local authority 
boundaries. We call these Localities. Each Locality Director works together with a Clinical 
Director to make sure that our service management is informed by clinical knowledge and 
expertise. 
 

We work closely with our commissioners to develop services that meet the needs of our 
diverse population – aiming to help people remain independent at home as far as possible. 
We provide many of our services in partnership with Local Authorities and also work closely 
with GPs, voluntary sector organisations and others. 
 

We support the education of the future NHS workforce by working in partnership with 
Health Education Thames Valley and 10 universities, including the Universities of Reading, 
Oxford, Oxford Brookes, Southampton, Surrey and West London. We train a wide range of 
healthcare professionals including future doctors, nurses, psychologists, special care 
dentists, occupational therapists, health visitors, dieticians, audiologists and 
physiotherapists. These learners may be part of the care teams delivering our services and 
will work in a manner consistent with the NHS Constitution. 

60



  

3 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Table of Contents for Quality Account 2016/17 
 

Section Content Page 

 Quality Account Highlights 2016/17 4 

Part 1 Statement on Quality by the Chief Executive of Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust 

5 

Part 2 Priorities for Improvement and Statements of Assurance from the Board 
2.1  Achievement of Priorities for improvement for 2016/17 

2.1.1  Patient Experience 
2.1.2 Patient Safety 
2.1.3  Clinical Effectiveness 
2.1.4  Health Promotion 
2.1.5  Other Service Improvements Achieved in 2016/17 
2.1.6 Improvements in Community Health Services for Adults 
2.1.7  Improvements in Primary Care, Out of Hours and Walk-in Centre 
2.1.8  Improvements in Community health services for children & young people 
2.1.9  Improvements in Services for People with Learning Disabilities 
2.1.10  Improvements in Mental Health Services for Adults and Older Adults 
2.1.11 Improvements in Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 
2.1.12 Improvements in Pharmacy 
 

2.2  Setting Priorities for Improvement for 2017/18  
2.3  Statements of Assurance from the Board 
2.4  Clinical Audit 
2.5  Research 
2.6  CQUIN Framework 
2.7  Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
2.8  Data Quality and Information Governance 
2.9  Duty of Candour 

6 
6 
7 

13 
18 
19 
21 
21 
23 
24 
25 
26 
30 
31 

 

32 
32 
33 
35 
35 
36 
37 
38 

Part 3 Review of Performance  
3.1  Review of Quality Performance 2016/17 
3.2  Reporting against core indicators and performance thresholds 
3.3  Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Quality Account 

39 
39 
45 
50 

Appendix A Quality Strategy 51 

Appendix B National Clinical Audits: Actions to Improve Quality 52 

Appendix C Local Clinical Audits: Actions to Improve Quality  55 

Appendix D Safety Thermometer Charts 62 

Appendix E CQUIN Achievement 2016/17 64 

Appendix F CQUIN 2017/18 70 

Appendix G Statements from Stakeholders 70 

Appendix H Independent Auditor’s Report to the Council of Governors of Berkshire Healthcare 
NHS Foundation Trust on the Quality Account  

70 

 Glossary of Acronyms 70 

 

61



  

4 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Quality Account Highlights 2016/17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Patient Experience 
We ask patients and carers to tell us how they 
rate the care they received. There was an 
improvement across most areas of those who 
would rate us as good or very good, with a slight 
decrease in Mental Health Inpatients. 
Community Hospitals- 96% 
Community Physical Health- 94% 
Community Mental Health- 86% 
Mental Health Inpatients- 75% 

Patient Safety 
Priority targets have been met in relation 
to: 
 
• the reduction of pressure ulcers that have 

developed due to a lapse in care by the 
trust 

• the reduction of falls by patients in our 
hospitals 
 

Zero Suicide 
The trust has launched its zero suicide initiative 
this year, with a focus on both challenging the 
culture relating to suicide and on giving people 
skills to address situations when people are at 

their most vulnerable 
 

Clinical Effectiveness 
The trust continues to demonstrate that 
relevant NICE Technology Appraisals are 

available and greater than 80% of all NICE 
guidance is being met. 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) Rating 
The trust continues to be rated as ‘Good’ by the 

CQC and is committed to maintaining and 
improving on this rating 

 

Service Improvements 
Many successful improvements have been 
implemented across the trust, including: 

The Westcall Out of Hours GP Service have 
implemented a successful sepsis project 

The Children’s Young People and Families Service 
continue to deliver a transformation programme 

The Adult Learning Disability Service have 
established a mortality Clinical Review Group 

All trust memory clinics are now accredited by 
the Memory Services National Accreditation 
Programme (MSNAP) 

A new Intensive Management of Personality 
Disorders and Clinical Therapies Team (IMPACTT) 
has been established 

Mental health inpatient services have run a 
successful “failure to return from leave” project 

Child and Adolescent Mental Health (CAMHS) 
have started a new Eating Disorders Service 

The trust has set quality priorities for 
2017/18 in the following areas: 

 

Quality Improvement Priority 
 To implement the trust Quality Improvement 

Initiative to link in with aspects of quality, 
safety, effectiveness and experience 

Patient Safety Priorities 
 Falls 

 Pressure Ulcers 

Health promotion- To continue implementing 
the Zero Suicide initiative 

Clinical Effectiveness Priorities 
 To report on the implementation of NICE 

guidance identified as a Trust priority 

 To review and report on mortality in line with 
new national guidance as it is published 

Patient Experience Priorities 
 To continue to prioritise and report on 

patient satisfaction and make improvements. 

 To improve on national patient and staff 
survey results  

 To continue to prioritise learning from 
complaints 

 To continue to implement the Patient 
Leadership Programme. 

62



  

5 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Part 1.  Statement on Quality by the Chief Executive of Berkshire 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

 
Throughout the 2016/17 financial year, Berkshire 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust has continued to 
deliver effective, safe and efficient care for its 
patients. We have a trust-wide vision to be recognised 
as the leading community and mental health provider 
by our patients, staff and partners, and the results 
shown in this Quality Account help demonstrate our 
commitment to this aspiration.  
 
We are committed to ensuring that patients have a 
positive experience of the care we provide, and 
evidence available from the Friends and Family Test 
results and our own patient satisfaction survey 
demonstrate that we continue to meet this 
commitment. A positive experience of our services by 
both patients and the people that care for them helps 
to support and enhance the high clinical quality of the 
care we provide. We aim to maintain and improve on 
these results and have set an ongoing priority in this 
area for 2017/18. 
 
Patient safety remains of paramount importance to 
us. Our trust board monitors performance in this area 
through scrutiny of a variety of patient safety metrics, 
several of which are shared in this report. Our 
governance, patient safety, incident and mortality 
reporting systems are increasingly robust and are able 
to highlight areas for improvement in timely manner 
allowing for learning. In addition, results from our 
patient safety priority this year, detailed in part 2 of 
this report, highlight that we are meeting the targets 
set in relation to the reduction of patient pressure 
ulcers and falls. We will continue striving to deliver 
safe care and have set further patient safety priorities 
for the coming year. 
 
Our clinical effectiveness agenda helps us to ensure 
that we are providing the right care to the right 
patient at the right time and in the right place. By 
performing clinical audit, we are able to measure our 
care against current best practice leading to 
improvement, and this report details some of the 
many audits that have been undertaken this year. In 
addition, our involvement in research has helped to 
inform future treatment and management of patients. 
We have also met our priority target of implementing 
100% of relevant NICE Technology Appraisal Guidance 

and greater than 80% of all relevant NICE Guidance 
for the second year running.  
 
The launch of our zero suicide initiative was a 
highlight this year as it focuses on both changing the 
culture in relation to suicide, as well as giving people 
the skills to address situations when people are at 
their most vulnerable. The first year of this initiative 
has seen the establishment of a steering group to 
oversee the project, with two leads in place to drive it 
forward. Additional crisis awareness and suicide 
prevention training has been delivered to relevant 
staff, and a new risk summary has been implemented 
across the trust to help clinicians better identify when 
patients are in need and to take timely actions as 
required. This project will continue to March 2018 and 
we will be reporting on further progress in next year’s 
Quality Account. 
 
Numerous other service improvement projects have 
been undertaken by trust services throughout the 
year. Many of these improvements are detailed within 
this report and they demonstrate the breadth of 
improvement work that is being undertaken, as well 
as the commitment of trust staff to improve services 
across the county. 
 
The Trust continues to be rated as ‘Good’ by the CQC. 
We are proud of this rating and are determined to be 
recognised as the leading community and mental 
health provider by our patients, staff and partners.  
In 2017/18 we will be embarking on a significant 18 
month programme of Quality Improvement with the 
aim for our patients, carers, staff and the Care Quality 
Commission to view us as an ‘outstanding’ 
organisation.  
 
The information provided in this report is, to the best 
of my knowledge, accurate and gives a fair 
representation of the current services provided 
 
 
 
 
 
Julian Emms CEO 

63



  

6 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Part 2. Priorities for Improvement 
 
 

2.1 Achievement of Priorities for Improvement for 2016/17  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Figure 1 below summarises the achievement of the Trust in 2016/17 against each of its quality account priorities. 
Each of these priorities is then discussed in more detail later in this section. 
 
Figure 1- Summary of Trust achievement against 2016/17 Quality Account Priorities – 
 
To be included in the Q4 Report (May 2017) with final results 

 This section details the trust’s achievements against its quality account priorities for 2016/17. 
These priorities were initially identified, agreed and published as part of the 2015/16 quality 
account process. Specific priorities have been set in the areas of patient experience, patient safety, 
clinical effectiveness and health promotion. 
 

These quality account priorities support the trust’s quality strategy for 2016-20 (see Appendix A) 
to provide accessible, safe, and clinically effective community and mental health services that 
improve patient experience and outcomes of care through the following six elements: 
  
- Patient experience and involvement – For patients to have a positive experience of our 
 service and receive respectful, responsive personal care 
-  Safety – To avoid harm from care that is intended to help 
- Clinical Effectiveness – Providing services based on best practice 
- Organisation culture –Patients to be satisfied and staff to be motivated 
- Efficiency – To provide care at the right time, way and place 
- Equity – To provide equal care regardless of personal characteristics, gender, ethnicity, 

location and socio-economic status. 

64



  

7 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.1.1 Patient Experience 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Patient Friends and Family Test (FFT)  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figures 2 and 3 below demonstrate the Trust’s 
achievement in relation to the FFT. The figures show  

 
 
 
that recommendation rates for trust services are 
generally high. Responses up to the end of Quarter 3 
2016/17 indicate that greater than 90% of 
respondents were very likely or likely to recommend 
Trust community services, community hospital 
inpatient services, minor injuries services and the walk 
in centre. 
 

There is also an increased recommendation rate for 
mental health inpatient services up to the end of 
Quarter 3 2016/17 when compared with the 2015/16 
full-year results. However, it should be noted that 
overall response rates are low and, as a result, the 
patient experience team are working with services to 
promote the FFT. 
 

 

 Figure 2-  Patient Friends and Family Test (FFT): Percentage of patients extremely likely or likely to  
 recommend the service to a friend or family member. 

 
 *Mental Health figures for 2014/15 are for Nov 2014-March 2015 due to the change in national methodology. 
 Source: Trust Patient Experience Reports

91 

62 

92 94 97 

70 

94 91 95 

73 

94 94 

0

20

40

60

80

100

Community Services
(Mental and Physical Health

combined)

Mental Health Inpatients Community Hospital
Inpatients

Minor Injuries and Walk- In
Centres

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

 One of the Trust’s primary priorities is ensuring that patients have a positive experience of our 
services and receive respective, responsive personal care. This sub-section details our performance 
against our patient experience priorities for 2016/17. 
 

 The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is 
used by most NHS funded services in 
England. It is an important feedback tool 
that supports the fundamental principle 
that people who use NHS services should 
have the opportunity to provide feedback 
on their experience. The FFT asks people if 
they would recommend the services they 
have used, and can be completed by text 
messaging after discharge, card or on the 
internal trust patient survey. 

 

Our 2016/17 Patient Experience Priorities: 
 

• To continue to prioritise and report on the Friends and Family Test (FFT) results for both 
 patients and carers, and on the trust’s own internal patient satisfaction survey throughout 
 the year. By doing so, the trust aims to demonstrate continuing improvement. 
• To improve on national patient and staff survey results  
• To continue to prioritise learning from complaints 
• To implement the Patient Leadership Programme. 

65



  

8 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

 Figure 3a-  Patient Friends and Family Test- total number of responses  

 

Survey and Service 

2015/16 2016/17  

Total no. of 
respondents 

Respondents likely or 
extremely likely to 
recommend service 

 
 

Total no. of 
respondents 

Respondents likely or 
extremely likely to 
recommend service 

No. %  No.  %  

Community Services- Mental 

Health & Physical Health Combined 
11492 11193 97 

8884 8471 95 

Mental Health Inpatients 140 99 70 109 80 73 

Community Hospital Inpatients 1128 1062 94 695 656 94 

Minor Injuries Unit and Walk in 
Centre 

8649 7871 91 4909 4636 94 

 Source: Trust Patient Experience Reports 
 

Figure 3b: Response Rate for patient Friends and Family Test (latest available month) 
For October 2016 (latest data available) Total Responses Total Eligible Response Rate 

Community Health services 1,224 23,654 5% 

Mental Health Services 298 3,384 9% 

Source: Trust Patient Experience Reports 
Please note that response rates have been included above, but they only relate to the latest monthly data available. 
BHFT in line with national recommendations aim for a 15% response rate for the FFT across all services. 

 
Carer Friends and Family Test (FFT) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figures 4 and 5 below demonstrate the Trust’s 
achievement in relation to the carer Friends and 
Family Test. The figure shows that, up to the end of 
Quarter 3 2016/17, 95% of respondent carers were 
extremely likely or likely to recommend the service to 
a friend.  
 

The trust are working on increasing awareness of 
Carer FFT cards within the trust and the potential 
impact of the FFT on other carer feedback e.g. 
memory clinic accreditation.  

  
 Figure 4-  Carer Friends and Family Test:  Percentage of carers extremely likely or likely to recommend the 

 service to a friend or family member 

 
 Source: Trust Patient Experience Reports 

  

Figure 5-  Carer Friends and Family Test- total number of responses 
 

 

Survey and Service 

2015/16 2016/17  

Total no. of 
respondents 

Respondents likely or 
extremely likely to 
recommend service 

 
Total no. of 
respondents 

Respondents likely or 
extremely likely to 
recommend service 

No. %  No.  %  

All carers N/A N/A N/A 133 127 95 

 Source: Trust Patient Experience Reports 
Please note that the Trust does not have a response rate for this survey. 

95 
Percentage of carers likely

or extremely likely to recommend
Trust services to a friend or…

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100
Percentage 

2016/17

 A Friends and Family Test for carers has 
also been created and distributed to trust 
services. This survey asks if carers would 
recommend trust services, thus allowing 
them the opportunity to share their 
experience with us in a dedicated way. 
Whilst this is not mandated nationally, the 
Trust recognises the crucial role that carers 
have and the value of their feedback. 

 

66



  

9 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Trust Patient Satisfaction Survey 

 
 
 
 
 

Figures 6 and 7 below demonstrate the Trust’s 
performance in relation to its patient satisfaction 
survey.  

The figures show that, up to the end of Q3 2016/17, 
over 85% of respondents rated the service they 
received from community health services (both 
physical and mental health) and community inpatient 
services as very good or good. The findings for mental 
health inpatients are below 80%, which is in line with 
the equivalent FFT findings. 

 

 Figure 6-  Trust Patient Survey: Percentage of patients who rated the service they received as very good or 
 good.  

  
 Source: Trust Patient Experience Report 
 

 Figure 7-  Trust Patient Survey- total number of responses 

  2015/16 2016/17  

Survey and Service 
Total 

number of 
respondents 

Total rating 
service as 

good or very 
good 

% rating 
service as 

good or very 
good 

Total 
number of 

respondents 

Total rating 
service as 

good or very 
good 

% rating 
service as 

good or very 
good 

 

Community Mental 
Health 

1308 1068 82 711 822 86 

Community 
Physical Health 

10947 10010 91 6602 7131 93 

Mental Health 
Inpatients 

703 567 81 183 243 75 

Patients in Comm. 
Hospitals 

1288 1229 95 409 425 96 

 Source: Trust Patient Experience Reports 

 
Patient Leadership Programme 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
As at the end of Quarter 3 2016/17, two patient 
leaders have been appointed for the trust and have 
recently completed their patient leadership training. 
They are currently looking into projects to become 
involved in, with a particular interest being shown in 
involvement in in the Zero Suicide project.  
 
A further update on this programme will be given at 
the end of Q4 2016/17. 

93 89 
83 

96 
82 

91 
81 

95 
86 

93 

75 

96 

0

20

40

60

80

100

Community Mental Health Community Physical
health

Mental health Inpatients Patients in Community
Hospitals

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

 The Trust also carries out its own patient 
satisfaction survey throughout the year to 
further ascertain and assure levels of patient 
satisfaction. 

 

 The Patient Leadership Programme 
has been set up to improve involvement 
of patients and carers in the development 
of our services. The aim of the programme 
is to establish a group of people that have 
received training and support to work 
with us to design and change patient 
services for the better. 
 

67



  

10 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Learning from Complaints and 
Compliments 
The Trust has continued to respond to and learn from 
complaints and compliments during the year. 
 
Figures 8 and 9 below show the number of complaints 
and compliments received by the Trust. From these 
charts, there appears to be a slight downward trend in 
the number of formal complaints received since April 
2015 and an upward trend in compliments received 
over the same period.  
The Trust received 36 formal complaints in Q3 
2016/17. This is a reduction in comparison with the 
previous three quarters. The West Berkshire locality 
was the only locality to see an increase in the number 
of formal complaints received in comparison with the 
last quarter. Of the other localities, Slough received 
the same number and all of the other localities saw a 
reduction in complaints compared with the previous 
quarter. 
 
The services with the greatest number of formal 
complaints during Q3 2016/17 were Community 
mental health (CMHT) and Care Pathways, Acute 
Adult Mental Health inpatients, Crisis 
Resolution/Home Treatment Team (CRHTT), 
Community Hospital inpatients and Community 
Nursing. However, CRHTT did see a continued 
reduction in complaints in comparison with quarters 
one and two. The Clinical Director for CRHTT 
continues to review all of the complaints received to 

ensure that themes or trends that require specific 
improvement are acted on. 
 
For Community Mental Health Teams and Community 
Hospital inpatients, the number of complaints was 
similar to the number received in quarter two, and 
Adult Acute Mental Health inpatients saw a significant 
reduction. 
 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 
has seen a continued reduction in the number of 
formal complaints received, with 2 received during 
quarter three in comparison with 5 in quarter two and 
6 in quarter one; the number of complaints  received 
remains lower than those received during quarters 
one and two in 2015/16. 
 
During quarter 3 of 2016/17 we achieved a complaints 
response rate of 100% within the timescale agreed 
with the complainant. This 100% result has been 
sustained from Q1 of 2016/17. Services on average 
took 33 days to investigate and respond to complaints 
in Q3 of 2016/17 (compared with 28 days in Q2 and 
29 in Q1). Many complaints are responded to much 
quicker if they are less complex. 
 
Please also note that the number of complaints, 
together with response and resolution times is 
included within section 3 of this report as they are 
core indicators. 

 
 Figure 8-  Complaints received  

 
 Source: Trust Performance Assurance Framework 
 
 

16 

21 20 21 

15 15 

18 

15 14 

20 

25 

18 
20 21 

25 

17 

28 

11 10 11 

15 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

A
p

r-
2

0
1

5

M
ay

-2
0

1
5

Ju
n

-2
0

1
5

Ju
l-

2
0

1
5

A
u

g-
2

0
1

5

Se
p

-2
0

1
5

O
ct

-2
0

1
5

N
o

v-
2

0
1

5

D
e

c-
2

0
1

5

Ja
n

-2
0

1
6

Fe
b

-2
0

1
6

M
ar

-2
0

1
6

A
p

r-
2

0
1

6

M
ay

-2
0

1
6

Ju
n

-2
0

1
6

Ju
l-

2
0

1
6

A
u

g-
2

0
1

6

Se
p

-2
0

1
6

O
ct

-2
0

1
6

N
o

v-
2

0
1

6

D
e

c-
2

0
1

6

Ja
n

-2
0

1
7

Fe
b

-2
0

1
7

M
ar

-2
0

1
7

To
ta

l N
u

m
b

e
r 

68



  

11 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Figure 9-  Compliments received 

 
 Source: Trust Compliments Reports 
  

2016 National NHS Community Mental 
Health Survey 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The results of the 2016 National Community Mental 
Health Survey were published in November 2016. 
Patients were eligible to receive and respond to this 
survey if they had been seen by community mental 
health services between 1 September 2015 and 30 
November 2015. Surveys were sent to 850 people 
meeting this inclusion criteria, with responses 
received from 233 of them (27%). This is a decrease 
from 30% in 2015, but is in line with the national 
average (which has also seen a decrease).  
 

The 2016 survey contained 36 questions across ten 
sections. Each question and section was scored out of 
a total mark of 10 and given a RAG rating (Red, Amber 
or Green) to indicate how the trust had scored in 
relation to an expected range of scores. For example, 
an amber score indicates that the trust is not 
significantly different than average for that question, 

with a green score indicating that the trust scored 
better and a red score worse. 
 

The Trust scored amber (about the same as other 
Trusts) across all sections of the benchmarking report 
in the 2016 survey. The Trust also scored amber 
across all questions in this survey, with the exception 
of one question where the trust scored Red: When 
you tried to contact them (Crisis Care), did you get the 
help you needed? Improvement in scores was seen 
across all areas of the report that looked at support 
and wellbeing. 
 

The Trust will shortly be  carrying out a ‘deep dive’ 
into our crisis resolution/home treatment team, 
which had been scheduled prior to these results being 
published, as part of our ongoing patient experience 
programme. This is externally facilitated and will give 
us more in depth insight into the experience of people 
who use this service and those who care for them, as 
an addition to our local feedback methods. 
 

There has been a significant increase in satisfaction 
about being supported to find work. Our Individual 
Placement and Support (IPS) employment service 
receive positive feedback through our internal patient 
survey and it is assuring to see that this is also 
reflected in this improvement. 
 
These results are to be shared with the Community 
Mental Health Teams and the wider organisation.  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

A
p

r-
2

0
1

5

M
ay

-2
0

1
5

Ju
n

-2
0

1
5

Ju
l-

2
0

1
5

A
u

g-
2

0
1

5

Se
p

-2
0

1
5

O
ct

-2
0

1
5

N
o

v-
2

0
1

5

D
e

c-
2

0
1

5

Ja
n

-2
0

1
6

Fe
b

-2
0

1
6

M
ar

-2
0

1
6

A
p

r-
2

0
1

6

M
ay

-2
0

1
6

Ju
n

-2
0

1
6

Ju
l-

2
0

1
6

A
u

g-
2

0
1

6

Se
p

-2
0

1
6

O
ct

-2
0

1
6

N
o

v-
2

0
1

6

D
e

c-
2

0
1

6

Ja
n

-2
0

1
7

Fe
b

-2
0

1
7

M
ar

-2
0

1
7

To
ta

l N
u

m
b

e
r 

 The National Community Mental 
Health Survey is an annual survey that 
aims to ascertain the experiences of 
people that receive specialist care or 
treatment for a mental health condition. 
Feedback from people about their 
experiences of our community mental 
health services is crucial in helping us 
highlight good care and to identify 
potential risks to the quality of services. 
 

69



  

12 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Figure 10 below gives an overview of scores for the 
Trust in relation to respondents’ overall views of the 
care and service they received and their overall 
experience. The 2016 Trust scores are compared with 
the highest and lowest scores achieved by other trusts 

this year, and with the comparable Trust score for the 
equivalent question in both 2014 and 2015. Please 
also note that the overall Community Mental health 
score for the Trust is also included within section 3 of 
this report as it is a core indicator. 

 Figure 10- National Community Mental Health Survey Results 2016- Overall view of care and services 

 
 Source: National Community Mental Health Survey  
  

 
2016 National NHS Staff Survey
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Include Overall results when published in Q3/Q4  
Figure 11- 2016 National Staff Survey-  
Figure 11: Findings from National NHS Staff Survey 
 

To be included once trust report is published in March 
2017 
Source: National Staff Survey 
 
Please also note that the overall National Staff Survey 
score for the Trust is also included within section 3 of 
this report as it is a core indicator. 
 
The Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)  
Figure 12- Staff survey results relating to the 
Workforce Race Equality Standard 
To be included once trust report is published in March 
2017 
Source: National Staff Survey

 The results from the National NHS 
Staff Survey are used by the Trust to 
inform local improvements in staff 
experience and well-being. This is 
important as a positive staff experience 
plays an important part not only in staff 
welfare, but also in helping to maintain 
and improve on patient safety and 
experience. This section has been 
included here as staff satisfaction can 
have an impact on both patient 
experience and safety 
 

70



  

13 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.1.2 Patient Safety 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Throughout the year, the trust’s aim has been to foster an environment where staff are confident to raise concerns 
about patient safety. Learning occurs with respect to errors, incidents, near misses and complaints across the 
organisation.  Initiatives to achieve this have been implemented during 2016/17. The Trust has continued to engage 
with and contribute to cross organisational initiatives such as the patient safety collaborative. 
 

The Trust has also signed up to the ‘Sign up to Safety’ pledges and through this has committed to put safety first, 
continually learn, be honest and transparent, collaborate in learning and support staff to help them understand and 
improve on when things go wrong. 
 

A list of trust quality concerns are also documented within this section, together with progress relating to the Trust 
Freedom to speak up (whistleblowing) process. Further information on Trust patient safety thermometer metrics, 
including those relating to various types of harm, are included in Appendix D. 
 
 

Pressure Ulcer Prevention 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The aim of the pressure ulcer prevention priority is to 
provide the best care to patients through prompt and 
thorough risk assessment, education of patients and 
carers, and early intervention to ensure prevention of 
pressure damage in the first instance. 
 

In pursuance of this aim, the trust target is to 
demonstrate continuing improvement during the 
year, maintaining the level of performance against  
 

 
 
current indicators on pressure ulcers that have 
developed due to a lapse in care by Trust staff. 
 

Current interventions to ensure sustained best 
practice include completion of the Waterlow risk 
assessment and MUST scores on admission. Both of 
these identify someone’s risk of developing a pressure 
sore and lead to implementation of an appropriate 
care plan to minimise the risk. 
 

Further actions to be undertaken during 2016/17 to 
address this priority include: 

 Continuing to support the Pressure Ulcer 
Prevention Champion Network (e.g. through 
education sessions) 

 Learning summits for all developed category 3 
and 4 pressure ulcers that are found to have had 
a Lapse in Care in the community.  

 Involvement in improvement projects supported 
by the Oxford Academic Health Science Network 
looking at use of documentation at first 
assessment. 

 

 The Trust aims to prevent errors in healthcare that can cause harm to patients. The errors that 
occur in healthcare are rarely the fault of individuals, but are usually the result of problems with 
the systems they work in. Regardless, NHS patients should be treated in a safe environment and be 
protected from avoidable harm. 
 

Our 2016/17 Patient Safety Priorities: 
 

• To continue to improve on the prevention and reduction of pressure ulcers during the year, 
 maintaining the level of performance against current indicators on pressure ulcers that have 
 developed due to a lapse in care by trust staff 
• To reduce the number of falls experienced by trust inpatients 

 Pressure ulcers, sometimes known as 
‘bed sores’ or ‘pressure sores’, are an 
injury that breaks down the skin and 
underlying tissue. They are caused when 
an area of skin is placed under pressure 
and can range in severity from patches of 
discoloured skin to open wounds. 
Pressure ulcers are graded from 1 (most 
superficial) to 4 (most severe) 
 

71



  

14 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Progress against this priority has been monitored 
during 2016/17 using the following metrics, the 
results of which are detailed in figures 13 to 16 below: 
1. To reduce or maintain the baseline from Q1 

2016/17 of the number of developed community 
Category 2 pressure ulcers which occurred 
following a lapse of care from Trust staff. (Annual 
target has been set as less than or equal to 24 
based on Q1 results) 

2. To reduce or maintain the baseline from 2015/16 
of the number of developed community Category 
3 and 4 pressure ulcers which occurred following a 
lapse in care from BHFT staff. (Annual target set at 
less than or equal to 12) 

3. To maintain or further reduce the number of 
inpatient acquired Category 2, 3 and 4 pressure 

ulcers which occurred following a lapse of care 
from BHFT staff. (Annual target has been set at less 
than or equal to 15) 

4. Trust point prevalence of new pressure ulcers 
detailed in the Classic Safety Thermometer 

 
It should be noted that from April 2016, ‘avoidable’ 
pressure ulcers are referred to as Lapse in Care (LIC) 
and ‘unavoidable’ as Appropriate Care Given (ACG) 
 
The charts below show that between Quarters 1 and 3 
of 2016/17, the Trust is on track to meet the annual 
targets detailed above. Of particular note is the 
finding that there were no inpatient category 2, 3 or 4 
pressure ulcers during these quarters that were due 
to a lapse in care by the Trust.  

 
 Figure 13-  Number of developed community Cat. 2 pressure ulcers which occurred following a lapse of 

 care from Trust staff. Target- To Reduce or maintain number from Quarter 1 2016/17 baseline 

 
 Source: Trust incident data (Datix) based on finally approved incidents
 

 Figure 14-  Number of developed community Cat. 3 and 4 pressure ulcers which occurred following a 
 lapse of care from Trust staff. Target: To reduce or maintain number from 2015/16 

 
 Source: Trust incident data (Datix) based on finally approved incidents 

6 
0 0 

1 
0 

1 2 2 1 
0 0 0 

6 6 6 7 7 8 
10 

12 13 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17

N
o

. o
f 

D
e

ve
lo

p
e

d
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
C

at
.  

2
 P

re
ss

u
re

 U
lc

e
rs

 d
u

e
 t

o
 la

p
se

 in
 

ca
re

 

Monthly no. of Community Cat. 2 Pressure Ulcers due to lapse in care

Cumulative number over year

Annual target- based on 4X Q1 numbers (fewer than or equal to)

0 1 1 0 1 2 
0 

2 
0 

0 
1 

2 2 
3 

5 5 

7 7 

0

5

10

15

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17

N
o

. o
f 

D
e

ve
lo

p
e

d
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
C

at
. 

3
 &

 4
 P

re
ss

u
re

 U
lc

e
rs

 d
u

e
 t

o
 la

p
se

 
in

 c
ar

e
 

Monthly no. of community Cat. 3 and 4 Pressure Ulcers due to lapse in care

Cumulative number over year

Annual Target (fewer than or equal to)

72



  

15 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

 Figure 15- Number of inpatient acquired Cat. 2, 3 and 4 pressure ulcers which occurred following a lapse of 
 care from BHFT staff. Target: To reduce or maintain number from 2015/16 

 
 Source: Trust incident data (Datix) based on finally approved incidents 
 

 Figure 16-  Point prevalence of new pressure ulcers (all developed Pressure Ulcers for the Trust recorded 
 at a specific point in time each month*)

 
 Source: Safety Thermometer 
 

 * Please note that the above Safety Thermometer chart does not show the total number of new pressure ulcers 
for the Trust, but only those that are recorded at a specific point in time each month.

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

0

5

10

15

Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17N
o

. o
f 

In
p

at
ie

n
t 

A
cq

u
ir

e
d

 C
at

. 2
, 3

 &
 4

 P
re

ss
u

re
 U

lc
e

rs
 

d
u

e
 t

o
 la

p
se

 in
 c

ar
e

 

Monthly no. of Inpatient Cat. 2  3 and 4 Pressure Ulcers due to lapse in care

Cumulative number over year

Annual Target (fewer than or equal to)

73



  

16 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Falls 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

During 2016/17, the aimed to reduce the number of 
falls experienced by inpatients. The Trust Falls 
Strategy was written and ratified in the autumn of 
2015 in response to the recognition that our falls 
focus and assessments were not standardised across 
all our wards and that numbers were at times high, 
both on mental health and community wards, with no 
real understanding as to why that was. Many of the 
reasons people fall are out of our control (e.g. 
comorbidity) but equally many of the reasons people 
fall can be learnt about and practice changed.  
 

During 2016/17, actions to address this priority 
included the following: 
1. To introduce bespoke assistive technology 

equipment into all our inpatient wards that will 

alert nursing staff when at-risk patients are moving 
around so enabling staff to assist as required. This 
will be in the form of bed, chair and movement 
sensors as well as a new sensor for the WC (being 
developed for the Trust) maintaining patient 
dignity but alerting staff. 

2. Closely working with the Oxford Academic Health 
Science Network (OAHSN) across the Thames 
Valley to implement evidenced-based ways of 
reducing falls in our services. This may include: 

 Replacing push-pedal bins with open topped bins, 
thus reducing the need for the patient to stand 
on one leg to dispose of paper towels 

 Leaving the light on/ putting a light sensor in the 
WC, so that the patient does not become 
confused with the pull cords or embarrassed they 
will pull the wrong cord and resulting in them 
using the WC in the dark. 

 

Progress against this priority has been monitored 
using the following metrics the results of which are 
detailed in figure 17 below: 
1. Monitoring of the number of falls to under the set 

required per 1000 bed days metric and also be able 
to accurately understand why there are peaks in 
the numbers through close monitoring of patients 
who are at higher risk. 

2. Evaluating the use of the assistive technology, 
adapting as required. 

 

Figure 17 below shows the Trust’s performance 
against its falls targets by ward type. The figure shows 
that at the end of Quarter 3 2016/17, the Trust had 
achieved its set targets for falls rate per 1000 bed 
days in Q3 and for the year overall. 

 Figure 17-  Rate of falls per 1000 bed days- Split by Ward Type 

 
 
Evaluation of the use of assistive technology To be included in Q4 report 

8.39 

4.90 

0.75 
0.00 

6.82 

4.43 

0.20 

1.85 

6.59 
5.30 

0.33 
1.01 

7.18 

4.87 

0.42 
1.00 

0

2

4

6

8

10

Older Peoples Mental
Health Wards

Community Health Wards Mental Health Wards and
BAU

Learning Disability UnitsR
at

e
 o

f 
Fa

lls
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
0

 B
e

d
 D

ay
s 

Ward/ Unit Type 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Annual

Target- Less than 8.00 for 
OPMH and CH Wards Target- Less than 5.2 for 

MH and LD Wards 

 The Trust considers prevention of falls a 
high priority. The Royal College of 
Physicians report that falls are the most 
commonly reported type of patient safety 
incident in healthcare. Although most 
people falling in hospital experience no or 
low physical harm (such as minor cuts and 
bruises), others suffer severe 
consequences, such as hip fracture, head 
injury or, on rarer occasions, a fall will be 
fatal (falls are the commonest cause of 
death from injury in the over 65s). The 
personal consequences of a fall for the 
individual can be significant and even 
‘minor’ falls can be very debilitating 

 

74



  

17 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Quality Concerns 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The trust is currently rated as ‘good’ overall by the CQC.  
 

Acute Adult Mental Health Inpatient Bed Occupancy 
Bed occupancy continues to be consistently above 
90%. Patients have high levels of need, there is 
disruption for patients who are on leave with 
concerns about where they will go on their return and 
patients are being placed out of area (this increases 
suicide risk on their discharge). The Chief Operating 
Officer is leading a bed optimisation programme to try 
and alleviate this pressure. Delayed discharges are 
increasing and additional support has been brought in 
to support the team. A bed manager is to be 
appointed. 
 

Locked Wards 
Our inpatient assessment and treatment unit for 
people with learning disabilities and psychiatric 
intensive care unit are both locked units managing 
very challenging and vulnerable patients, who 
frequently assault staff. Both of these units continue 
to experience high turnover of staff and agency use 
and therefore potentially provide a poor patient 
experience. Regular supervision is in place along with 
recruitment plans. Professional leads are working 
closely with staff to ensure standards of practice are 

maintained. Both wards are robustly monitored by 
Executive Directors. 
 

Shortage of adult nursing and therapy staff 
Mental and physical health inpatient and community 
services are now affected by shortages of nursing and 
therapy staff, which has resulted in increased agency 
staff use. This has a potential impact on the quality of 
patient care and experience, and increases our costs.  
For Prospect Park Hospital a redesign of workforce 
has seen increased numbers of band 4 healthcare 
staff recruited. A similar programme is being explored 
for other services.  The staff bank utilises framework 
agencies only and therefore processes are in place to 
assure quality of agency staff. A Head of Resources 
and Recruitment has been appointed.  
 

Interface between CRHTT, Common Point of Entry 
and Community Mental Health Teams.  
Ensuring a smooth transition between components of 
our mental health services is a high priority, as we 
recognise the level of risk that this presents, 
particularly when services are busy. New leadership of 
CRHTT has been appointed which includes a nurse 
consultant. CPE has made significant changes to their 
service model which is demonstrating good 
improvements. CMHT’s are currently reviewing 
caseload management. 
 

CQC Regulatory Action  
The CQC comprehensive inspection placed regulatory 
requirements on the following services: 
•             Berkshire Adolescent Unit 
•             Older People’s Mental Health Inpatients 
•             Learning Disability Inpatient Units 
The CQC undertook a focused inspection in December 
2016. The trust is awaiting their report. 

 
Freedom to Speak Up 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Trust has recently reviewed its Whistleblowing 
policy which is now referred to as the policy on raising  

 
concerns/whistleblowing. This revised policy is largely 
based on the national template and is currently 
undergoing the final stages of the internal approval 
process. The policy is much simpler, clearer and staff-
focused, and the intention is that staff should find it 
more accessible and easier to use The facility for staff 
to raise issues of concern via a third party (CiC) 
remains available. The policy makes it clear to staff 
that they are able to raise concerns anonymously if 
they wish, and this facility is used in the majority of 
cases. In the period from April to Sept 2016, the trust 
received six whistle blowing concerns raised by trust 
staff. All of these have been investigated and there 
are currently no live cases. 

 The Quality Committee of the Trust 
Board identify and review the top quality 
concerns at each meeting to ensure that 
appropriate actions are in place to mitigate 
them. They are identified through some of 
the sources provided within this report, 
together with intelligence received from 
performance reports, staff and stakeholders. 

 

 Following a review by Sir Robert Francis, a 
national ‘Freedom to Speak up’ policy was 
developed that contributes to the need to 
develop a more open and supportive culture 
that encourages staff to raise any issues of 
patient care quality or safety. It is expected that 
all NHS organisations in England adopt this 
policy as a minimum standard to help to 
normalise the raising of concerns   

 

75



  

18 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.1.3 Clinical Effectiveness  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Implementing National Institute for 
Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 
Guidance 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

To ensure best clinical practice, the Trust has 
developed and implemented a policy and procedure 
for implementing NICE Guidance. In summary, the 
following steps are taken to fulfil the process of 
identification, implementation and monitoring of NICE 
Guidance across all Trust services. 
 

1. Identification and Dissemination of Guidance. 
All newly published NICE guidance are identified and 
assessed for their relevance to the Trust as soon as 
possible after their publication. The guidance is then 
sent to the clinical/ service leads in each area for 
which it is relevant. The relevance of the guidance and 
the proposed nominated lead is also reviewed and 
confirmed at the next available meeting of the Trust 
Clinical Effectiveness Group. Service Clinical Directors 
support this identification process. 
 

2. Conducting an organisational gap analysis 
Identified service leads undertake a gap analysis of 
their current compliance with all relevant 
recommendations in the guidance. Based upon these 
analyses, each guideline is given either an ‘adequate’ 

or ‘inadequate’ rating. This rating is updated as and 
when new information emerges relating to the state 
of compliance with the guideline. 
 

3. Implementing recommendations that are 
outstanding from the initial gap analysis 

Following the initial gap analysis, the service lead 
produces an action plan for implementing the 
recommendations that are not currently met. Where 
decisions are taken not to implement 
recommendations, these are referred to the Clinical 
Effectiveness Group for consideration.  
 

4. Monitoring implementation of NICE Guidance 
The Trust has set performance targets in relation to 
the implementation of NICE guidance.  These are: 
1. Compliance with NICE Technology Appraisals- 100% 
2. Compliance with all NICE Guidance- 80% 
 

These targets are monitored by the Trust Clinical 
Effectiveness Group, chaired by the Trust Medical 
Director. In addition, NICE Quality Standards are 
considered as part of the clinical audit core 
programme and services undertake a variety of audit 
activity relating to NICE guidance. Progress against 
these targets is as follows. 
 

Trust Performance Target Target 
(%) 

Score 
(%) 

1. Compliance with NICE 
Technology Appraisals 

100 100 

2. Compliance with all NICE 
Guidance 

80 85 

Source: Trust NICE Compliance Update Reports 

 
Other clinical effectiveness activity, including that 
relating to service improvements, clinical audit and 
research, is reported later in this report. 

 Clinical effectiveness aims to ensure that each patient receives the right treatment in the right 
place at the right time. Achieving this requires the application of the best knowledge (derived from 
research, clinical experience and patient preferences) to achieve optimum processes and outcomes 
of care for patients. 
 

Our 2016/17 Clinical Effectiveness Priority: 
 
• To continue to implement National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Guidance 
 to ensure that the services that the trust provides are operating in line with best clinical 
 practice. Achievement against this priority will be measured against the Trust targets  

 Since 1999, NICE have provided the NHS, 
and those who rely on it for their care, with 
an increasing range of advice on effective, 
good value healthcare. NICE guidelines, 
technology appraisals and quality standards 
provide valuable evidenced-based 
information on clinically effective and cost-
effective services. 

 

76



  

19 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.1.4 Health Promotion 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Suicide Prevention- Zero Suicide 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The focus of this initiative is on: 

 Culture and changing attitudes and behaviours 

 Training – giving people the skills to address 
situations when people are most vulnerable 

 Monitoring and reporting processes 
There is an established Steering Group to oversee this 
initiative. 
 

The objective of the project is that, by March 2018:  

 Our staff will have received suicide prevention 
training and feel confidence in their practice.   

 We will have crisis plans that patients and carers 
recognise, understand and consider to be valid and 
useful. 

 
 
 
 

 
In the first instance, the primary focus of this project 
is the Trust’s mental health services, but there is an 
intention to raise awareness across all services. 
 

In order to address this priority, the Trust will take the 
following actions during 2016/17: 
1. A programme of training courses will be delivered 

through to March 2018.  
2. Visits will be made to localities and teams to 

deliver short workshops 
3. Launch event in autumn 2016. 
4. Amendments will be made to RiO our electronic 

patient record to include a new Risk Assessment 
Tool and a new Crisis Plan  

5. Monitoring arrangements will be put in place and 
overseen by the Suicide Steering Group 

6. A lead for suicide prevention will be in place        
7. Promotional material will be produced 
 

Progress against this priority during 2016/17 will be 
monitored using the identified actions, the results of 
which are detailed below: 
 

Please also note that monthly suicide numbers with 
associated rolling 12 month figures are included in 
Part 3 of this report. 
 

 
a. Progress with implementation of Zero Suicide 

Project 
Leads for suicide prevention are in place with regular 
meetings of the zero suicide steering group to 
monitor progress. The Zero Suicide Steering Group is 
chaired by the Director of Nursing and two leads have 
been appointed to the project. Workshops delivered 
to localities and teams with promotional material 
produced and circulated to staff and other relevant 
community facilities 
As at the end of Q3 2016-17, the following has been 
achieved: 

 Positive feedback has been received from training 
participants within all staff groups 

 An additional component has been included in 
training about supporting families bereaved by 
suicide. A pilot intervention for supporting 
bereaved families is ongoing in Bracknell. 

 Training has been updated to include staff support 
following suicide; guidance for staff on how, where 
and when to get support based on a psychological 
first aid model is being updated.  

 Further analysis of suicide dashboard data has 
resulted in the development of a project to focus 
on the benefits of peer review; this will focus on 

 Health promotion is the process of enabling people to increase control over, and to improve, 
their health. It moves beyond a focus on individual behaviour towards a wide range of social and 
environmental interventions. 
 

Our 2016/17 Health Promotion Priority: 
 

•  The Trust has selected the prevention of suicide and, in particular, the implementation of 
 the Zero Suicide initiative as its health promotion priority. 

 The Trust’s vision is to develop a culture 
of zero suicide where patients, families and 
carers feel supported to manage illness 
when in crisis. 
 

77



  

20 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

the decision making about risk and interventions 
implemented.  

 Dashboard data has also highlighted the need to 
increase our focus on risk in the transition period, 
this is a high risk time and strategies for reducing 
the risk have been included in policy and training.  

 Risk mandatory training materials have been 
finalised and are being tested throughout Q4.  

 A range of guidance to assist staff with risk 
assessment and management is available on the 
zero suicide webpages. 

 Two service user volunteers and a patient leader 
have been recruited to the zero suicide projects.

 
b. Progress with training 
Figure 19 below details current progress against the 
training metrics for 2016/17. 
 

Up to the end of quarter 3, 58% of the available 
annual training places for the crisis intervention 
training and 77% of the additional suicide awareness  
 

 
 
training places had been taken up by staff. More 
training sessions are planned for Q4 
 

In addition, bespoke training relating to crisis 
telephone calls has also been undertaken by 22 Crisis 
Resolution and Home Treatment Team staff. 
 

 Figure 19-  Trust performance against suicide prevention training metrics  

 
 Source: Trust Learning and Development Department 
 
c. Results of Community Mental Health Team 

(CMHT) risk  triangulation audit 
Theh trust implemented a new risk summary at the 
beginning of January 2017 and, as a result, risk audits 
were suspended in December 2016 to enable staff to 
embed the new system.  The new risk summary 
consists of a simplified format that allows the 
practitioner to complete one form to cover risk 
assessment, risk management and crisis contingency 
/service user focussed safety plan.  The trust 

successfully launched the new form on 10th January 
2017 along with a range of user guides and frequently 
asked questions. Champions in each area have helped 
staff to transfer information from the previous system 
into the new format.  This work will continue during 
quarter 4 and a new qualitative audit system is being 
devised which will be tested in April 2017. Data is 
being collected from teams in relation to strengths 
and areas for improvements in the new system. This 
will be evaluated in April 2017. 

28 staff completed  
YTD 

(58% of annual  
training places) 

77 staff completed 
 YTD 

(77% of annual 
training places) 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Cumulative % of  the 48 crisis intervention training
places that have been completed by the Crisis

Resolution and Home Treatment Team

Cumulative % of the approx 100 additional suicide
awareness training places that have been completed

by the community mental health team

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 o

f 
Tr

ai
n

in
g 

P
La

ce
s 

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
 

Q1 16/17 Q2 16/17 Q3 16/17 Q4 16/17 % of annual training places remaining

78



  

21 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.1.5. Other Service Improvements achieved in 2016/17 
 
 
 
 

 

2.1.6. Improvements in Community Health Services for Adults 
 

The Diabetes Centre 
• From September 2016, the team have delivered 

structured education for people with Type 1 
Diabetes in West Berkshire and this has resulted in 
very positive feedback. The team also deliver X-PERT 
structured education for people with Type 2 
Diabetes in West Berkshire, winning four awards in 
the 2016 for this.  

• The Diabetes Specialist Nurse Service (West) have 
been working alongside practice GPs and nurses to 
proactively identify and follow up patients with Type 
2 Diabetes on insulin with sub optimal diabetes 
control, patients are seen in a group setting, 
resulting in their increased understanding of 
diabetes and insulin treatment as well as an average 
HbA1c reduction of 14.5 mmols. 

• The Diabetes Patient’s Focus Group in East Berkshire  
continues to meet quarterly to discuss, and feedback 
on the Diabetes Service 

• Patient satisfaction survey results show 98% of 
service users rated the Diabetes Service as good or 
better 

 

The Berkshire Community Dental Service continues 
to provide dental care for patients who are unable to 
be treated in a general dental practice, including 
those with learning and physical disabilities, complex 
medical problems, severe mental health problems and 
dementia.  The service also provides care for children 
referred with a large number of cavities who are non-
compliant with treatment. 
 

The Hearing and Balance Service has maintained their 
UK Accreditation Service (UKAS) accreditation status 
for Improving Quality in Physiological Services (IQIPS).  
In addition, the team have collectively agreed the 
following three service improvement priorities: 
• Maximising use of technology- By March 2017 to set 

up and offer service users video conferencing 
consultations for some aspects of Hearing and 
Balance Services. In the long term to scope 
opportunities with manufacturers to develop 

remote access functionalities through cloud based 
apps and on-line support for hearing aid users.    

• Improving service user experience and engagement- 
To engage with service users to better understand 
what they value/want from future Hearing and 
Balance Services then to co-produce redesign of 
service provision. A service user forum has been set 
up to support and initiate further decisions. 

• Integrating our services- To improve communication 
and working between services within and external to 
Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. 

 

Adult Community Inpatients Wards Advanced Nurse 
Practitioners are supporting both the nursing and 
medical services to provide enhanced care to our 
patients. In addition, Oakwood Ward at Prospect Park 
Hospital in Reading has developed a patient 
expectation leaflet which will be sent to the Royal 
Berkshire Hospital to be given out to patients with the 
potential to be admitted to Oakwood Ward. 
 

The Berkshire Health Hub is a single point of access 
for referrals for healthcare professionals and patients 
to scheduled and unscheduled community services 
and Wokingham Social Services.  The Hub processes 
145,000 referrals per year and receives 130,000 
telephone calls.  Future developments in the Hub 
include Enhanced Support for Care Homes via Skype 
to help avoid hospital admissions and the integration 
of Slough Social Services into the Hub. 
 

The East Berkshire Palliative Care Team relocated to 
Thames Hospice in November 2016. This will enable 
closer integration with colleagues working in the 
hospice and will help ensure seamless, well-
coordinated patient care. As cancer is now becoming 
a long term condition and with the majority of 
patients successfully treated for their cancer but often 
having to live with long term consequences, 
Macmillan funded a project to support such patients 
back into an active and fulfilling life. The team is a 
joint BHFT, Frimley Health and Royal Berkshire 

 In addition to improvements resulting from the priorities detailed above, services have 
undertaken additional initiatives to improve the quality, safety and experience of care provided to 
patients. Details of some of these improvements are detailed below in separate sections relating to 
the area of improvement 

79



  

22 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Hospital team and, due to its success, has had its 
funding extended for another year. 
 

Integrated Assessment and Rehabilitation Services 
for East Berkshire. Patients with frailty and long term 
conditions can now be referred to the Integrated 
Assessment and Rehabilitation Centre (ARC). The 
pathway includes urgent and routine appointments 
for Comprehensive Geriatric Assessments, ensuring 
patients can be assessed within 2 hours if necessary. 
The patient will receive treatments and input from the 
wider Multidisciplinary Team, including access to a 
range of specialist clinicians. Patients can also be 
admitted directly into our rehabilitation beds from the 
community if required, hence avoiding an 
unnecessary admission to an acute hospital bed.  
 

East Berkshire Heart Failure Service has received 
additional funding to support an increase in nursing 
staff to manage increasing demand on the service. 
 

Windsor and Maidenhead (WAM) Psychological care 
for patients with long term conditions pilot. This pilot 
initiative was implemented by WAM Community 
Nursing and WAM Older People’s Mental Health 
team, specifically Psychology, supported by Improving 
Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT), to work with 
patients with long term conditions. Patients 
experienced very positive outcomes with health 
interventions and dependency on health services 
significantly reduced for them. From January, IAPT 
investment is being used to fund continuation and 
development of this work on a greater scale across 
East Berkshire. 
 

East Berkshire Community Nursing. Over the last few 
years East Berkshire Community Nursing Service has 
experienced an increased demand from a growing and 
ageing population, alongside a need to provide more 
complex care delivery to support and keep patients 
safely at home, without changes to resources. As is 
the national picture, this is resulting in significant and 
unsustainable pressure on District Nursing teams. In 
recognition of these issues the commissioners and 
Berkshire Healthcare Foundation Trust as the provider 
commenced a joint review of the current service.  
Early discussions have been commenced, with staff 
involvement in developing potential future models. 
 

Wokingham Community Nursing has operated a 
community nursing triage system since September 
2016 to streamline and efficiently manage all calls and 
referrals to the District Nursing (DN) service. The 
triage team review all calls and referrals to ensure 

that they were dealt with appropriately by allocating 
to the right DN teams, signposting and providing 
information. As at the end of December 2016, 
approximately 8000 calls and referrals have been 
processed by this team, with positive feedback from 
service users, nurses and administrators.  
 

Reading Community Nursing have introduced a new 
approach called ‘Home First’ with the aim of 
integrating community services in Reading whilst 
keeping the patient at the centre and focusing 
services around the patient at home. The initiative 
brings together community nurses, Older People’s 
Mental Health, Intermediate Care and Rapid Response 
and Treatment under one umbrella. The vision of this 
approach is to improve patient and carer experience 
whilst using resources effectively through a combined 
workforce, reducing the impact of unplanned work on 
community teams, working closely with multi-
specialist teams and ensuring referrals are signposted 
to the correct services.  
 

Reading Community Matrons and Care Coordinators 
have expanded the amalgamation of their services in 
2016 to include all GP practices in their area. The data 
produced to date has demonstrated a reduction in the 
number of GP encounters, A&E attendances, 
unplanned hospital admissions and 111 contacts. 
 

Reading Rapid Response and Treatment is a 
multidisciplinary service whose aim is to review 
residents/ patients who are entering a health crisis 
within the care home setting.  Admissions to acute 
hospital have been avoided through the provision of 
advanced clinical nursing care, intravenous antibiotics 
and fluids and the ability to respond quickly and visit 
frequently. Feedback from carers, patients and 
families has been extremely positive and residents are 
grateful to receive acute care whilst remaining in their 
own care home. 
 

Reading Community Cardiac service and Respiratory 
Specialist Service have been working hard to 
integrate their services. Joint clinics and rehabilitation 
sessions have been held, with the added effect of up-
skilling staff. An integrated study day was also held for 
trust staff which resulted in very positive feedback. 
 

Reading Adult Speech and Language Therapy (SALT) 
Staff have worked to make soaking solutions for 
patients on the community wards who have puree 
diet – this allows them to have snacks that look like a 
sandwich/biscuit but are actually puree.  This 
improvement has meant some patients who were 

80



  

23 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

refusing to eat the puree meals are now actively 
engaging in mealtimes. In addition, the team have put 
forward a change in the use of thickeners on the 
wards and in the community. SALT are running Lee 
Silverman Voice Treatment (LSVT) 
support/maintenance groups alongside and funded by 
Parkinsons UK. The team are also running transgender 

voice groups at West Berkshire Community Hospital 
and voice care groups together with therapy for 
transgender clients. They also deliver on-going 
training for nursing homes and Care homes on 
dysphagia and communication. Any service offered in 
the West or East of Berkshire will try to be matched so 
it runs across the service. 

 
2.1.7. Improvements in Primary Care, Out-of-hours, Minor Injuries Unit 

and Walk-in Centre 
 

The Slough Walk In Centre 
This year the Slough Walk in Centre underwent a 
major refurbishment.  All rooms were decorated and 
new flooring was laid in the clinical rooms and the 
waiting area. Following patient feedback, new 
magazine racks and magazines were also provided. 
The centre also purchased a Doppler machine to help 
manage diabetic foot care for patients. New 
sphygmomanometers have also been provided to 
assist patient triage and blood pressure management. 
The centre have also streamlined their pharmacy as 
they had experienced issues with missing medication 
for the Walk in Service. A central pharmacy cupboard 
is now in place, together with a signing-out system in 
reception which is monitored by CCTV. This is now 
working well. 
Staff have been working hard to improve access for 
their registered population and are working towards a 
new telephone system to further improve access to 
services.  
The Walk in Centre is improving the care of patients 
with chronic diseases, especially diabetes and are 
looking at ways to encourage the hard to reach, 
vulnerable patients to ensure they get adequate 
access to healthcare. 
 

WestCall Sepsis Project 
In early 2015 the WestCall GP Out of Hours service 
planned a project to improve the management of 
patients with sepsis in the community, following the 
lead set by the UK Sepsis Trust.  The priority stressed 
the importance of identifying patients with sepsis, 
assessing and treating them within a short time frame 

and then ensuring that their antimicrobial treatment 
was appropriate.  
A new “Sepsis Kit” was designed that WestCall doctors 
should use to identify cases of sepsis more easily and 
where appropriate to commence treatment with the 
appropriate antibiotic immediately before admitting 
the patient to hospital. 
Prior to this project the diagnosis of sepsis and 
septicaemia was not one that appeared and this was 
true of most Out Of Hours organisations in the 
country. Following the implementation of the project 
the diagnosis was recorded and hospital admissions 
for sepsis in Berkshire West began to rise quickly to 
what became often over twenty per month. 
Sepsis is by no means an easy diagnosis to make so 
not all patients admitted were found to have sepsis 
but out of 175 admissions over the year to April 2016, 
126 patients were confirmed as having sepsis and a 
further 20 probably had sepsis. Only 29 were found to 
have other disorders.  
Where patients were previously admitted as being 
very unwell but with no clear diagnosis it is now 
possible to pre-alert the A&E departments to the 
arrival of septic patients so that they can open their 
specialised sepsis management procedures and 
commence antibiotics without delay.  
For patients who are some distance from acute 
hospitals the WestCall doctors can start antibiotics 
using the Sepsis Kits.  For every hour of delay in giving 
antibiotics the mortality rate for sepsis rises by 11% so 
speedy treatment is a priority.  We are now well into 
the second year of the WestCall sepsis project and the 
rates of diagnosis are still rising.  
 

. 

 
 
 

 
 

81



  

24 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.1.8. Improvements in Community Health Services for Children, Young 
People and Families 

 

Children, Young People’s and Families (CYPF) 
Services Development.  
During 2016/17, the CYPF service offer has continued 
to be developed, according to the 2015/16 Children’s 
Services Strategy and Blueprint. Universal and 
specialist children’s services have been restructured 
to align under one locality and, where it makes sense 
to do so, have begun to integrate both physical and 
mental health services for children. By integrating 
these services, the trust places itself in a better 
position to partner with both the Local Authorities 
and other system partners to deliver a Berkshire wide 
Children’s agenda. 
 

The transformation programme of work continues to 
include:- 
1. Delivery of a CYPF Health Hub; including one 

integrated CYPF referral form 
Children’s Services plan to launch the newly 
developed CYPF Health Hub On 3rd April 2017. All 
referrals to Children’s Services (with the exception 
of Universal) will be triaged by a multi-professional 
clinical team within the hub and clinical decisions 
made on the appropriate support for  the 
individual CYPF; including assessment and further 
intervention with integrated professional teams 
where appropriate. 

2. Development of a comprehensive CYPF On-Line 
Resource.  
Advances in technology have enabled us to begin 
to develop a sophisticated and comprehensive on-
line resource, which will be launched on 3rd April 
2017 also, with the aim of supporting CYPF either 
to self-manage their needs prior to accessing our 
services as a preventative measure or as a tool to 
accompany intervention. 

3. Growth of Young SHaRON, our on-line support 
network across CYPF services 

4. Development of integrated assessment and care, 
where it makes sense for CYPF  

5. A focus on effective transition to adult services 
6. Development of our patient record system - Open 

RiO for CYPF. 
 
Over the past year, Children’s Services have worked 
hard to improve the engagement of service users. We 
continue to develop and grow our service user 
participation group and the current service  
 

 

development has been strengthened by co-design 
with our service users.   
 

Health Visiting (HV) Bracknell service improvements 
include: 
• A new streamlined service model focusing on 

delivery of the Healthy Child Programme and 
working with vulnerable families 

• Joint Solihull approach parenting training with 
Children Centre staff 

• A corporate approach to delivery of the service has 
ensured that all families are offered an equal service 
across Bracknell. 

• Health Visitor in Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH), ensuring better contribution to decision 
making for social care 

• Bespoke training for staff e.g. perinatal mental 
health, bloodspot screening for Community Nursery 
Nurses 

 

Reading Health Visiting Central diary allocation has 
helped ensure that bank and agency capacity is well 
used 
 

Health Visiting West Berkshire are offering antenatal 
groups to universal women who are pregnant in their 
third trimester. The groups are offered across 
different venues and at different times during the 
week.  Information is shared in the antenatal group on 
the Solihull approach, breast feeding, immunisations, 
the healthy child programme and how to access the 
local health visiting teams. 
 

Health Visiting Wokingham have held two listening 
into Action (LiA) events.The first looked at 
communicating with clients and, from this work, the 
service now has team generic email boxes set up so 
that parents are now able to email questions to the 
service. The staff have also been issued with 
smartphones to allow them to demonstrate apps to 
clients and have easy access to their email while 
mobile working. SMS text reminders have also been 
set up to automatically be sent 7 and 2 days prior to 
developmental review appointments. 
The 2nd LiA event looked at increasing the quality and 
quantity of Antenatal contacts offered. Clients told 
the service what time of day and week they wanted to 
see a HV and what they wanted to discuss. The format 
has now changed and so has the contact letter after 
taking clients opinions into account. The number of 

82



  

25 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Antenatal contacts achieved in Wokingham almost 
doubled. 
Due to the high volume of clients being referred from 
the HVs to the skill mix staff for baby massage it was 
decided to reintroduce the Talk and Touch Group. This 
group runs for 5 weeks and not only teaches massage, 
which in itself holds many positive benefits; it is also a 
safe environment for a few parents to meet and hold 
topical conversations facilitated by trained Nursery 
Nurse. This course has been extremely well evaluated 
and appreciated by staff and clients alike. 
 

Health Visiting Slough improvements have included: 
• Development of the Health Visiting Duty 

Telephone Line to include email messaging for 
service users. 

• Incorporating the Family Health Needs Assessment 
within the RiO record system  

• Implementing smartphones to help share 
resources with parents.  

• Full time Health Visitor co-located in the Multi 
Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH), ensuring secure 
research, analysis and assessment of risk relating 
to children safeguarding notifications to social 
services. 

 

School Nursing improvements have included: 
• Improved feedback from school age children 

receiving immunisations, using customer feedback 
user friendly machines and a simple feedback 
questionnaire.  

• The use of the links on iPhones for nocturnal 
enuresis and general questionnaire giving a voice 
to the most vulnerable clients.  

• Developing the use of email to send the web link to 
teaching / school staff for feedback post medical 
conditions training. 

• Asthma bus to educate young people on their 
condition working with Frimley Health Trust. 

 

 
 

2.1.9. Improvements in Services for People with Learning Disabilities 
 

Our services for people with learning disabilities aims 
to ensure the best care is provided in the right place – 
which means working to enable people to remain 
living in their own homes and local communities, with 
our specialist inpatient services only being used when 
clinically necessary for people’s safety and wellbeing. 
 

During the past year our community services have 
been working on improving our record keeping and 
risk assessments – to ensure we can demonstrate how 
we work in collaboration with people and their 
families/carers in planning and providing care.  We 
have been using our Learning Disability Outcome 
Measure as a tool to help us measure how effective 
people think our support of their care has been.  In 
addition to working individually with people - there 
have also been a wide range of clinics, workshops and 
meetings across the county helping to improve the 
health and wellbeing of people with learning 
disabilities. 
 

In our inpatient services there has been a focus on 
improving the environment – with new bedroom and 

communal furniture and an extension to the garden.  
We have also been increasing the range of activities 
available to people who are staying in hospital at the 
Campion Unit, Prospect Park Hospital, and ensuring 
there are activities for people to participate in every 
day.  We have also been developing the skills of our 
staff to improve their ability to communicate more 
effectively with people who have limited or no verbal 
communication. 
 

We also know that that people with learning 
disabilities are more at risk of dying prematurely, 
compared to the general population of people 
without a learning disability.  We have established a 
Clinical Review Group to help us review the deaths of 
people with learning disabilities known to our services 
– to identify any immediate areas for improvement, 
good practice, but also areas where wider or longer 
term changes might be required to help improve the 
health and wellbeing of people with learning 
disabilities.

83



  

26 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.1.10. Improvements in Mental Health Services for Adults, Including Older 
Peoples Mental Health Teams 

 
Memory Clinic Accreditation. 
• All of the Trust’s memory clinics are now accredited 

by the Memory Services National Accreditation 
Programme (MSNAP).  

• Wokingham and Bracknell memory clinics have 
successfully completed their 2nd accreditation cycle 
and rank equal 1st and equal 8th respectively out of a 
total of 89 services. 

• Reading memory clinic is also ranked equal 1st and is 
preparing for its second Peer Review at the end of 
February 2017. 

• Slough memory clinic is accredited and is ranked 
equal 8th. 

• WAM OPMH and Newbury Memory Clinic (rankings 
both tbc) achieved MSNAP accreditation this year. 

 

Tier 1 Dementia Training has now been completed by 
almost 80% of the Trust workforce. 
 

Younger People with Dementia (YPWD). Following 
the successful pilot of a YPWD model in East Berkshire 
last year, CCG’s in the east of the county have 
commissioned a 3 day service provided by the YPWD 
Charity to deliver age-appropriate workshops for 
younger people with dementia and their carers in the 
east of the county.  The Charity has secured a 
temporary grant funding for an Admiral Nurse to 
support carers of YPWD in Berkshire East and is 
hoping to demonstrate the need for a permanent 
Admiral Nurse position like the one already employed 
by BHFT funded by West Berkshire CCGs. (Berkshire 
now has the only 2 Admiral Nurses for YPWD in the 
UK). A Listening into Action (LiA) project is currently 
underway to develop a YPWD model and pathway for 
Berkshire East similar to that provided in Berkshire 
West. We are therefore nearing equity of provision 
for YPWD across Berkshire. The YPWD Charity & BHFT 
OPMH were shortlisted for the 2016 Royal College of 
Psychiatrist’s Sustainability award. 
 

Dementia Care Advisors. Thames Valley Clinical 
Support Network has funded an 8 month project led 
by BHFT comparing Dementia Care Advisor provision 
across Berkshire. The aim of this project is to produce 
a best practice Dementia Care Advisor pathway for 
localities to consider adopting. 
 
Bracknell Older Peoples Mental Health team (OPMH) 
has held monthly case formulation sessions lead by a  

 
psychologist where complex cases are discussed and a 
deeper understanding is gained by sharing views and 
knowledge across all MDT staff. The session is open to 
all staff and it is protected time. This helps individual 
workers share complex cases, manage potential risk 
and deliver innovative solutions.  
In addition, Bracknell OPMH has held Staff 
mindfulness sessions to help to support wellbeing. 
Mindfulness is paying attention to the present 
moment, non-judgementally and has been shown to 
have benefits for wellbeing. These sessions have been 
well received and attended and staff report that they 
find the sessions relaxing and grounding.  
 

Reading OPMH Team have undertaken the ‘Great 
Apples’ pilot project in care homes focusing on 
reducing pressure ulcers and other common health 
issues. During the pilot at Walnut Close Care Home, 
no pressure ulcers were developed in 6 months.  
MUST, Weights and BMI were audited and 
measurements went from  50% and 65% to 100% 
compliance – helping to monitor risk more accurately.  
 

Bracknell Community Mental Health Team for Older 
Adults (CMHTOA) and Home Treatment Team (HTT) 
integration. This integration is now embedded and 
the service will be evaluated in the coming year. 
 

East Out of Area Placements (OAPs) Panel. There 
have been a number of changes to assessment, 
approval and monitoring for patients for whom a 
health- funded placement is recommended.  The 
objective is for locality teams, who generally know the 
patient best, to be more closely engaged in 
overseeing and monitoring the quality of any 
placement, to ensure the patient’s outcomes and 
need are being met, patient experience is improved, 
and resources are allocated most effectively.  To this 
end, An OAPs panel has been established in East 
Berkshire along with a revised process for treatment 
placements to be considered and approved.  
 

World Mental Health Day:  SloughFest 10th October 
2016. World Mental Health Day is celebrated each 
year on 10 October. This year in Slough, members of 
all sections of the local community came together for 
‘Slough Fest’, a day of art, drama and music at the 
Singh Sabha Slough Sports Centre.  The event was 
attended by more than 400 people, and provided an 

84



  

27 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

opportunity to tackle stigma, raise awareness and 
celebrate of creativity and achievement by people 
who have mental health problems.   
 

Perinatal Mental Health. Berkshire has received 
National Perinatal Development Funding for the next 
two years to help build on the service that is currently 
being provided. This funding has enabled the trust to 
recruit to a Perinatal Psychiatrist post and to increase 
Perinatal Cognitive Behavioural Therapy hours so that 
an improved service can be delivered to the women of 
Berkshire and their families. We have been seeing a 
year on year increase in referrals to the service and 
together with funding for other projects/pilots 
planned for the next two years we will be able to 
deliver training to a wider audience and trial perinatal 
clinics at our three most local maternity units. 
 

Intensive Management of Personality Disorders and 
Clinical Therapies Team (IMPACTT). IMPACTT is a new 
specialist service which has been developed following 
the review and subsequent closure of the Complex 
Needs Service. IMPACTT provides comprehensive 
assessment and evidence-based treatments for 
individuals aged 18 and over as part of an updated 
care pathway for individuals with a diagnosed 
personality disorder, primarily Borderline Personality 
Disorder/Emotionally Unstable Personality Disorder 
(BPD/EUPD), but who may also have comorbid 
Antisocial Personality traits.  
The team consists of highly skilled specialist staff who 
are experienced in working with people who have a 
diagnosis of Personality Disorder. They come from a 
variety of backgrounds and include Psychotherapists, 
Psychologists, Psychological Therapists and Assistant 
Psychologists. IMPACTT offers two evidence-based 
treatments: Dialectical Behavioural Therapy (DBT) and 
Mentalization-Based Treatment (MBT), as 
recommended by the NICE guidelines. 
 

East Berkshire – ASSIST/Embrace- Assertive 
stabilisation for people with emotional intensity and 
instability. The Embrace group continues to engage 
with service users across East Berkshire, providing a 
supportive and enabling space for people who have 
engaged with ASSIST.  There have been a number of 
positive developments this year, whereby Embrace 
and ASSIST group members have been active in 
representing the service, and offering Peer support. 
Two Embrace group members attend BHFT Patient 
Experience and Engagement meetings, and Embrace 
group members co-facilitate Carers and Family group, 
and group sessions on the ward of Prospect Park 

Hospital.  From the group we have elected members 
who are now working as peer auditors for The Royal 
College of Psychiatry, on their Community of 
Communities projects.   
 

Recovery Team:  Hope College- Slough. Hope College 
has grown over the last year and now offers 22 
different courses to students who are primarily 
people with mental health problems and their carers. 
628 students have enrolled in the college since the 
launch in 2015. The peer mentor training course has 
trained 22 peer mentors who are engaged with many 
activities such as co-facilitation of Hope College 
courses and consultation activities within the service.  
The Hope College provides a positive link for service 
users in supported living facilities, with tailored 
courses to assist in developing independent living 
skills, self confidence and self-esteem.  
 

Carers’ activities for mental health carers. Carer Café  
for mental health carers is  held once every 2 months , 
providing support from other carers and mental 
health professionals, opportunities for training, 
information, signposting, pampering, and time out 
from caring. 
 

Reading CMHT successes include: 
• Individual Placement and Support (IPS) employment 

service– 58 successful job outcomes. 
• Service leaflets and carers leaflets being developed 

which gives an explanation of the CMHT and what 
service clients can expect from the CMHT. 

• Ongoing review of out of area placement and, where 
appropriate, clients are accommodated in more cost 
effective placements. 

• Safeguarding lead in place.  
• Home treatment team piloted.  
• Dual diagnosis lead. 
• Improved performance  
• Development of Recovery College. 
 

The Psychological Medicine Service has carried out a 
number of service improvement projects in 2016.The 
three outstanding projects were namely: 
• Frequent attenders project. This is an ongoing 

project which has had a positive impact on reducing 
the numbers of re-attendances to the emergency 
department.   

• Follow up clinic for patients who frequently attend 
RBH emergency department. Patients reported that 
this experience was positive. 

85



  

28 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

• Working with the RiO transformation team to 
establish referral pathways and to allow the service 
to capture activity. 

 

The Liaison and Diversion Service improve access to 
healthcare and support services for vulnerable 
individuals through effective liaison with appropriate 
services. In addition, the service diverts individuals 
into health or other supportive services. Diversion can 
be out of the youth or criminal justice system (where 
appropriate) or within these systems. This results in 
the delivery of efficiencies within the youth and 
criminal justice systems as well as the reduction in re-
offending, health inequalities and first-time entrants. 
There has also been an expansion of service provision 
available at Berkshire custody suites as well as the 
development of service information material. 
 

The Health Outreach Liaison Team (HOLT) has 
provided multiple health drop-in clinics around 
Reading town centre and has implemented an Acute 
Hospital Discharge pathway for homeless clients. The 
team host the Reading Homeless Health Forum and 
have developed a Homeless Health Needs Audit.  
 

Forensic Supervisors have developed regular 
Berkshire West Forensic MDT meetings and Local 
Forensic supervisors’ meetings. There are also 
ongoing reviews of restricted patients and 
placements. In addition, links have been established 
between Reading CMHT management and Oxford 
Health NHS Foundation Trust forensic team. 
 

The Attention Deficit/ Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) 
service is now offering joint assessment appointments 
so that clients have their complete assessment with 
both the psychologist and the psychiatrist on the 
same day. They are also submitting a book, “The Adult 
ADHD Treatment Handbook” regarding psychological 
treatments for ADHD, in March 2017.  
 

The Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) service offers a 
multidisciplinary assessment involving a speech 
therapist to many clients. They also ran a very 
successful training day in November 2016.. 
 

Clinical Health Psychology 

 Dr Abigail Wroe, Clinical Health Psychologist, has 
joined the NICE Expert Review Group addressing 
guidelines for ‘Integrated Mental and Physical 
Health’. She is a Clinical Health Psychologist working 
in a specialist Clinical Health Psychology Service, 
with knowledge of IAPT. 

Dr Sarah Scott works with the Melanoma education 
group in her Cancer Rehabilitation role and their 
poster came 2nd at the UK Oncology Nurses 
Conference. 
Claire Luthwood continues in her role as Visiting 
Tutor, Oxford Institute of Clinical Psychology 
Training, University of Oxford. 

 Clinical Health Psychology Service improvements 
within the Royal Berkshire Hospital include: 
o Pain Unit- The pain psychologist and 

physiotherapist within the Royal Berkshire Pain 
Unit have reviewed and updated the Group Pain 
Management Programme to incorporate the latest 
and most reliable physiotherapy and psychological 
research for effective, non-medical management 
of persistent pain.  

o Bariatric Team- This service is now seeing an 
increased number of patients. This requires the 
team to work innovatively to make suitable 
adaptations to the multi-disciplinary assessments, 
pre-operative groups, post-operative groups and 
individual sessions for clients who require them. 
The service has increased its integrated working 
with secondary services such as adult mental 
health teams, and eating disorders team. In 
addition, the Bariatric team have made links with 
the Health Psychology team in University of 
Reading, and are looking into being part of a 
Randomised Control Trial to evaluate a post-op 
psychological intervention. 

o Haematology Service- This service has conducted a 
service improvement project at Royal Berkshire 
Hospital looking at patient experience of having a 
Stem Cell Transplant at the RBH. This has led to the 
development of a new information leaflet for 
patients to improve communication and ensure 
the right level of information was provided. 

o We provide Oncology Clinical Nurse Specialist 
(CNS) group supervision which is now provided for 
24 specialist nurses, limited 1:1 supervision is 
provided if required. 

o Oncology consultant Supervision: One-to-one 
supervision is being offered to Consultant 
Oncologists at The Royal Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust and there has been very good 
uptake since it was initiated in November 2016. 
82% of the Consultants have attended at least one 
session and 73% have met three times and are 
being seen on a monthly basis. 

 Other Services offered by the Clinical Health 
Psychology Team in BHFT include reaching out to 
Reading locality service leads, input into case 

86



  

29 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

management of complex cases at the RBH, and 
limited psychological supervision for district nursing 
staff and community matrons. 

 

Mental Health Inpatient services at Prospect Park 
Hospital (PPH) 
The team are committed to improving patient care 
and safety through innovation. Some of the current 
projects that have been implemented across the 
wards at Prospect Park Hospital are outlined below. 

 Using Innovate Technology to Monitor Physical 
Observations Following Rapid Tranquilization (RT). 
This project has shown an increase in RT monitoring, 
up to 100% in October 2016. We are still testing and 
in the future will spread the word to others as well 
as looking at other aspects of RT 

 A Unique Bespoke Preceptorship Programme 
Tailored To Inpatient Mental Health Nursing. The 
aim of this project is to develop our newly qualified 
nurses with inpatient skill and expertise. 

 Safewards at PPH. Research and recent policy 
initiatives support the promotion of ensuring 
proactive measures are in place to reduce conflict 
within inpatient settings The Safe Wards model, 
developed by Bowers et al (2013) introduces a 
dynamic model of what drives conflict and 
containment on acute mental health wards. There 
has been an extremely successful implementation of 
this on Rowan and Orchid wards which are the first 
older adult wards to successfully do this. The project 
has also been implemented on acute wards and has 
led to a 16% improvement in the number of days 
between conflict in 2016 compared to 2014/2015 on 
all in-patient wards.  

 Improving Failure to Return From Agreed Leave or 
Time Away From the Ward Using QI Methodology. 
This project focused on patients failing to return 
from leave or time away from the ward. The risks 
involved in this area are high, whether a service user 
fails to return as an informal patient or under the 
mental health act. The aim of the project was to 
increase the proportion of patients returning on 
time from leave or time away from the ward by 50% 
on bluebell ward in 12 months. The project resulted 
in Bluebell (pilot ward) achieving a 90% 
improvement within 12 months. The team are 
currently looking to sustain this improvement and 
roll out the project to all wards. 

 Improving Access to Physical Activity with Sport In 
Mind and Sport England. In 2015, through the Sport 
England ‘Get Healthy Get Active’ funding 
programme, we secured over £200,000 to enable a 

Berkshire wide physical activity programme to be 
rolled out, and to ensure the sport sessions for 
inpatients were sustainable in the long term. This 
project delivers a sustainable programme of 33 
weekly supported sport and physical activity 
sessions across Berkshire. Wellbeing data will be 
analysed in August 2018 at end of project. Gym 
attendance has averaged 198 patients per month 
across 7 PPH wards since start of project. 

 Collaborative Working: Occupational Therapy and 
Reading Repertory Theatre   Reading Rep, Reading’s 
regional producing theatre company has been 
working in partnership with Occupational Therapy at 
Prospect Park Hospital since January 2016.  We have 
been delivering weekly sessions which last for 
around 1 hour.  During these sessions we have 
looked at memories, films, sharing stories and 
creating frozen images and short scenes. Interest in 
and attendance to the group have surpassed our 
initial expectations and making this accessible to 
other patients is a priority. Reading Rep. has secured 
further funding to increase sessions at PPH. 

 Reducing Falls Through a Falls Prevention 
Programme for Inpatients. We recognise that there 
have been a number falls during hospital admission 
at PPH, and for older people a fall can result in 
fatality. Therefore it is important for us to as 
proactive as possible in reducing and avoiding falls. 
As a result, an 8 week programme lead by an O.T. 
and Physiotherapist has been introduced with a 
balance between exercise and education. There is 
regular attendance from older adult and adult 
wards, with patients reporting feeling more 
confident walking outside. The project has resulted 
in a reduction in falls for Rowan Ward attendees  

 Aligning Psychological Interventions with NICE 
Guidelines. Psychological therapy for patients at 
PPH is provided by clinical psychologists, assistant 
psychologists and trainee psychologists.  Support is 
given in a variety of ways, including 1:1 sessions, 
family work and support groups, using evidence-
based approaches such as cognitive behaviour 
therapy, interpersonal psychotherapy and systemic 
therapy. Interventions provided for inpatients have 
been aligned following NICE recommendations for a 
number of conditions.   

 Increasing the Opportunity for Patients to Access 
Shared Reading Groups. Occupational Therapy staff 
have been delivering shared reading sessions called 
‘tea and tales’ with The Reader Organisation for a 
number of years. Following ongoing positive 
feedback from our patients, in 2016 we have 

87



  

30 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

enabled these sessions to now be delivered on all 7 
wards.  It was previously only available for 4 wards. 
In September 2016, a group of staff from PPH 
presented at the Thames Valley Suicide Prevention 
and Intervention Network (SPIN) conference, 
promoting the link between shared reading in 
tackling depression and preventing suicide. 

 Family Support in Psychosis Project (FSiPP) 
Evidence suggests that family interventions are 
associated with positive outcomes for patients with 
psychosis, particularly in relation to service user 
relapse, hospitalisation rates and medication 
compliance. In addition, psychoeducation 
interventions have been found to improve the 
experience of caring, quality of life and to reduce 
psychological distress in family members of people 
diagnosed with a psychotic disorder. FSiPP is a safe, 
supportive and psycho-educational group for 
families or significant others whose relatives have 
been diagnosed with a psychotic disorder. It is an 

opportunity for family members to discuss, explore 
and develop ways of helping their relative with 
psychosis and themselves. Attendees felt they 
benefitted from having the opportunity to share 
experiences, feelings and concerns, be listened to 
and to receive support from both peers and 
professionals. It was helpful meeting others in a 
similar position and the group enabled attendees to 
gain a better understanding of psychosis and its 
treatment. 

 Introducing a ’Community Marketplace’ - 
Increasing Referrals to Voluntary, Statutory and 
Non-Statutory Organisations before Discharge from 
Hospital. This initiative was set up in September 
2016 by a Senior O.T. for Daisy/Bluebell Ward.  It is 
an open forum attended by a variety of third sector 
and voluntary agencies that can all provide support 
to patients when they leave hospital. 

 

 
2.1.11. Improvements in Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services  
  (CAMHS) 
 

CAMHS has remained an area of national focus 
throughout 2016/17. Our service leads have been fully 
engaged with the multi-agency groups working to 
implement the Future in Mind recommendations to 
transform local services for children and young 
people’s emotional wellbeing and mental health.  
The recruitment undertaken following investment in 
2015/16 has enabled CAMHS to make real progress 
this year with waiting times falling across all parts of 
the service.  
 

Average waiting times for a first triage assessment in 
the CAMHS Common Point of Entry are now 
consistently below 6 weeks, which is less than the 
national average of 9 weeks. The introduction of an 
on-line support network for parents and carers of 
young people referred to this team is enabling us to 
provide both expert clinical and peer support to 
families prior to and following diagnostic assessment.  
 

Improving information about the service has been a 
priority through 2016/17 in order to: 
• improve knowledge and understanding of BHFT 

CAMHS referral criteria across all partner agencies 
• reduce the number of referrals to CPE that should be 

managed through Tier 2/early intervention services 

 improve system working to enable children and 
young people to access early intervention and 

targeted services where these are the right service 
to meet their needs 

• improve partnership working with early intervention 
and targeted services to ensure children, young 
people and families are well supported 

 

The Trust has dedicated communication resource to 
support this and a programme of CAMHS update 
newsletters has been produced to raise awareness of 
referral systems, provide information on the referral 
process and provide links to more detailed referral 
guidelines on the service website. These have been 
shared with key partners. Information to support 
improvements in referral quality is being provided via 
a dedicated programme of training to colleagues in 
primary care, education and other agencies. This will 
be progressed further through the development of 
the CYPF Health Hub and the Trust CPE education 
programme.  
 

New investment in 2016/17 has enabled the 
development of pilot projects to enable a more rapid 
response to children and young people experiencing 
mental health crisis. These pilots were set up to offer 
enhanced care planning in conjunction with partner 
agencies to provide wrap-around care to keep young 
people safe. The teams are providing focussed, high 
level, crisis support to enable a more rapid response 

88



  

31 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

to young people who present to emergency services 
at the point of crisis and to avoid escalation into crisis 
where possible; through intensive community 
support. The project in the West of the county has 
been running all year and has demonstrated 
significant benefits in terms of a more rapid response 
to young people presenting to emergency services in 
crisis, with reduced waiting times for assessment, 
reduced admissions and more rapid throughput 
resulting in fewer occupied bed days. The East project 
is smaller and has only been in place for a short period 
but is already showing similar positive outcomes. The 
trust is hopeful that these pilots will develop into a 
sustained new service in 2017/18, providing equity of 
care across the county. 
 

CAMHs Eating Disorder Service 
The new Community CAMHS Eating Disorders Service 
went live in October 2016.  Recruitment, induction 

and training of staff are still ongoing, but the team is 
now offering a community based service to young 
people that is able to meet the national waiting time 
targets of 7 days for urgent referrals and 1 month for 
routine referrals.  
 

The new service is providing high quality evidence- 
based interventions, including in-reach to the acute 
paediatric wards where required, for all new referrals 
and existing cases that have transitioned to the team 
where appropriate. The service is being managed 
alongside the adult eating disorder service to enable 
an all-age service with smooth transition when 
needed. The team have already delivered some 
training to key partners, including our acute paediatric 
colleagues and further training, including a launch 
conference are planned for 2017/18. 

 

2.1.12. Improvements in Pharmacy 
 

Pharmacy/Medicines Optimisation 
Electronic Prescribing and Medicines Administration 
(EPMA): The Trust has committed to implementing 
EPMA.  This will revolutionise current prescribing and 
administration processes across the Trust, enabling 
better monitoring and audit of medicines, thus 
contributing to improved patient safety.  It will 
provide efficiency opportunities and will enable 
greater patient facing activity to be undertaken. 
 

Joint Formulary 
BHFT have strong relationships with Berkshire West 
CCGs and contribute to a Joint Formulary.  We have 
recently met with Frimley Health Drugs and 
Therapeutic Committee and now have Trust 
representation across Berkshire East CCGs which is a 
significant improvement and will facilitate collaborate 
working which will ultimately improve patient care.  
There is also work within BHFT to harmonise our 
formulary with the CCGs and our acute trust partners. 

 

The College of Mental Health Pharmacy (CMHP):  The 
BHFT project student was awarded the CMHP 
Undergraduate Pharmacist Research Award for 2016 
for ‘An audit of Anticholinergic Cognitive Burden in 
elderly mental health and dementia patients’. 
 

Safety Improvement 
The Availability of Urgent Medicines Audit was 
awarded the runner-up prize at the CMHP conference 
and was also shortlisted for the Trust’s Quality 
Improvement Awards.   This audit resulted in the 
development and internal publishing of a 
standardised, detailed list of urgent medicines that 
wards/services should keep.  It addressed many 
longstanding issues with a clear benefit to patient 
safety.  The Research and Development Pharmacist 
was highly commended at the CMHP conference for 
their paliperidone service evaluation poster. 

89



  

32 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.2. Setting Priorities for Improvement for  2017/18 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

2.2.1. Quality Improvement Priority 
 To implement the trust quality improvement 

initiative. Metrics will be defined by the 
programme of work and will link with all three 
aspects of quality; safety, effectiveness and 
experience 

 

2.2.2. Patient Safety Priorities 
 Falls 

 Pressure Ulcers 

 Health promotion- To continue implementing the 
Zero Suicide initiative 

 

2.2.3. Clinical Effectiveness Priorities 
 To report on the implementation of NICE 

guidance identified as a Trust priority 

 To review and report on mortality in line with 
new national guidance as it is published 

2.2.4. Patient Experience Priorities 
 To continue to prioritise and report on patient 

satisfaction and make improvements. 
• To improve on national patient and staff survey 

results  
• To continue to prioritise learning from complaints 
• To continue implementing the Patient Leadership 

Programme 

 

2.2.5. Monitoring of Priorities for 
Improvement 
All priorities detailed above will be monitored on a 
quarterly basis by the Trust Quality Assurance 
Committee as part of the Quality Report and the 
Board of Directors will be informed of performance 
against agreed targets. We will report on our progress 
against these priorities in our Quality Account for 
2018.

 

2.3.  Statements of Assurance from the Board  
 
During 2016/17 Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust provided 63 NHS services. 
 

The Trust Board of Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available 
to them on the quality of care in all 63 of these NHS 
services. 
  
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed 
in 2016/17 represents 100% of clinical services and  
 
 

 

 
89% of the total income generated from the provision 
of NHS services by Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust for 2016/17. 
 

The data reviewed aims to cover the three dimensions 
of quality – patient safety, clinical effectiveness and 
patient experience. Details of a selection of the 
measures monitored monthly by the Board which are 
considered to be most important for quality 
accounting purposes are included in Part 3. These 
incorporate more than three indicators in each to the 
key areas of quality. 

  

 This section details Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust’s priorities for 2017/18. Specific 
priorities have been set in the areas of quality improvement patient experience, patient safety, 
clinical effectiveness and health promotion. They have been shared for comment with trust 
governors, local CCGs, Healthwatch Organisations and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
Responses to this consultation are included in Appendix G, together with the Trust response to 
each comment made by the stakeholders 
 

90



  

33 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.4. Clinical Audit  
 
 
 
 
 

National Clinical Audits and Confidential 
Enquiries 
During Q1 to Q3 of 2016/17, 7 national clinical audits 
and 2 national confidential enquiries covered relevant 
healthcare services which Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust provides. 
 

During that period Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust participated in 100% (n=7/7) 
national clinical audits and 100% (n=2) national 
confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits 
and national confidential enquiries which it was 
eligible to participate in. 
 

The national clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries that Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust was eligible to participate in during Q1 to Q3 of  
 

 

2016/17 are shown in the first column of Figure 22 
below. 
This column also details the national clinical audits 
and national confidential enquiries that Berkshire 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust participated in 
during Q1 to Q3 2016/17 
 

The national clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries that Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust participated in and for which data collection was 
completed during Q1 to Q3 of 2016-17 are also listed 
below in Figure 22 alongside the number of cases 
submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of 
the number of registered cases required by the terms 
of that audit or enquiry (detailed in the second 
column of figure 22). 

 Figure 22-  National Clinical Audits and Confidential Enquiries Undertaken by the Trust 

 National Clinical Audits and Confidential 
Enquiries that the Trust was eligible to 
participate in and did participate in during 
Q1 to Q3 of 2016/17 Data collection status  and number of cases submitted 

 

1. National Clinical Audits (N=7) 

Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit 
programme (FFFAP) - Fracture Liaison 
Service Database 

Data collection January and June 2016. 358 patients 
submitted, across 1 service. (Final figure not yet available). 
Report due 2017 

Learning Disability Mortality Review 
Programme (LeDeR) 

Data collection delayed, due to extension in pilot. 

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease (COPD) Audit programme - 
Pulmonary rehabilitation 

Data collection January to March 2017. 0 patients submitted, 
across 0 services. (final figure not yet available). Report due- 
date as yet unknown. 

National Diabetes Audit 
a) Adults - National Footcare Audit 
b) Adults- National Inpatient Audit 
c) Secondary care 
d) Primary Care – Slough Walk in Health 

Centre (SWiC) 

a. 

Data collection continuous. 45 patients submitted, across 
1 MDFT team since 1st April 2016.  1st Report released 
31st March 2016. NB: Report is registered and reported 
under Royal Berkshire Hospital NHS FT. 

b. Not relevant to BHFT 

c. 
Data collection 1st July 2016 to 18th Aug 2016. 1610 
patients submitted, across 1 service. (final figure not yet 
available). Report due tbc 2017 

d. 
Data collection July-August 2016. 250 patients submitted, 
across 1 service. (final figure not yet available). Report 
due  tbc 2017 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit programme 
(SSNAP) - SSNAP Clinical Audit (Post-Acute) 

Data collection continuous. 410 Apr-Dec patients submitted, 
across 4 service elements. (final figure not yet available). 

 Clinical audit is undertaken to systematically review the care that the Trust provides to patients 
against best practice standards. Based upon audit findings, the Trust makes improvements to 
practice to improve patient care. Such audits are undertaken at both national and local level. 
 

91



  

34 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

 National Clinical Audits and Confidential 
Enquiries that the Trust was eligible to 
participate in and did participate in during 
Q1 to Q3 of 2016/17 Data collection status  and number of cases submitted 

 

Report due: Apr-Jul  Results – 19th Oct 

National audit of Early Intervention in 
Psychosis (EIP) 

Data collected December 2015-January 2016. 19 patients 
currently submitted, across 1 service.  Report received July 
2016.  

Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health 
(POMH-UK) 
a) Prescribing antipsychotic 
 medication  for people with 
 dementia 
b) Monitoring of patients prescribed 
 lithium 
c)  Rapid tranquilisation 

a. 
Data collection April 2016. 310 patients submitted, across 
7 services. Report received November 16 

b. 
Data collection June 2016 69 patients submitted, across 4 
services. (final figure not yet available). Report due Dec 
16/ January 2017. 

c. 

Data collection September – November 2016. 29 patients 
submitted, across 1 service. (final figure not yet 
available). 
Report due June 2017 

National Confidential Enquiries (N=2) 

Mental Health Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme 
a) Suicide in children & young people 

(CYP) 
b) Suicide, Homicide & Sudden 

Unexplained Death 
c) The management and risk of patients 

with personality disorder prior to 
suicide and homicide 

a. 
Data collection continuous. 2 patients submitted. (final 
figure not yet available). Report due 31st March 2017 

b. 
Data collection continuous. 8 patients submitted. (final 
figure not yet available). Report due 6th October 2016 

c. 
Data collection continuous. 0 patients submitted. (final 
figure not yet available). Report due 31st December 2016 

Child Health Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme 
a) Chronic Neurodisability 
b) Young People's Mental Health  a. 

Data collection Apr 2016 - March 2017. 0 patients 
submitted, across 1 service. (final figure not yet 
available).  
The Trust completed the organisational survey and were 
not required to collect data as we do not admit these 
patients. 
Report due November 2017 

b. 

Data collection Apr 2016 to Mar 2017. 35 patients 
(inpatients) submitted, across 1 service in the prospective 
data collection and 9 patients (emergency attendances) 
for the retrospective data collection. (final figure not yet 
available). 
Report due November 2017 

Source: Trust Clinical Audit Team 
 
 The reports of 11 (100%) national clinical audits 

were reviewed by the Trust in Q1 to Q3 of 2016-17. 
This included 10 national audits for which data was 
collected in earlier years with the resultant report 
being published in in 2016/17.  Berkshire 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust   intends to take 
actions to improve the quality of healthcare 
provided as detailed in Appendix B.  

 

 

 
Local Clinical Audits 
The reports of 36 local clinical audits were reviewed 
by the Trust in Q1 to Q3 of 2016/17 and Berkshire 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust intends to take 
actions to improve the quality of healthcare which are 
detailed in Appendix C. (NB: Projects are only noted as 
‘completed’ after completion of the action plan 
implementation, which is why there is a difference in 
the number of local projects ‘reviewed’ than total 
‘completed’)

92



  

35 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.5 Research 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The number of patients receiving NHS services 
provided or sub-contracted by Berkshire Healthcare 
NHS Foundation Trust in 2016/17 that were recruited 
during that period to participate in research approved 
by a research ethics committee was as follows: 
 
981 patients were recruited from 65 active studies, of 
which 39 were recruited from studies included in the 
National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) Portfolio 
and 15 were from non-Portfolio studies. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 23- R&D recruitment figures 2016/17 

Type of Study 
No of Participants 

Recruited 
No of 

Studies 

NIHR Portfolio 972 
50 (11 of 
which are 

PICs) 

Student 7 8 

Other Funded (not 
eligible for NIHR 
Portfolio & Own 
Account 
(Unfunded) 

2 7 

Source: Trust R&D Department

2.6 CQUIN Framework 
 
 
 
 
 
To be updated in Q4 
A proportion of Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust’s income in 2016/17 was conditional upon 
achieving quality improvement and innovation goals 
agreed between the Trust and any person or body they 
entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement 
with for the provision of relevant health services, 
through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation  
 

 
 
payment framework. 
Further details of the agreed goals for 2016/17 and for 
the following 12 month period can be found in 
Appendix E & F. 
 

The income in 2016/17 conditional upon achieving 
quality improvement and innovation goals is £X The 
associated payment received for 2015/16 was £X

  

 The Trust participates in research activity to help provide new knowledge that has the potential to 
be valuable in managing and treating patients. It is important that such research is open to critical 
examination and open to all that would benefit from it 
 

 The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUINs) payments framework was set up from 
2009/2010 to encourage NHS providers to continually improve the quality of care provided to 
patients and to achieve transparency. CQUINs enable commissioners (such as the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups) to reward excellence, by linking a proportion of service providers' income to 
the achievement of national and local quality improvement goals. 
 

93



  

36 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.7 Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
 
 
 
 
 
Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust is required 
to register with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
and its current registration status is registered with no 
conditions attached to registration. 
The Care Quality Commission has not taken 
enforcement action against Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust during 2016/17. 

Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust is subject 
to periodic reviews by the Care Quality Commission 
and the last review was on 13th-16th December 2016. 
 
The trust is awaiting the report from this latest review 
and the grid below shows the trust CQC ratings 
following its earlier CQC inspection in December 2015. 
This grid will be updated once the report from the 
December 2016 inspection is received by the trust.

 
 

 
 Source: CQC Website 

Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust has not 
participated in any special reviews or investigations by 
the CQC during the reporting period.  
 

The CQC has carried out the following unannounced 
Mental Health Act (MHA) visits during the 2016/17 
financial year. By law, the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) is required to monitor the use of the Mental 
Health Act 1983 (MHA) to provide a safeguard for 
individual patients whose rights are restricted under 
the Act. 

 29th April 2016- Snowdrop Ward, Prospect Park 
Hospital.  

 28th September 2016- Orchid Ward, Prospect Park 
Hospital. The Trust is awaiting the report from this 
visit. 

 1st November 2016- Daisy Ward, Prospect Park 
Hospital 

 2nd November 2016 Little House (Learning Disability 
Unit), Bracknell 

 14th November 2016- Berkshire Adolescent Unit, 
Wokingham 

All of these inspections highlighted a number of areas 
of good practice and also made some 
recommendations for improvement. Full action plans 
to implement these recommendations have been 
produced and are being implemented. 
 

An MHA Monitoring visit was also undertaken by the 
CQC on Sorrell Ward in January 2017, and the Trust is 
awaiting receipt of the report following this visit. 
 

Finally, the CQC carried out an unannounced 
inspection of the Slough Walk-in Centre on 9th August 
2016. The resulting report, published in October 2016, 
gave the Slough Walk-in Centre an overall rating of 
‘Requires Improvement’. A rating of ‘Good’ was given 
in relation to the ‘caring’ and ‘responsive’ domains.  A 
full action plan to address these findings has been 
developed and is being implemented, with many of the 
actions already completed. 

 The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the independent regulator for health and social care in 
England. It ensures that services such as hospitals, care homes, dentists and GP surgeries provide 
people with safe, effective, compassionate and high-quality care, and encourages these services to 
improve. The CQC monitors and inspects these services, and then publishes its findings and ratings to 
help people make choices about their care. 
 

94



  

37 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.8 Data Quality and Information Governance 
 
 
 
 

Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust submitted 
records during 2016/17 to the Secondary Uses Service 
(SUS) for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics 
which are included in the latest published data. 
 

The percentage of records in the published data:  
— which included the patient’s valid NHS number was:  

100% for admitted patient care  
 

 

99.9% for outpatient care and  
97.7% for accident and emergency care.  

 

— which included the patient’s valid General Medical 
Practice Code was:  
100% for admitted patient care;  
99.9% for outpatient care; and  
99.9% for accident and emergency care. 

Information Governance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust’s 
Information Governance Assessment Report overall 
score for 2015/16 was 68% and was graded as 
satisfactory (Green). (To be updated in Q4 2016/17) 

 

The Information Governance Group is responsible for 
maintaining and improving the information governance 
Toolkit scores, with the aim of being satisfactory across 
all aspects of the IG toolkit.  

Data Quality 

Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust was not 
subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit 
during 2016/17 by the Audit Commission 
 

Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust will be 
taking the following actions to improve quality. 
The Trust is using the latest Commissioning Data Set 
(CDS) version to send data. Data will continue to be 
monitored and improvements made where required.   
  
The Trust continues to monitor the improvement of 
data quality. An overarching Information Assurance 
Framework (IAF) provides a consolidated summary of 
every performance information line and action plans. 
 

Data Quality and Data Assurance audits are carried out 
throughout the year as part of the Information 
Assurance Framework (IAF) and where data issues are 
identified internal DQIPs are put in place. The data is 
monitored until assurance is gained that the Trust can 
have a high confidence level in the data being reported. 
The assurance reports are included in the monthly 
Finance, Performance and Risk Executive committee 
alongside the Performance Assessment Framework 

(PAF) and reviewed in monthly and quarterly Locality 
meetings.  External Data Quality reports published on 
the Information Centre website are analysed to ensure 
consistency in reporting both internally and externally. 
 

The clinical coding team continues to review and 
improve the Trust’s diagnostic data.  As part of our 
continuous improvement programme, a scheduled 
clinical coding audit took place in December 2016 and 
the primary diagnosis rate was 100%, and the 
secondary diagnosis rate was 95.1%. The coding team 
continues to work with consultants across the Trust to 
maintain accurate diagnosis data. 
 

The key measures for data quality scrutiny mandated by 
the Foundation Trust regulator, NHS Improvement, and 
agreed by the Trust Governors are: 
1. 100% enhanced Care Programme Approach (CPA) 

patients receiving follow-up contact within 7 days of 
discharge from hospital (Trust choice) 

2. Admissions to inpatient services had access to crisis 
resolution home treatment teams- gatekeeping 
(Trust choice) 

3. Minimising delayed transfers of care (Governors’ 
choice)

 It is important that data used by NHS services is of a high quality so that it can be best used to 
inform decisions on the management of patients. In addition, data must be of a high quality to help 
inform organisational decision-making and planning. 
 

 Information Governance requires the 
trust to set a high standard for the handling 
of information. The aim is to demonstrate 
that it can be trusted to maintain the 
confidentiality and security of personal 
information, by helping individuals to 
practice good information governance 
 

95



  

38 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

2.9. Duty of Candour 
 
 
  
 
Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust have an 
‘Open Communication (Being Open) a Duty to be 
Candid’ policy that supports our culture of openness 
when things go wrong. 
 
To promote and help embed this policy, face to face 
training has been provided and there is also a page on 
our intranet where staff can access information, flow 
charts and advice. 
 
 
 
 

 
The Patient Safety Team monitor incidents reported on 
our incident reporting system (Datix) to ensure that 
where incidents meet the requirement for formal Duty 
of Candour that this is undertaken. 
 
Our process for formal Duty of Candour  include 
meeting with patients and families, apologising for their 
experience, explaining the investigation process, 
inviting them to be involved in the investigation and 
then sharing the report and findings  when the 
investigation is complete. We also ensure that support 
is offered to patients, family and carers as appropriate. 

 The Duty of Candour is a legal duty on hospital, community and mental health trusts to inform 
and apologise to patients if there have been mistakes in their care that have led to significant harm. 
Duty of Candour aims to help patients receive accurate, truthful information from health providers. 
 

96



  

39 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

3. Review of Performance 
 

3.1 Review of Quality Performance 2016/17 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Never Events 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The Trust has reported 0 never events in 2016/17. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Incidents and Serious incidents (SIs) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
The Trust aims to maximise reporting of incidents 
whilst reducing their severity level through early 
intervention and organisational learning. 
Organisations that report more incidents usually have 
a better and more effective safety culture. The annual 
number of patient safety incidents reported by the 
Trust is detailed in part 3.2 below. 
 
Figure 24 below shows the annual number of serious 
incidents reported by the trust in comparison with the 
previous financial years.  
 
It should be noted that from 2015/16 Admission of 
Minors was no longer reported as an SI.

 Figure 24-  Number of SIs- Year on Year Comparison (excluding pressure ulcers) (To be completed in Q4) 

 
 Source: Trust Serious Incident Report 

99 
89 91 

75 

0

50

100

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016/17

 In addition to the key priorities detailed in Part 2 of this report, the Trust Board receives 
monthly Performance Assurance Framework reports related to key areas of quality. The metrics in 
these reports are closely monitored through the Trust Quality Governance systems including the 
Quality Executive Group and the Board Audit Committee. They provide assurance against the key 
national priorities from the Department of Health’s Operating Framework and include 
performance against relevant indicators and performance thresholds set out in the Compliance 
Framework. Information relating to specific areas of Trust quality and safety performance in 
2016/17 is detailed below. 
 

 Never events are a sub-set of Serious 
Incidents and are defined as ‘serious, 
largely preventable patient safety incidents 
that should not occur if the available 
preventative measures have been 
implemented by healthcare providers’. 
 

 An incident is any unintended or 
unexpected event which could have or did 
lead to harm for one or more people. 
Serious incidents are events in health care 
where the potential for learning is so 
great, or the consequences to patients, 
families and carers, staff or organisations 
are so significant, that they warrant using 
additional resources to mount a 
comprehensive response. 
 

97



  

40 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Summary of findings from Quarter 3 2016/17 
Serious Incident (SI) reporting 
 

Suicide cases: In Q3 there were 4 SIs reported as 
suicides/suspected suicides. This is 4 fewer than were 
reported in the previous quarter. There were no SIs 
reported as attempted suicides in Q3. 
 

Unexpected Deaths: There were 5 unexpected deaths 
initially reported as SIs in Q3. Of these deaths, 4 were 
of patients known to Community Mental Health 
Services and 1 was a detained patient who was 
transferred to an acute hospital due to unexplained 
deterioration of his physical health. This death was 
reported to the CQC in line with their requirements; 
however it was downgraded from being reported as 
an SI following the cause of death being established. 
One of the unexpected deaths within the community 
was also downgraded once it was established by the 
Coroner that the cause of death was accidental. 
Therefore a total of 3 unexpected deaths have been 
captured. 
 

Falls: In Q3, there was 1 SI reported for a patient fall 
on a trust ward. However, it was agreed with 
commissioners that this should be downgraded due to 
the patient’s underlying medical condition. 
 

Pressure Ulcers: Prior to April, 2016, category 3 and 4 
pressure ulcers were reported as SI’s if they 
developed when the patient was in our care and were 
assessed as being avoidable. However, in agreement 
with the Commissioners, since April 2016 there is no 
longer a need to report developed pressure ulcers as 
SIs unless it is deemed that there was a significant 
lapse in care. Instead, the Deputy Director of Nursing 
holds a Learning Summit with the ward/community 
team. The aim of this is to improve care by involving 
the teams in identifying learning and areas for 
improvement in care provision. The process also 
includes establishment of any themes that can be 
shared across the organisation. In Q3, 5 learning 
events were held for incidents of pressure damage 
where it was identified that there was a potential 
lapse in care that could have contributed to the 
development of the category 3 or 4 pressure ulcer. 
For 4 of these the learning summit agreed there to be 
a lapse in care. The remaining learning summit 
concluded that there had been no lapse in care by 
Berkshire Healthcare staff that would have 
contributed to the development to the pressure ulcer. 
 

Downgrades: At the time of writing this report, 1 fall 
and 2 unexpected deaths that were initially reported 
as SIs in Q3 have been subsequently downgraded 
following further information from the Coroner and in 
agreement with the CCG. 
 

Death of detained patients: There was 1 death of a 
detained patient in Q3. This was reported to the CQC 
and initially also reported as an SI. However, on 
confirmation of cause of death from the coroner and 
discussion with commissioners this was downgraded 
 

Key themes identified in SI investigation reports 
approved in Quarter 3 2016/17, together with 
actions taken to improve services: 
 

Carers and families: Already a theme from previous 
quarterly reports, the views of carers and families 
continues to be a focus in many of the 
recommendations made in recent investigations. The 
importance of seeking their view on the needs of the 
patient and how they view the level of risk and then 
how it is documented in RiO, features in a number of 
SIs closed this quarter. In addition, the need to offer 
carers assessments and structure assessments so that 
carers do not feel they are always being asked the 
same question has been raised. 
Actions taken to address this are as follows: 

 The recent Making Families Count Workshop 
provided for our staff was very well attended and 
gave an emotive and powerful insight into the 
importance of involving families both during care 
and treatment as well as after an SI. 

 The CPA policy and document are being updated 
with a planned go live of 28th February 2017. The 
new CPA form captures Service User and carers 
views. A focus group with carers has informed the 
new CPA form and our approach to involving 
carers in CPA. We consulted a carer activist to 
advise us on this documentation and also our 2017 
carer awareness training materials and this 
resulted in significant changes to the materials and 
language used based on carer feedback. 

 The new risk documentation has a default section 
to prompt staff to record carer’s views. 

 A new element of our risk training focuses on 
involving carers, this includes: 
o a clip for helping staff to address information 

sharing and confidentiality when the service 
users does not wish for information to be 
shared, 

98



  

41 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

o exploring the concept of carer involvement 
and strategies to enhance this using examples 
from practice, 

o examination of family involvement with 
suicidal clients using participants own cases. 

 

Overall quality of documentation of risk 
This remains a theme and more than one 
investigation has highlighted that risk assessments are 
still not always being updated or being completed 
using all available information to ensure risk is 
appropriately assessed. Not updating nursing care 
plans and risk management plans has also featured. 
The lack of a clearly documented crisis contingency 
plan also needs to be addressed. 
Actions taken to address this are as follows: 

 In response to this on-going theme, the new risk 
tool in RiO went live on 10th January 2017. All 
mental health services have received several 
communications about this. The main change is 
that there will no longer be the tick boxes or the 
requirement to have a separate risk management 

care plan or crisis contingency plan as these are 
now embedded within the risk assessment in RiO. 
All information in the current risk document will 
pull through to the new version. Staff (with service 
users/carers) will now be completing risk 
management plans and safety/crisis contingency 
plans on the new format. Service users will also 
now be able to have a copy of their safety/crisis 
plan in a printable letter format. 

 Clinical Directors will be attending team meetings 
to help staff with getting this embedded in practice 
throughout January and the risk trainers will also 
be helping staff. 

 A RiO guide is being developed and there will be 
other resources available for staff to look at prior 
to the go live date. A new section will be available 
on the Trust intranet - this will contain resources 
and examples to help staff - hyperlinks on the RiO 
form will link to this. 

 A new policy and SOP will also be circulated. 

 
Suicides 
Figure 25 below shows the number of suicides 
reported per month, together with the rolling 12 
month figure. 

The figure shows that there were 5 suicides reported 
during Q3 of 2016/17, compared with 9 suicides in Q2 
and 5 suicides in Q1. 

 
 Figure 25-  Suicides- Number per month and rolling year total per month 

 
 Source: Trust Performance Assurance Framework

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

A
p

r-
2

0
1

5

M
ay

-2
0

1
5

Ju
n

-2
0

1
5

Ju
l-

2
0

1
5

A
u

g-
2

0
1

5

Se
p

-2
0

1
5

O
ct

-2
0

1
5

N
o

v-
2

0
1

5

D
e

c-
2

0
1

5

Ja
n

-2
0

1
6

Fe
b

-2
0

1
6

M
ar

-2
0

1
6

A
p

r-
2

0
1

6

M
ay

-2
0

1
6

Ju
n

-2
0

1
6

Ju
l-

2
0

1
6

A
u

g-
2

0
1

6

Se
p

-2
0

1
6

O
ct

-2
0

1
6

N
o

v-
2

0
1

6

D
e

c-
2

0
1

6

Ja
n

-2
0

1
7

Fe
b

-2
0

1
7

M
ar

-2
0

1
7

N
u

m
b

e
r 

Suicides in 12 Months (rolling year total) Mental Health: Suicides in Month

99



  

42 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Absent without leave (AWOL) and 
absconsions 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
Figures 26 and 27 below detail the number of 
absconsions on a Mental Health Act Section and the 
number of patients absent without leave on a Mental 
Health section.  
 
 
 

 Figure 26-  Absent without leave (AWOL) on a Mental Health Section- (Rolling quarters) 

 
 Source: Trust Performance Assurance Framework

 Figure 27-  Absconsions on a Mental Health Act (MHA) Section- (Rolling Quarters) 

 
 Source: Trust Performance Assurance Framework 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

A
p

r-
2

0
1

5

M
ay

-2
0

1
5

Ju
n

-2
0

1
5

Ju
l-

2
0

1
5

A
u

g-
2

0
1

5

Se
p

-2
0

1
5

O
ct

-2
0

1
5

N
o

v-
2

0
1

5

D
e

c-
2

0
1

5

Ja
n

-2
0

1
6

Fe
b

-2
0

1
6

M
ar

-2
0

1
6

A
p

r-
2

0
1

6

M
ay

-2
0

1
6

Ju
n

-2
0

1
6

Ju
l-

2
0

1
6

A
u

g-
2

0
1

6

Se
p

-2
0

1
6

O
ct

-2
0

1
6

N
o

v-
2

0
1

6

D
e

c-
2

0
1

6

Ja
n

-2
0

1
7

Fe
b

-2
0

1
7

M
ar

-2
0

1
7

To
ta

l N
u

m
b

e
r 

AWOLS on MHA section (RQ) Target AWOLS (less than)

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

A
p

r-
2

0
1

5

M
ay

-2
0

1
5

Ju
n

-2
0

1
5

Ju
l-

2
0

1
5

A
u

g-
2

0
1

5

Se
p

-2
0

1
5

O
ct

-2
0

1
5

N
o

v-
2

0
1

5

D
e

c-
2

0
1

5

Ja
n

-2
0

1
6

Fe
b

-2
0

1
6

M
ar

-2
0

1
6

A
p

r-
2

0
1

6

M
ay

-2
0

1
6

Ju
n

-2
0

1
6

Ju
l-

2
0

1
6

A
u

g-
2

0
1

6

Se
p

-2
0

1
6

O
ct

-2
0

1
6

N
o

v-
2

0
1

6

D
e

c-
2

0
1

6

Ja
n

-2
0

1
7

Fe
b

-2
0

1
7

M
ar

-2
0

1
7

To
ta

l N
u

m
b

e
r 

Absconsions on MHA section (RQ) Target Absconsions less than

 The definition of absconding used in 
the Trust is different than AWOL, in that 
this refers to the patients who are usually 
within a ward environment and are able to 
leave the ward without permission. 
 

100



  

43 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Medication errors

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Moderate, major and severe medication errors 
attributable to the Trust 
There were no moderate, major or severe incidents 
reported by Trust staff in this quarter. 

 
Moderate, major and severe medication errors 
reported by, but not attributable to the Trust 
There were no moderate, major or severe incidents 
reported by Trust staff in this quarter. 
 
Number of reported medication errors 
Figure 29 below details the total number of 
medication errors reported, based upon a rolling 12-
month figure. 
 
When interpreting this figure, it should be noted that 
a high and increasing rate of medication error 
reporting is a sign of a healthy learning culture in the 
organisation and that reporting of such errors is being 
encouraged as the first step in ensuring a robust 
safety culture exists. 

 
 Figure 29:  Medication Errors (Rolling 12 Months) 

 
 Source: Trust Incident Database (Datix)

  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

A
p

r-
2

0
1

5

M
ay

-2
0

1
5

Ju
n

-2
0

1
5

Ju
l-

2
0

1
5

A
u

g-
2

0
1

5

Se
p

-2
0

1
5

O
ct

-2
0

1
5

N
o

v-
2

0
1

5

D
e

c-
2

0
1

5

Ja
n

-2
0

1
6

Fe
b

-2
0

1
6

M
ar

-2
0

1
6

A
p

r-
2

0
1

6

M
ay

-2
0

1
6

Ju
n

-2
0

1
6

Ju
l-

2
0

1
6

A
u

g-
2

0
1

6

Se
p

-2
0

1
6

O
ct

-2
0

1
6

N
o

v-
2

0
1

6

D
e

c-
2

0
1

6

Ja
n

-2
0

1
7

Fe
b

-2
0

1
7

M
ar

-2
0

1
7

Medication rolling 12 months Linear (Medication rolling 12 months)

 A medication error is any patient 
safety incident where there has been an 
error in the process of prescribing, 
preparing, dispensing, administering, 
monitoring or providing advice on 
medicines. Such patient safety incidents 
can be divided into two categories; errors 
of commission (e.g. wrong medicine or 
wrong dose of medicine) or errors of 
omission (e.g. omitting a dose or failing to 
monitor). 

101



  

44 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Patient to staff physical assaults 
Figure 30 below details the number of patient to staff 
assaults. This data has been separated to show 
assaults by patients with and without learning 
disabilities.  

There have been fluctuations in the level of physical 
assaults on staff by patients. Often these changes 
reflect the presentation of a small number of 
individual inpatients. 

 
 Figure 30-  Patient to staff assaults- Rolling Quarters 

 
 *LD data available from Jan 2016 
 Source: Trust Performance Assurance Framework

 
Patient to patient physical assaults 
Figure 31 below details the number of patient to 
patient physical assaults.  
 

 
This data has been separated to show assaults by 
patients with and without learning disabilities. As can 
be seen, the level of patient on patient assaults 
appears to fluctuate. 

 
 Figure 31-   Patient to Patient Physical Assaults- Rolling Quarters (RQ) 

 
 Source: Trust Performance Assurance Framework

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

A
p

r-
2

0
1

5

M
ay

-2
0

1
5

Ju
n

-2
0

1
5

Ju
l-

2
0

1
5

A
u

g-
2

0
1

5

Se
p

-2
0

1
5

O
ct

-2
0

1
5

N
o

v-
2

0
1

5

D
e

c-
2

0
1

5

Ja
n

-2
0

1
6

Fe
b

-2
0

1
6

M
ar

-2
0

1
6

A
p

r-
2

0
1

6

M
ay

-2
0

1
6

Ju
n

-2
0

1
6

Ju
l-

2
0

1
6

A
u

g-
2

0
1

6

Se
p

-2
0

1
6

O
ct

-2
0

1
6

N
o

v-
2

0
1

6

D
e

c-
2

0
1

6

Ja
n

-2
0

1
7

Fe
b

-2
0

1
7

M
ar

-2
0

1
7

To
ta

l N
u

m
b

e
r 

Physical assults on staff-RQ- Exc LD * Physical assults on staff-RQ- LD Only Target  less than
(Assaults on staff (Exc LD)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

A
p

r-
2

0
1

5

M
ay

-2
0

1
5

Ju
n

-2
0

1
5

Ju
l-

2
0

1
5

A
u

g-
2

0
1

5

Se
p

-2
0

1
5

O
ct

-2
0

1
5

N
o

v-
2

0
1

5

D
e

c-
2

0
1

5

Ja
n

-2
0

1
6

Fe
b

-2
0

1
6

M
ar

-2
0

1
6

A
p

r-
2

0
1

6

M
ay

-2
0

1
6

Ju
n

-2
0

1
6

Ju
l-

2
0

1
6

A
u

g-
2

0
1

6

Se
p

-2
0

1
6

O
ct

-2
0

1
6

N
o

v-
2

0
1

6

D
e

c-
2

0
1

6

Ja
n

-2
0

1
7

Fe
b

-2
0

1
7

M
ar

-2
0

1
7

To
ta

l N
u

m
b

e
r 

Physical Patient to patients assaults- RQ- Exc LD
Physical Patient to patients assaults- RQ- LD only

102



  

45 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

3.2 Reporting against core indicators and performance thresholds 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 32 2014/15 2015/16 
2016/17 National 

Average 
2016/17 

Highest 
and 

Lowest 
Q1 Q2 Q3 

The percentage of patients on Care 
Programme Approach who were 
followed up within 7 days after 
discharge from psychiatric in-patient 
care during the reporting period 

98.20% 

98.6% 
* 

98.8% 
** 

98% 97% 98% TBC TBC 

Key:  * Data relates to all patients discharged from psychiatric inpatient care on CPA 
 ** Data relates to adult mental health patients only 

Note:  The acceptable exclusions for these indicators are as follows: (i) patient dies within 7 days of discharge, (ii) 
where legal precedence has forced the removal of the patient from the country (iii) patients discharged to 
another inpatient psychiatric ward (iv) CAMHs patients are not included. 

Berkshire Healthcare trust considers that this percentage is as described for the following reasons: In line with 
national policy to reduce risk and social exclusion and improve care pathways we aim to ensure that all patients 
discharged from mental health inpatient care are followed up (either face to face or by telephone) within 7 days of 
discharge. This is agreed and arranged with patients before discharge and this facilitates our high compliance level 

Berkshire Healthcare trust has taken the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the quality of 
services:  Berkshire Healthcare trust meets the minimum requirement set by Monitor of 95% follow up through 
the implementation of its Transfer and Discharge from Mental Health and learning Disability In-patient Care Policy. 
In addition the data is audited as part of the independent assurance process for the Quality Account and any 
actions identified through this are fully implemented to ensure that we maintain our percentage of compliance. 

Source: Trust Performance Assurance Framework 
 

Figure 33 2014/15 2015/16 
2016/17 National 

Average 
2016/17 

Highest 
and 

Lowest 
Q1 Q2 Q3 

The percentage of admissions to acute 
wards for which the Crisis Resolution 
Home Treatment Team acted as a 
gatekeeper during the reporting period 

97.7% 97.6% 99.5% 99.5% 99.0% TBC TBC 

Berkshire Healthcare trust considers that this percentage is as described for the following reasons: Crisis 
resolution and home treatment (CRHT) teams were introduced in England from 2000/01 with a view to providing 
intensive home-based care for individuals in crisis as an alternative to hospital treatment, acting as gatekeepers 
within the mental healthcare pathway, and allowing for a reduction in bed use and inappropriate in-patient 
admissions. An admission has been gate kept by the crisis resolution team if they have assessed the patient before 
admission and if the crisis resolution team was involved in the decision- making process 

Berkshire Healthcare trust has taken the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the quality of 
services, by: The Trust Admissions policy and procedures provides a clear framework to ensure that no admissions 
are accepted unless via the urgent care service 

Source: Trust Performance Assurance Framework 

 Since 2012/13, all NHS Foundation Trusts have been required to report performance against a 
core set of indicators. This section details the trust’s performance against these core indicators. 
 

In addition, the section includes performance against specific indicators and thresholds that have 
been reported as part of the NHS Improvement’s oversight frameworks during the whole year. 
 

Where available, the national averages for each indicator, together with the highest and lowest 
scores nationally have also been included. 

103



  

46 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Figure 34 2014/15 2015/16 
2016/17 National 

Average 
2016/17 

Highest 
and 

Lowest 
Q1 Q2 Q3 

The percentage of MH patients aged— 
(i) 0 to 15; and (ii) 16 or over, 
readmitted to a hospital which forms 
part of the trust within 28 days of being 
discharged from a hospital which forms 
part of the trust during the reporting 
period 

11.1% 7.7% 7% 7% 6% Not 
Available 
(National 
Indicator 

last 
updated 

2013) 

Not 
Available 

 

Berkshire Healthcare trust considers that this percentage is as described for the following reasons: 
The Trust focusses on managing patients at home wherever possible and has fewer mental health beds for the 
population than in most areas.  Sometimes the judgement to send a patient home may be made prematurely or 
there may be deterioration in the patient’s presentation at home due to unexpected events 

Berkshire Healthcare trust has taken the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the quality of 
services, by: Further work will be done by the relevant trust groups to work on the readmissions, to identify 
actions to reduce it. 

Source: Trust Performance Assurance Framework 
   
 

Figure 35 2014/15 2015/16 
2016/17 

 

National 
Average 
2016/17 

Highest 
and 

Lowest 

The indicator score of staff employed 
by, or under contract to, the trust 
during the reporting period who would 
recommend the trust as a provider of 
care to their family or friends 

3.77 
 
 

 
 

71% 

3.83 
 
 

 
 

74% 

TBC KF1. Staff recommendation 

of the organisation as a 
place to work or receive 
treatment- Score out of 5 

 
TBC Q21d.”If a friend or relative 

needed  treatment, I would 
be happy with the standard 
of care provided by this 
organisation" 

TBC 
 
 

 
 

TBC 
 

TBC 
 

 

 
 

TBC 
 

Berkshire Healthcare trust considers that this percentage is as described for the following reasons: 
The Trust’s score is better than average and improving year on year. Possible scores range from 1 to 5, with 1 
indicating that staff are poorly engaged (with their work, their team and their trust) and 5 indicating that staff are 
highly engaged. Advocacy of recommendation along with staff involvement, and staff motivation are strong 
indicators of the level of staff engagement with in the trust. 

Berkshire Healthcare trust has taken the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the quality of 
services, by: Implementing a five year Organisational Development strategy which has at its heart the achievement 
of high levels of staff engagement and through that high quality care and service delivery. The specific objectives 
of the strategy, to be implemented in stages over five years are: To enable every member of staff to see how their 
job counts, to listen and involve staff in decisions that impact their areas of work, to provide support for their 
development, and to develop our clinical and managerial leaders. In this, Berkshire Healthcare Trust has signed up 
to the national Pioneer initiative – Listening into Action – aimed at engaging and empowering staff in achieving 
better outcomes for patient safety and care. 

Source- National Staff Survey 
 
 
 
 
 
 

104



  

47 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Figure 36 2014/15 2015/16 
2016/17 

 

How 
Trust 

compares 
nationally 

Highest 
and 

Lowest 

Patient experience of community 
mental health services indicator score 
with regard to a patient’s experience of 
contact with a health or social care 
worker during the reporting period 

6.9 6.8 7.2 
(Score out of 10) 

About 
the same 
as similar 

trusts 

6.1-7.5 

Berkshire Healthcare trust considers that this percentage is as described for the following reasons: 
The Trusts score is in line with other similar Trusts 

Berkshire Healthcare trust has taken the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the quality of 
services, by: Being committed to improving the experience of all users of their services. Data is collected from a 
number of sources to show how our users feel about the service they have received. Actions are put in place 
through a number of initiatives to improve both an individual’s experience and if required to change the service 
provision. 

Source: National Community Mental Health Survey 
 

Figure 37 2014/15 2015/16 
2016/17 National 

Average 
2016/17 

Highest 
and 

Lowest 
Q1 Q2 Q3 

The number of patient safety incidents 
reported * 

3642 
* 

3513 
* 

950 
* 

831 
* 

785 
* 

N/A N/A 

Rate of patient safety incidents 
reported within the trust during the 
reporting period per 1000 bed days 

31.4 
* 

31.3 
* 

17.0 
* 

29.2 
* 

32.9 
* 

TBC 
(Median) 

** 

TBC 
** 

The number and percentage of such 
patient safety incidents that resulted in 
severe harm or death 

49 
(1.3%) 

* 

56 
(1.6%) 

* 

14 
(1.5%) 

* 

15 
(1.8%) 

* 

7 
(0.9%) 

* 

TBC 
(TBC%) 

** 

TBC 
 

** 

Berkshire Healthcare trust considers that this percentage is as described for the following reasons: 
The above data shows the reported incidents per 1,000 bed days with the targets set based on average reporting for the year. 
In the NRLS most recent report published in MONTH 2017, the median reporting rate for the cluster nationally was X incidents 
per 1,000 bed days (but please note this covers the 6-month period XXXXX, for which period the NRLS gives the BHFT rate as X 
incidents per 1,000 bed days). High levels of incident reporting are encouraged as learning from low level incidents is thought 
to reduce the likelihood of more serious incidents. 

Berkshire Healthcare trust has taken the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the quality of 
services, by: Bolstering the internal governance and scrutiny of serious incident reports, their recommendations and action 

plans. Implementation of strategies to address common findings in serious incident reports, including clinical record keeping 
and triangulation of patient risk information. 

Sources:  *  Trust Figures  
  **  NRLS report published in MONTH 2017 covering MONTH- MONTH relating to X Mental  

   Health Organisations 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

105



  

48 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Figure 38 
Annual Comparators 

Target 2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/17  Commentary 

Q1 Q2 Q3 

Patient Safety        

CPA review within 12 
months 

95% 96.0% 96.1% 96.3% 95.3% 95.3 For patients discharged on 
CPA in year last 12 months.  
Fig shown is Monthly avg % 

Never Events  
 

0 0 0 0 0 0 Full year no. of never events. 
Source Trust Patient Safety 
Report 

Infection Control- 
MRSA bacteraemia  

0 0 0 0 0 0 Full year number MRSA 

Infection Control-  
C. difficile due to lapses in 
care (Include Rate at Q4) 

<6 p/a 0 1 0 0 0 Full Year number & rate per 
1000 bed days of C. Diff due 
to lapses in care 

Medication errors Increased 
Report. 

576 623 634 688 654 Cumulative rolling year no. of 
medication errors reported 

Clinical Effectiveness 

Mental Health minimising 
delayed transfers of care 
(Relates to Mental Health delays 
only-Health & Social Care). 

<7.5% 1.5% 1.7% 8.15% 11.9% 10.3% Calculation = number of days 
delayed in month divided by 
OBDs (Inc. HL) in month. Fig. 
shown is Monthly avg %.   

Meeting commitment to 
serve new psychosis cases 
by early intervention teams-
New Early Intervention 
cases.   

99 124 131 51 80 108 Cumulative total number in 
year 

Early intervention in 
psychosis (EIP): people 
experiencing a first episode 
of psychosis treated with a 
NICE-approved care package 
within two weeks of referral  

N/A N/A N/A 91% 77% 90% Added from Q4 2015/16 
Figure shown is average 
monthly % 

Improving access to 
psychological therapies 
(IAPT): 
People with common mental 
health conditions referred to 
the IAPT programme will be 
treated within 6 weeks of 
referral 

N/A N/A N/A 98% 98.6% 98.6% Added from Q4 2015/16 
Figure shown is average 
monthly % 

Improving access to 
psychological therapies 
(IAPT): 
People with common mental 
health conditions referred to 
the IAPT programme will be 
treated within 18 weeks of 
referral 
 

N/A N/A N/A 99.7% 100% 100% Added from Q4 2015/16 
Figure shown is average 
monthly % 

A&E: maximum waiting time 
of four hours from arrival to 
admission/ transfer/ disch. 

95% 99.5% 99.4% 99.5% 99.3% 99.6% Fig shown is Monthly avg % 

Completeness of  Mental 
Health Minimum Data Set 

99.6% 
50% 

99.6 
99.2 

99.8 
99.2 

 99.9 
 98.9 

99.9% 
98.6% 

99.9% 
98.6% 

Fig shown is Monthly avg % 

106



  

49 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Source: Trust Performance Assurance Framework, except where indicated in commentary 
 

Figure 38 
Annual Comparators 

Target 2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/17 Commentary 

Q1 Q2 Q3 

Completeness of 
Community service data 
1) Referral to treatment info. 
2) Referral info. 
3) Treatment activity info. 

 
 

50% 
50% 
50% 

 
 

72.3% 
62.4% 
98.0% 

 
 

72.1% 
61.8% 
96.9% 

 
 

71.3% 
62.0% 
97.0% 

 
 

71.0% 
62.3% 
97.3% 

 
 

71.3% 
62.6% 
97% 

 
 
Fig shown is Monthly avg % 

Patient Experience        

Referral to treatment (RTT) 
waiting times – non 
admitted –community. 

95% 
<18 

weeks 

99.8% 99.5% 99.3% 99.3% 98.3% Waits are for consultant led 
services in East CHS, Diabetes, 
and Paediatric services from 
referral to treatment (stop 
clock). Notification received 
from NHS England to exclude 
sexual health services. Figure 
shown is monthly avg. % 

RTT waiting times 
Community: Incomplete 
pathways 

92% 
<18 

weeks 

100% 99.7% 99.3% 98.0% 99.9% Year-end average.  

Access to healthcare for 
people with a learning 
disability 

 Green 
21 

Green 
20 

Green 
20 

Green 
20 

Green 
20 

Score out of 24 

Complaints received  244 218 66 56 36 Total number in year or Qtr 

1. Complaint acknowledged 
within 3 working days 

2. Complaint resolved 
within timescale of 
complainant 

100% 
 
 
 

90% 

100% 
 
 
 

92% 

96.3% 
 
 
 

91.4% 

100% 
 
 
 

100% 

100% 
 
 
 

100% 

100% 
 
 
 

100% 

Full year % or Quarter % 

107



  

50 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

3.3 Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Quality 
Report 
 
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 
to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. 
NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual quality 
reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that NHS foundation trust 
boards should put in place to support the data quality for the preparation of the quality report. 
In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 

 the content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS foundation trust annual reporting 
manual 2016/17 and supporting guidance 

 the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of information including: 
o board minutes and papers for the period April 2016 to [the date of this statement] 
o papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2016 to [the date of this statement] 
o feedback from commissioners dated XX/XX/20XX 
o feedback from governors dated XX/XX/20XX 
o feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated XX/XX/20XX 
o feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated XX/XX/20XX 
o the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services and NHS 

Complaints Regulations 2009, dated XX/XX/20XX 
o the latest national patient survey XX/XX/20XX 
o the latest national staff survey XX/XX/20XX 
o the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion of the trust’s control environment dated XX/XX/20XX 
o CQC inspection report dated XX/XX/20XX 

 the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s performance over the period 
covered 

 the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate 

 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance included in 
the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in 
practice 

 the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is robust and reliable, 
conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and 
review and 

 the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with NHS Improvement’s annual reporting manual and 
supporting guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) as well as the standards to support 
data quality for the preparation of the Quality Report. 

 
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above requirements in 
preparing the Quality Report. 
 
By order of the board 
 

 
DATE     Martin Earwicker Chairman 
  
    
 
DATE     Julian Emms Chief Executive 
 
 

108



  

51 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Appendix A: Quality Strategy 
 
 

 
 

 

109



  

52 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Appendix B- National Clinical Audits- Actions to Improve Quality  
 

National Clinical Audits Reported in 2016/17 and results received that were applicable to Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 
National Audits Reported in 
2016/17   

Recommendation (taken from national report) Actions to be Taken 

NCAPOP Audits   

National Diabetes Audit SWIC 
(2819) 

The National Diabetes Audit (NDA) is a major national clinical audit, which 
measures the effectiveness of diabetes healthcare against NICE Clinical Guidelines 
and NICE Quality Standards, in England and Wales. The NDA collects and analyses 
data for use by a range of stakeholders to drive changes and improvements in the 
quality of services and health outcomes for people with diabetes. 
The review recommended that the GP service should review local and national 
findings for any possible learning or improvements and identify any local issues 
and develop an action plan for improvement. 

The following actions have been identified and are being 
implemented, including additional nurse training, locum 
medical support dedicated to diabetes screening and treatment, 
and amendments to the screening tools currently in place. Local 
audit is also taking place.  

NCEPOD Sepsis Study (2042) 

The national sepsis report was published in November 2015, with data collection 
taking place in August 2014 The report produced a number of recommendations; 
hospitals should have a formal protocol in place for the early identification and 
immediate management of patients with sepsis. NEWS should be used in both 
primary and secondary care for patients where sepsis is suspected. On arrival in 
the emergency department, a full set of vital signs, as stated in the Royal College 
of Emergency Medicine standards for sepsis and septic shock should be 
undertaken. In addition, hospitals should ensure that their staffing and resources 
are effective in recognising and caring for the acutely deteriorating patients. All 
patients diagnosed with sepsis should benefit from management on a care bundle 
as part of their care pathway. The report recommended that this bundle should be 
audited and reported on regularly. 

The Trust has a Lead Clinician for sepsis and the Head of 
Infection Prevention and Control is coordinating the sepsis work 
stream in order to ensure compliance with national guidance 
and patient safety initiatives. 

National Diabetes Audit – 
Secondary Care 2014/15 (2833) 
 
 
National Diabetes Audit - 
Secondary Care 2013/14 (2777) 

The National Diabetes Audit (NDA) continues to provide a comprehensive view of 
Diabetes Care in England and Wales and measures the effectiveness of diabetes 
healthcare against NICE Clinical Guidelines and NICE Quality Standards in England 
and Wales. 
Nationally a number of recommendations were made for people with diabetes, 
care providers, on care processes and structured education and achieving 
treatment targets. 

The results from the audit provide a picture of the overall care 
against NICE best practice for diabetic patients registered with 
Berkshire Healthcare Diabetic Centre. Overall, the service 
achieved a higher score than expected. Areas that require 
improvement are related to the recording foot care and 
smoking information. Actions relating to this audit will be in 
liaison with local secondary care colleagues.  

110



  

53 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

National Audits Reported in 
2016/17   

Recommendation (taken from national report) Actions to be Taken 

National Diabetes Audit 2013-
2014 (Commissioning West) 
(2039)  

The National Diabetes Audit is a major national clinical audit, which measures the 
effectiveness of diabetes healthcare against NICE Clinical Guidelines and NICE 
Quality Standards, in England and Wales. Data was collected and submitted to 
national audit (on behalf of CCG). 

Action: No action is required for BHFT. 

National Diabetes Audit 2013-
2014 (Commissioning East) 
(2603) 

National Diabetes Audit 2014-
2015 (Commissioning East) 
(2821) 

National Diabetes Audit 2014-
2015 (Commissioning West) 
(2852) 

National audit of Early 
Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) 
(2880) 

The two main recommendations that resulted from the audit are as follows:  
(i) the Trust must ensure that treatment from these services should be accessed as 
soon as possible to reduce the duration of untreated psychosis and  
(ii) the results of the audit has showed that BHFT should ensure that by 
comprehensively assessing physical health they will enable health and social care 
practitioners to offer relevant physical health interventions if necessary. 
Since the time of the audit, BHFT has developed a single EiP service across the 
Trust. The service has team members based within each locality as well as people 
centrally based working either centrally (i.e. in CPE) or across localities (i.e. STR 
workers). The EiP service has a full multi-disciplinary team with dedicated 
psychological therapies. The team is currently working with people who are 
experiencing First onset Psychosis, those with suspected psychosis and at risk 
mental states. The current caseload is 220 people with the expectation that this 
will increased to around 300 in line with suspected prevalence rates. 

The EIP service has significantly changed its structure since 2014 
to provide EIP from a central team and improved both access 
and physical health care for patients.  
The Cardio metabolic CQUIN (Standard 6) for EIP in 2015/16 
required the Trust to provide training to staff to ensure patients 
with Early onset Psychosis are having regular physical health 
assessment to reduce the health inequality and increase life 
expectancy. The service achieved 100% of its CQUIN in 2015/16 
and has now added a Cardio Metabolic form on RIO which will 
allow the requirements of the 2016/17 CQUIN and National 
audits to be accessed and monitored easily. 
A digital dashboard has been created which links into the trust’s 
electronic health record system showing daily updates of 
progress against the new access and waiting time standard for 
Early Interventional in Psychosis (EIP) which is helping improve 
outcomes in Berkshire. 
Work is in place to incorporate a new electronic template based 
on the Lester tool for physical health checks. 

111



  

54 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

National Audits Reported in 
2016/17   

Recommendation (taken from national report) Actions to be Taken 

Non-NCAPOP audits   

POMH - Topic 15a - Prescribing 
valproate for bipolar disorder 
(September 2015) (2644) 

The aim of the audit was to help mental health services improve prescribing 
practice. Valproate has some efficacy in the treatment of acute episodes of mania 
and is one of the treatment strategies recommend by NICE for the prevention of 
relapse in people with bipolar disorder. Like all medicines, valproate is associated 
with side effects and it is important that adequate attention is paid to reviewing 
both the benefits and harms associated with this treatment. BHFT provided data 
from 7 participating teams and 146 patient records were submitted (91% of which 
were from CMHT’s). 
 In comparing BHFT and national results, compliance varied.  In some instances 
BHFT had better compliance than the national average with the exception of 
physical health checks.  Whilst BHFT showed areas of good practice, there were 
many areas requiring improvement.   

Physical health checks in inpatient mental health is an 
established CQUIN in the Trust and much work continues to be 
done to improve compliance.  A similar CQUIN has begun for 
2016/17 for CMHT’s, so work will commence as to how to bring 
about improvements 
A diagnosis of bipolar disorder is a major driver for undertaking 
the NICE recommended physical health checks. The Trust will 
ensure that those patients prescribed valproate for more than 1 
year have a clearly documented review of their treatment. 

POMH - Topic 14b Prescribing for 
substance misuse; alcohol 
detoxification (January 2016) 
(2645) 

This re-audit presents data on prescribing practice for alcohol detoxification 
conducted in acute psychiatric inpatient settings. BHFT was one of 43 Trusts who 
submitted data on any patients who underwent alcohol detoxification whilst an 
inpatient in the 12 months prior to January 2016.  
The report shows that BHFT performance varies through the audit criteria and 
compares only sometimes favourably against the national average. 

Work is occurring, and being linked to a CQUIN.  By linking, it is 
hoped that improvements will be streamlined.  
A tool to support assessment of the signs and symptoms of 
Wernicke’s encephalopathy has been developed for use within 
the Trust. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

112



  

55 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Appendix C- Local Clinical Audits- Actions to Improve Quality 
 Audit Title Conclusion/Actions 

1 Bed side blood transfusion practice (3081) 

The audit was undertaken to comply with (BHFT’s) blood transfusion policy requirement to undertake an annual audit of transfusion 
practice.  The aim of the audit was to ensure that BHFT’s blood transfusion practice is in line with the required National Standards. 
Action: A number of agreed actions  have been implemented included recording the correct care pathway clinic documentation being 
updated, ensuring NEWS score is recorded at the beginning of the transfusion, and improving compliance to the NICE NG24 standard. 
There will also be an audit of transfusion practice on community hospital ward. 

2 
Personal Clinical Practice Audit Using NICE 
CG128 (2055) 

Assessment and thereafter management of children for an autism spectrum disorder constitutes at least 50% of any clinical 
practice/caseload. 
NICE CG128 clearly defines criteria for the diagnosis, after diagnosis, medical investigations in children with autism. 
All patients on who received a confirmed diagnosis of Autism/ ASD between January and December 2014 were included in the audit. 
The audit findings were presented to community paediatricians at clinical governance meeting which confirmed that the Trust’s 
clinical practice in concordance with the NICE guidelines. 
Action: No further actions required. 

3 
An audit of flumzenil use within the 
Berkshire Community Dental Service (2186) 

Flumzenil is a drug used for reversing the actions of benzodiazepines. In the dental context, it may be used after outpatient 
intravenous sedation, to reverse the effects of midazolam. This may be to facilitate a safer return home where recovery is prolonged, 
or the patient has additional or special. Data collection was retrospective, covering a 29-month time period from 1st May 2013 to 
30th September 2015. 
The audit found that the standard for the use of flumazenil within Berkshire CDS was met. 
Action: No further actions required. 

4 
Re-audit of the quality of the GP Referrals 
to the Slough Memory Clinic 2015 (2867) 

The purpose of the re-audit was to re-assess the quality of the GP referrals sent to the memory services specifically the Slough 
memory clinic following the recommendations made in the initial audit (June 2014). The aim of the re-audit was to establish whether 
current referrals were in line with local guidelines and if any improvements were made following last year’s recommendations. 
Overall compliance could be improved if GPs ensure that complete and good quality referrals (as per the requirements of the 
standards set) are sent to the Slough memory clinic. 
Action: The re-audit identified the need to educate GPs with regards to the importance of the referral standards and to emphasise the 
standards to ensure good quality referrals are sent. 

113



  

56 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

 Audit Title Conclusion/Actions 

5 
Mental Health CQUIN 2015/16 (Q1, Q3, 
Q4) (indicator 4a) (2782) 

The Five Year Forward View (FYFV) has set out the vision for promoting well-being and preventing ill health. A key element of the 
Trust’s work going forward will be to align incentives with the reform of payment approaches and contracts. The Trust will work with 
partners and the system to ensure that future incentive schemes are designed to help drive the changes required.  The 2015/16 
scheme is structured so that the national goals reward transformation across care pathways that cut across different providers. 
Mental Health: Improving Physical Healthcare for Patients with Severe Mental Illness (SMI) (Part 4) has a two part indicator: 
4a: Cardio Metabolic Assessment and treatment for Patients with psychoses. 
4b: Communication with General Practitioners. 
For indicator 4a, data on a total of 100 inpatients who fitted the eligibility criteria for this CQUIN was submitted.  The Trust achieved 
86% overall.  
Results of the CQUIN have been submitted to the CCG for consideration, and an outcome is awaited. Indicator 4b was audited without 
the involvement of the clinical audit department. 

6 
Audit of Child Protection Case Conference 
Reports & Documentation Following Case 
Conference (3296) 

The aim of this audit was to establish if the actions relating to the previous audit in September 2010 were being adhered to in BHFT 
(School Nurses and Health Visitors) for children with a child protection plan. The audit assessed if all the required information was 
clearly documented in the records of a child with a child protection plan by Health Visitors and School Nurses, in the six localities. 
From the findings it can be concluded that of the 15 criteria included in the audit, none met the 100% compliance, 5% met compliance 
in 2010. 0% achieved compliance at 90% in 2015 compared to 40% in 2010. Although BHFT have failed to achieve compliance for any 
of the 15 criteria, West Berkshire achieved compliance in 10/15 criteria (67%). 
Action: Actions included introduction of safeguarding specific elements within RiO, and a programme of education to staff. All actions 
are complete and measures have been put in place to both improve record keeping and reduce risk.  

7 
Audit of NEWS Scores on Rowan and 
Orchid wards (3191) 

The National Early Warning Score (NEWS) should be used for initial assessment of acute illness and for continuous monitoring of a 
patient’s well-being throughout their stay in hospital. This re-audit aimed to establish areas of strength and weakness with a view to 
developing an action plan to fully embed NEWS in the clinical monitoring of unwell patients. It aimed to assess the compliance with 
BHFT NEWS policy (CCR116), the completeness and accuracy of the recording and appropriate action taken in response to the scores. 
Standards 6, 7 and 8 in terms of the timings of the next set of NEWS observations, contacting medical staff if score over 3 and 
documenting it, fall well below the compliance standards as well as from the results of the previous audit. 
Action: Rowan Ward to have supervised recording and outcome of NEWS of 3 and above. The Nurse in charge of the shift will 
supervise recording and outcome of NEWS of 3 and above. 

8 
JD/QIP - Falls risk assessment in new 
admissions of older adults (3107) 

This audit aimed to review the patient population admitted to Orchid and Rowan wards with particular focus on their admission and 
ward clerking and whether a comprehensive falls assessment had been made. NICE Guideline CG161 which outlines examples of 
multifactorial assessment was referred to. The results of the audit identified areas for improvement in assessing falls risk Since the 
audit was undertaken, BHFT has begun work to ensure compliance with national guidelines. 
Action: Actions are to be integrated as part of the falls reduction work occurring in the Trust. 

114



  

57 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

 Audit Title Conclusion/Actions 

9 
Re-Audit of Health Visitors Risk 
Assessments at New Birth Contact (2665) 

This audit had been undertaken as part of BHFT’s - Health Visiting Sub Group work plan. The audit was performed to give quality 
assurance following the introduction of a revised electronic Word version of the Health Visitor New Birth assessment tool as 
recommended from the previous year’s audit. The previous audit highlighted the need to improve completion of all sections of the 
assessment tool, to increase legibility and increase the uploading of all assessment documents into the client RiO record. The re-audit 
showed an improvement in compliance in recording information. However, a few recommendations were made relating to uploading 
documents, requirement to record the ‘father’s name, recording of action plans and to ensure training is provided for all staff on 
analysis of assessment information. 
Action: A number of agreed actions have been put into place, linked to supervision and peer review of assessments.  

10 
Is the local HIV service meeting national 
guidelines for care of older patients living 
with HIV (3085) 

HIV patients are living longer and are at risk of developing co-morbidities at a younger age than the non-HIV population. There are 
preventable diseases of particular concern: cardio-vascular disease, osteoporosis and neurocognitive decline which can be assessed 
and detected early, if not prevented. National and European guidelines advise how clinicians should be performing risk assessments 
and how often these should be undertaken. 
Action: Agreed actions have been put into place to address; improve documentation in the pro-forma, have links to geriatricians with 
special interest and pathway referral to neurocognitive testing unit. 

11 
Re-audit of management of patients with 
genital Herpes infection (2765) 

The initial audit done in 2011 looked at management of patients with first episode of genital herpes. The re-audit focused on BASHH’s 
2014 UK national guideline for the management of anogenital herpes to look if current practice fits best medical practice and if it has 
improved since the initial audit. The retrospective re-audit study predominantly showed an improvement in practise compared to the 
initial audit in 2011. 
Action: An action plan is in development. 

12 
JD/QIP – Audit looking at content of 
outpatient letters sent to GPs by Bracknell 
CMHT (3179) 

The aim of the audit was to review the content and quality of outpatient letters for Bracknell CMHT. Using literature research and 
local guidance a list of standards were produced. A number of recommendations were made from recording the CPA status, recording 
the ICD10 codes to documenting the justification for medication changes. 
Action: A new template was trialled. 

13 
JD/QIP - Driving advice given to adults with 
first presentation of psychosis on discharge 
from in-patient units (3024) 

The audit aimed to review whether on discharge staff were documenting for Cluster 10 patients if any driving advice was given to 
patients i.e. whether they could drive, should not drive for 3 months after discharge or should inform the DVLA of their diagnosis. The 
results showed poor compliance for documenting driving discussions and advice in preliminary discharge summary and notes. The 
audit recommended amending the discharge summary so staff could document these discussions. 
Action: An action plan is in development. 

14 
JD/QIP - Prolactin screening and 
monitoring on MH wards (3083) 

This re-audit aimed to assess if there was an improvement since the original audit in 2014 for prolactin screening and monitoring. 
NICE guidelines state that  
symptoms of hyperprolactinemia should be monitored and an initial prolactin blood test should be taken prior to starting anti 
psychotics. The audit found a marked decline in compliance across all standards in comparison to the previous audit. One of the 
issues relating to this is that there is no clear guidance on monitoring and managing high levels of prolactin and no local and national 
agreed guidelines. 
Action: An action, in association with Dr Sodhi and Katie Sims, Pharmacy, for publication of revised Trust prolactin guidelines is in 
place. 

115



  

58 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

 Audit Title Conclusion/Actions 

15 
JD/QIP - Crisis team gate keeping service 
evaluation 2016 (3227) 

This topic was chosen due to increasing admission rate in Prospect Park Hospital wards (PPH). This is the first audit in PPH which is 
based on key policies and standards. The audit was used to assess whether the crises team were meeting benchmarks as stated in the 
guidelines. This project aimed to review admissions during one month to evaluate the Crisis Team action as part of its role as gate 
keeper. This included monitoring of the activities of the crisis team, review of the management and support of acute patients in the 
community without hospital admittance, review of the maximum number of days in care or liaison with CRHTT, assessment of the 
effectiveness of the current system and ways to improve it, evaluation of communication between CRHTT and feedback to other 
relevant parties. The audit found that gatekeeping was not effective for acute cases where a high risk to self or others was identified 
and admission was imminent. 
Action: An action plan is in development. 

16 
Audit on the management of Molluscum 
Contaigiosum in the sexual Health service 
(2938) 

This audit was initiated as a result of a patient complaint regarding skin complication (scarring) following treatment for molluscum 
with cryotherapy. 
Action: Action has been agreed to improve documentation in the notes and to produce an information leaflet for patients. 

17 
Re-Audit - People whose Behaviour 
Challenges -Care Pathway, BHFT Learning 
Disability Services, April 2016 (3194) 

The re-audit measured against Good Practice Standards, set following the re-audit in 2015. The aim was to demonstrate that good 
practice recommendations were used with people whose behaviour challenges. The re-audit demonstrated positive findings, with 
many areas gaining 100%, however, monitoring and review results were slightly lower in comparison to the previous audit. 
Action: An action plan is being implemented and the process will be repeated in April 2017 in order to monitor progress and maintain 
good practice standards. 

18 
JD/QIP - Re-audit of quality and timeliness 
of full discharge summaries for patients 
discharged from adult wards (2952) 

The aim of this re-audit was to evaluate the quality of discharge summaries, according to a set of criterion informed by published 
audits on similar topics, comparing against the initial audit, as well as research into GP preferences concerning discharge summary 
information content. The audit found that out of the total 55 patients, 20 patients did not have a full discharge summary on RiO 
relating to the admission, even after two weeks.   
Action: Recommendations including support templates and tools have been trialled.  

19 Diagnostic formulation (3275) 

This audit aimed to establish the quality of documentation and record keeping for diagnostic formulation by completing random spot 
checks of case notes.  The audit aimed to establish documentation and record keeping for diagnostic formulation by completing spot 
checks of case notes.  The purpose was to promote best practice in diagnostic formulation and for it to become a useful tool for all 
clinicians dealing with complex psychopathology.  The audit showed that patient notes regarding diagnostic formulation are being 
kept in reasonably good order, with staff having a good understanding of its importance in determining the right course of patient 
care.  
Action: An action plan is in development. 

20 
JD/QIP - Improving vital signs monitoring in 
an acute adult inpatient ward (3129) 

The audit aimed to implement changes in the way that doctors requested the vital signs from the nursing staff on Rose Ward, with a 
plan to improve the compliance. The audit found that vital signs monitoring does need improvement on the ward. However, the use 
of NEWS charts has a good impact in monitoring vital signs and is used as part of the management of patient care. Effective use of 
NEWS on wards is frequently audited throughout the Trust.  
Action: Action plan to be incorporated as part of deteriorating patient work stream. 

116



  

59 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

 Audit Title Conclusion/Actions 

21 
Audit of anti-infective prescribing on BHFT 
inpatient wards (Antibiotics) (2016) (3078) 

This audit was a re-audit and part of the Quality Schedule for 2015/16 The last Trust wide antimicrobial audit was performed across 
all inpatient settings in February 2015 as part of the annual audit programme.  The results demonstrated significant improvements in 
3 of out of the 8 quality standards. These improvements were possible because of the opportunities that the successful bid made to 
the Patient Safety Federation enabled. The re-audit looked at whether relevant cultures were being taken, if drug charts recorded 
drug allergies, the route of administration, the dose and frequency of the drug, the stated course length and the indication and if 
treatment prescribed was in line with Trust guidelines. The re-audit confirmed that some improvements had been made since the 
previous audit. However, some improvements are still required. 
Action: An action plan specific to this audit is in development, but will be part of the overall Trust strategy in this area. 

22 
Infection Control - Sharps Management 
(2998) 

The purpose of the audit was to identify whether sharps are handled safely to prevent the risk of needle stick injury; to assess practice 
and the correct use and management of sharps equipment; to assess staff knowledge relating to the management of an inoculation 
injury; to ascertain the current level of compliance with Health and Safety Legislation across the Trust. Overall compliance with safe 
handling and disposal of sharps showed improvements in compliance following the 2014-15 audit. 
Action: The audit report has been disseminated to all department and ward managers in accordance with the BHFT IPCT annual audit 
programme. The actions identified from the audit are to be addressed to resolve areas of non-compliance and that the service shows 
it is working towards completing the relevant requirements. 

23 School Nursing RK Assessment Audit (3284) 

Good record keeping is an integral part of clinical practice and is essential to the provision of safe and effective care.  This audit has 
been undertaken as part of BHFT School Nursing Sub Group following the implementation of new assessment templates across all six 
localities. The re-audit was undertaken following the recommendation that the assessment form has been modified to ensure all data 
is captured. Overall the re-audit showed a high standard of record keeping for school nursing assessments, and showed a vast 
improvement in weak areas identified from the previous audit.  
The audit recommended that staff seek to improve the structure and flow of the assessments, to enable effective and timely 
completion; the building of the assessments into RiO is undertaken and training is provided on analysis of assessment information. 
Action: An agreed action plan has been put into place, incorporating feedback on structure of assessments, and use of RiO.  

24 Consent to ECT Re-audit (3151) 

The aim of the audit was to ensure that BHFT ECT Department complied with national guidelines for compliance to consent for ECT 
and to ensure all patients’ had a robust capacity assessment with relevant documentation prior to ECT to ensure the consent was 
valid. The achievement of 100% in all but one of the entire audit criteria indicate that all staff involved in ECT are familiar with the 
consent to ECT procedure and complying with the policy.  
Action: No further action is required. 

25 
Infection Control: Enteral Feeding 
Community Patients (3276) 

The aim of the audit was to assess the enteral feeding practices, of enterally fed adult patients, where this aspect of care was 
undertaken by either the patient or a carer, against pre-agreed standards. The audit was undertaken for patients who reside either in 
their own home or in a long term care facility. The total compliance for individual patient varied from 67% to 100%.  Full compliance 
was achieved for 4 out of the total 16 standards that were measured. Other standards that did not fully achieve 100% compliance 
related to hand washing, maintenance of syringes, non-touch technique, training and provision of written information on care of the 
feed. 
Action: A number of agreed actions have been proposed for discussion within the Nutrition and Dietetics team. These include policy 
updates, training, and checklists for patients and carers.  

117



  

60 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

 Audit Title Conclusion/Actions 

26 Preceptorship - good to outstanding (3321) 

The Trust is fully committed to ensuring that every newly registered nurse, social worker or allied health professional commencing 
employment within the organisation has access to the comprehensive preceptorship programme. The aim of the audit was to 
formalise the existing preceptorship programme and to ensure the Trusts commitment to newly registered professionals is valued by 
achieving 100% take up across all disciplines. The key points recommended were to increase the number of preceptees following 
clinical practice educator involvement; develop a plan to improve capture of data for audit purposes and to ensure that the Trust 
preceptorship policy is being adhered to. 
Action: Changes have been implemented as part of the project to formalise the preceptorship programme.  

27 Bed side blood transfusion practice (3356) 

This re audit was undertaken during July 2016 as part of the 2016 bed side audit action plan in the infusion clinics which are held in 
Newbury, Wokingham and Maidenhead. The Trust achieved 100% compliance for the criterion of recording Temp/RR/P/BP pre 
transfusion, within 15 minutes and at the end of transfusion and 95% for recording NEWS score. 
Action: No further action required. 

28 
ECT clinical Global impression scale survey 
(3152) 

The aim of the audit was to evaluate the ECT treatment using CGI (Clinical Global Impression), as the outcome measure in order to 
gather evidence to support continued use of the ECT service. This was the fifth year that the survey was repeated. The survey found 
that using the CGI- Efficacy Index as the post ECT CGI showed 96% of patients showed clinical improvement. 
Action: No further action is required as part of this evaluation.  

29 
Audit of Safeguarding response to alleged 
sexual assault/inappropriate behaviour on 
Mental Health Inpatient Wards (2957) 

The purpose of the audit is to ascertain if appropriate risk triangulation between Care Plans/Risk Management Plans, Progress Notes 
and Risk Assessments in accordance with the Trusts' safeguarding policy has been made following increase of incidents of ‘sexual 
behaviour.’ The audit has enhanced the awareness by clinical and non-clinical staff of safeguarding incidents and associated risks and 
enabled actions to be implemented to ensure improvements. The audit has resulted in a standard operating procedure for staff being 
developed.  
Undertaking this audit has enhanced the awareness by clinical and non-clinical staff of safeguarding incidents and associated risks and 
enabled actions to be implemented to ensure improvements. Named professional working more closely with Prospect Park Hospital, 
spending a minimum of one day per week on site, assisting with Safeguarding and ensuring appropriate actions are being taken to 
safeguarding patients. 

30 
The quality of referrals to WAM memory 
clinic (3173)  

The purpose of the audit was to assess the quality of the GP referrals sent to the memory services specifically the WAM memory clinic 
against the standards set by NICE guidelines.  The aim of the audit was also to help to understand whether the current referrals are in 
line with the local guidelines. The audit included all GP referrals to the WAM memory clinic from October to December 2015.  
This clinical audit served to demonstrate that there are weaknesses in the quality of the GP referral letters sent to the WAM memory 
clinic. By improving the quality of the GP referrals, it will help the memory clinic to prioritize the patients and ultimately provide them 
with a good management plan in adequate time. 

118



  

61 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

 Audit Title Conclusion/Actions 

31 
Young people's transitions to adult services 
(BHFT CQUIN, 2016); re-audit of patient 
experiences. (3177) 

This project was undertaken as part of the 2015/16 CQUIN Programme. The aim of the BHFT’s CQUIN 2015/16 was to improve young 
people’s transitions in care from BHFT-wide children's services (mental and physical health) to secondary care adult services. Services 
covered by the CQUIN include CAMHS Pathways and Specialist Community Teams, including the Berkshire Adolescent Service, in 
addition to Specialist Children’s Services (SCS), which includes CYPIT, Specialist School’s Nurses, Community Nurses and Community 
Paediatrics. The results exceed the 10% increase requirement set for overall satisfaction. There is a plan to communicate the outcome 
of the CQUIN across all BHFT children’s services and encourage them to explore in-service initiatives to better the experiences of their 
service users during transition.  

32 
Audit of the usefulness and quality of brain 
scan reports in the Wokingham Memory 
Clinic (3175)  

The aim of the audit was to measure the percentage of people with suspected dementia who have access to a scan and what type 
they receive, and to consider the added value that scans offer to diagnostic accuracy. The information from the audit will be used to 
inform a pilot with the AHSN to introduce a Neuroreader to enhance the accuracy and detail of scan reports. 

33 
Clinical Audit of the NICE and Triage 
Guidelines for the Eating Disorders Service 
at the Berkshire Adolescent Unit (2988)  

The purpose of the audit was to evaluate the Berkshire Adolescent Unit’s Eating Disorders’ service adherence to NICE clinical 
guidelines for the treatment and management of anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa and related eating disorders. The information 
gained from the audit will be used to guide the development of a new eating disorder pathway within BHFT. 

34 
A study to evaluate the effectiveness and 
use of the Solihull Approach by Health 
Visiting teams (3082)  

This audit was a University student project. The aim of this study was to investigate the impact for practice for Health Visiting staff 
using the ‘Solihull Approach.’ This was introduced as mandatory training for all Health visiting teams within BHFT. The project aimed 
to evaluate the perceived benefits and if there were any challenges of using this method. Additionally, the study aimed to find out 
what were the reasons if practice had not changed and how could the ‘Solihull Approach’ be better embedded into practice. Overall, 
staff found that using the ‘Solihull Approach’ positive as a new skill in helping to facilitate therapeutic relationships with patients.  

35 
National BHIVA audit 2015: Routine 
monitoring of adults with HIV infection 
(2886)  

This audit is part of the British HIV Association (BHIVA) National audit programme. Although it is a national audit, it is not on an 
NCAPOP audit, nor is it on the national quality accounts list.  
The aim of the audit was to measure adherence to BHIVA guidelines for routine investigation and monitoring of adult HIV-1-infected 
individuals 2011 and where relevant, immunisation guidelines. The audit achieved good participation and highlighted good practice in 
some areas. It was noted some findings may reflect issues of recording and reporting especially in relation to care provided outside 
the HIV specialist service itself. 

36 
BASHH National Clinical Audit 2016: Sexual 
health screening and risk assessment 
(3280)  

This audit was part of the British Association for Sexual Health & HIV (BASHH) National audit programme. Although it is a national 
audit, it is not on an NCAPOP audit, nor is it on the national quality accounts list.  
The aims of this audit were to enable quality improvement in relation to: Preventing late HIV diagnosis and achieving the STI 
Management Standards (STIMS) target of 97% offer and 80% uptake for HIV testing in GUM. Improving risk assessment and 
management, including alcohol/drug use. Clinical services are recommended to review and develop systems to prompt both 
performance and recording of recommended interventions. Thus the national findings will be incorporated into a local review of the 
clinical services. 

 
 
 
 
 

119



  

62 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Appendix D Safety Thermometer Charts 

 
 
 
 
 
When interpreting the charts below, it should be noted that this Safety Thermometer data does not show the total 
number of each type of harm for the Trust, but only those that are recorded at a specific point in time each month.  
 
The figure below shows the percentage of harm-free care reported on the patient safety thermometer. Berkshire 
Healthcare have achieved 94% harm free care in Q3, 1% lower than last quarter. The all England Q3 percentage was 
94.3. We expect to sit below the All England line as the harms include those inherited to the Trust which are largely 
beyond our influence.  
 
 

 
 Source: Trust Safety Thermometer Reports 
 

 Source: Trust Figure- Safety thermometer, All England Figure- HSCIC Pressure Ulcer Reports

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

1.4

Q1 15/16 Q2 15/16 Q3 15/16 Q4 15/16 Q1 16/17 Q2 16/17 Q3 16/17 Q4 16/17

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 

New Pressure Ulcers BHFT 

ALL ENGLAND BHFT

 Developed for the NHS by the NHS as a point of care survey instrument, the NHS Safety 
Thermometer provides a ‘temperature check’ on harm, that can be used alongside other measures 
of harm to measure local and system progress in providing a care environment free of harm for our 
patients. It allows teams to measure harm and the proportion of patients that are ‘harm free’ 
 

120



  

63 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Types of harm  

The chart below splits the types of harms across the whole organisation. Pressure ulcers remain the highest harm based on safety thermometer data. 
 

 
 Source- Safety Thermometer

121



  

64 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Appendix E CQUIN Achievement 2016/17 (anticipated) 
 

East Berkshire 

Indicator 
Number 

Indicator Name  Description of indicator  
East Total 
Value (£) 

National 1a  

Introduction of 
Health and 
Wellbeing 
Initiatives 

Introduction of health and wellbeing initiatives covering physical activity, mental health and improving access to physiotherapy for 
people with MSK issues. 
Providers should develop a plan and ensure the implementation against this plan. This plan will be subject to peer review. This should 
cover the following three areas; 
a) Introducing a range of physical activity schemes for staff. Providers would be expected to offer physical activity schemes with an 
emphasis on promoting active travel, building physical activity into working hours and reducing sedentary behaviour. They could also 
introduce physical activity sessions for staff which could include a range of physical activities such as; team sports, fitness classes, 
running clubs and team challenges. 
b) Improving access to physiotherapy services for staff. A fast track physiotherapy service for staff suffering from musculoskeletal (MSK) 
issues to ensure staff who are referred via GPs or Occupational Health can access it in a timely manner without delay; and 
c) Introducing a range of mental health initiatives for staff. Providers would be expected to offer support to staff such as, but not 
restricted to; stress management courses, line management training, mindfulness courses, counselling services including sleep 
counselling and mental health first aid training. 

161,584 

National 1b 

Healthy Food 
for NHS Staff, 
Visitors and 
Patients 

Part a 
Providers will be expected achieve a step-change in the health of the food offered on their premises in 2016/17, including: 
a. The banning of price promotions on sugary drinks and foods high in fat, sugar and salt (HFSS)1. The majority of HFSS fall within the five 
product categories: pre-sugared breakfast cereals, soft drinks, confectionery, savoury snacks and fast food outlets; 
b. The banning of advertisement on NHS premises of sugary drinks and foods high in fat, sugar and salt (HFSS); 
c. The banning of sugary drinks and foods high in fat, sugar and salt (HFSS) from checkouts; and 
d. Ensuring that healthy options are available at any point including for those staff working night shifts. 
Applies to BHFT sites where the Trust influence procurement – on other sites we will demonstrate engagement 
CQUIN funds will be paid on delivering the four outcomes above. In many cases providers will be able to achieve these objectives by 
renegotiating or adjusting existing contracts. 
 
Part b 
Providers will also be expected to submit national data collection returns by July based on existing contracts with food and drink 
suppliers. This will cover any contracts covering restaurants, cafés, shops, food trolleys and vending machines or any other outlet that 
serves food and drink. 
The data collected will include the following; the name of the franchise holder, food supplier, type of outlet, start and end dates of 
existing contracts, remaining length of time on existing contract, value of contract and any other relevant contract clauses. It should also 
include any available data on sales volumes of sugar sweetened beverages (SSBs) 

161,584 

122



  

65 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Indicator 
Number 

Indicator Name  Description of indicator  
East Total 
Value (£) 

National 1c 

Improving the 
uptake of flu 
vaccinations for 
clinical staff 

Achieving an uptake of flu vaccinations by frontline clinical staff of 65% 
 

 

161,584 
 

National 3a 
Cardio 
Metabolic 

To demonstrate Cardio metabolic Assessment and Treatment for Patients with Psychoses in the following areas: a) Inpatient Wards b) 
Early Intervention Psychosis Services c) Community Mental Health Services (Patients on CPA) 
 

129,267 

National 3b 
Communication 
with GP (CPA) 

90% of patients to have either an updated CPA i.e. a care programme approach care plan or a comprehensive discharge summary 
shared with the GP. A local audit of communications should be completed.  

 

32,317 

Local End of Life 

Identifying patients in the last year of life is clinically complex. It is recognised that approximately 1% of a GP practice lists are likely to be 
in the last year of life (ONS 2012). Recognising these patients supports advance care planning and meeting patients’ wishes. Patients 
who are in their last year of life and on the GP End of Life Register can struggle to know what the appropriate service is when they enter 
a crisis. BHFT services (District Nurses, Specialist Nurses, Community Matrons, & Inpatients) are often in a position to raise with GPs the 
possibility that the patients on their caseloads may be entering the last year of life to support GP Practices maintaining an up to date End 
of Life register. When patients have been identified as potentially in the last year of life following a conversation between the GP and 
the patient and with the patients consent these patients will be flagged as EOL within BHFT RIO system, additionally in Berkshire West 
patients will be referred to the Palliative Care Hub (final name to be agreed.) These identified patients will be encouraged to contact the 
BHFT Health hub as a first point of contact 24 /7. The health Hub will undertake initial triage, identify the key issues and either liaise with 
the appropriate BHFT service or signpost to the most appropriate partner organisations. 

415,486 

Local  Dual Diagnosis  

BHFT is seeing an increase in numbers and complexity of patients where substance and alcohol misuse is a significant part of the 
presentation. Substance misuse amongst individuals with mental illness has been associated with significantly poorer outcomes 
including: • Worsening mental health • Increased incidents of suicide • Increased rates of violence and homicide • Increased use of in-
patient services • Poor medication adherence • Homelessness • Increased risk of HIV, Hepatitis infection • Poor social outcomes 
including impact on carers and family • Contact with the criminal justice system. In recent years, various agencies and interested parties 
have sought to improve treatment provision for this population at a local and National level and new guidance from NICE is expected in 
May 2016. 
 
CMHTs have made considerable efforts to improve partnership working with DAAT commissioned providers in localities, and continue to 
work on initiatives to promote joint working. CMHTs have taken steps to improve expertise and have developed the role of link workers 
and champions from within existing resources. Engagement in assessment and interventions has been identified as a significant barrier 
to achieve positive outcomes with these patients.  
 
Feedback from CMHT clinicians has indicated the limitations of existing assessments and profiling tools to support engagement and 
outcomes for this client group, and teams welcome the introduction of a tool to support practice, and training to enhance skills. It is 

324,491 

123



  

66 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

proposed that systematic use of an evidence based tool will improve the proactive clinical management of CPA patients with dual 
diagnosis (cluster 16) under the care of CMHT, with the aim of enhancing assessment and care plan review, ensuring needs and risks are 
identified, and improving outcomes. Training for staff to improve dual diagnosis practice, and to provide skills in use of a profiling tool 
with this client group improve engagement and provide focus to the assessment and intervention. The CQUIN includes identification of 
an appropriate profile tool, development and delivery of training, application of the selected tool to identified patient cohort to improve 
engagement, monitoring of progress and outcomes. In order to enhance interface working with DAAT services, the completed tool will 
be shared wherever applicable with the local provider service, to further enhance joint working, improve engagement with provider 
services and improve outcomes. 
 
Training module will be worked up as part of the CQuIN and will cover relevant areas to equip staff with the skills, attitudes, and tools to 
manage and coordinate the care for this group of patients, as well as equipping them in use of outcome measure (e.g. Maudsley 
Addiction Profile / TOPS or other evidence based tool – this is to be confirmed as part of the CQUIN) Preparatory work in 15-16: 
Calculate baseline (numerator and denominator) (expected to be approx. 100 cluster 16 based on Q4 snapshot) 

Local 
Failure to 
Return from 
Agreed Leave  

At any time within the Inpatient Service, patients will leave the ward with permission for various activities to be undertaken off site. This 
may be escorted if clinical need dictates but more often unescorted following agreement by the MDT that a patient may utilise 
unescorted leave. Since the smoking ban came into force on 1st October 2015 the amount of unescorted leave being granted to patients 
will have increased as a large proportion of inpatients will be smokers. The Failure to Return from Agreed Leave indicator (FTR) is 
designed to improve patient safety by ensuring staff are aware of patients’ movements and more importantly when they fail to return 
from an agreed leave period. For the purpose of the FTR indicator any inpatient, detained or informal, who fails to return later than 10 
minutes over the leave period that was agreed and documented by ward staff, and who has not made contact with the ward to agree a 
later return time, will have a DATIX (incident) form raised to capture the breach. Weekly internally audit will analyse and process data of 
improvement and be reported on a quarterly basis. NOTE: By formulising the requirement for reporting all FTR on DATIX there is a risk 
that the number of incidents reported from Q2 will increase. However, this should still be seen as an indicator of improving patient 
safety secondary to the data collection and remedial clinical action that would be required thereafter.  

229,526 

124



  

67 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

West Berkshire 

Indicator 
Number 

Indicator Name  Description of indicator  
West Total 
Value (£) 

National 1a  

Introduction of 
Health and 
Wellbeing 
Initiatives 

Introduction of health and wellbeing initiatives covering physical activity, mental health and improving access to physiotherapy for 
people with MSK issues. 
Providers should develop a plan and ensure the implementation against this plan. This plan will be subject to peer review (further 
guidance will be issue on the peer review aspect in the next 4-6 weeks). This should cover the following three areas; 
a) Introducing a range of physical activity schemes for staff. Providers would be expected to offer physical activity schemes with an 
emphasis on promoting active travel, building physical activity into working hours and reducing sedentary behaviour. They could also 
introduce physical activity sessions for staff which could include a range of physical activities such as; team sports, fitness classes, 
running clubs and team challenges. 
b) Improving access to physiotherapy services for staff. A fast track physiotherapy service for staff suffering from musculoskeletal (MSK) 
issues to ensure staff who are referred via GPs or Occupational Health can access it in a timely manner without delay; and 
c) Introducing a range of mental health initiatives for staff. Providers would be expected to offer support to staff such as, but not 
restricted to; stress management courses, line management training, mindfulness courses, counselling services including sleep 
counselling and mental health first aid training. 

233,235 

National 1b 

Healthy Food 
for NHS Staff, 
Visitors and 
Patients 

Part a 
Providers will be expected achieve a step-change in the health of the food offered on their premises in 2016/17, including: 
a. The banning of price promotions on sugary drinks and foods high in fat, sugar and salt (HFSS)1. The majority of HFSS fall within the five 
product categories: pre-sugared breakfast cereals, soft drinks, confectionery, savoury snacks and fast food outlets; 
b. The banning of advertisement on NHS premises of sugary drinks and foods high in fat, sugar and salt (HFSS); 
c. The banning of sugary drinks and foods high in fat, sugar and salt (HFSS) from checkouts; and 
d. Ensuring that healthy options are available at any point including for those staff working night shifts. 
Applies to BHFT sites where the Trust influence procurement – on other sites we will demonstrate engagement 
CQUIN funds will be paid on delivering the four outcomes above. In many cases providers will be able to achieve these objectives by 
renegotiating or adjusting existing contracts. 
 
Part b 
 
Providers will also be expected to submit national data collection returns by July based on existing contracts with food and drink 
suppliers. This will cover any contracts covering restaurants, cafés, shops, food trolleys and vending machines or any other outlet that 
serves food and drink. 
 
The data collected will include the following; the name of the franchise holder, food supplier, type of outlet, start and end dates of 
existing contracts, remaining length of time on existing contract, value of contract and any other relevant contract clauses. It should also 
include any available data on sales volumes of sugar sweetened beverages (SSBs) 

233,235 

125



  

68 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Indicator 
Number 

Indicator Name  Description of indicator  
West Total 
Value (£) 

National 1c 

Improving the 
uptake of flu 
vaccinations for 
clinical staff 

Achieving an uptake of flu vaccinations by frontline clinical staff of 65% 
 

 

233,235 

National 3a 
Cardio 
Metabolic 

To demonstrate Cardio metabolic Assessment and Treatment for Patients with Psychoses in the following areas: 
 
a) Inpatient Wards 
b) Early Intervention Psychosis Services  
c) Community Mental Health Services (Patients on CPA) 

186,588 

National 3b 
Communication 
with GP (CPA) 

90% of patients to have either an updated CPA i.e. a care programme approach care plan or a comprehensive discharge summary 
shared with the GP. A local audit of communications should be completed.  

 

46,647 

Local End of Life 

Identifying patients in the last year of life is clinically complex. It is recognised that approximately 1% of a GP practice lists are likely to be 
in the last year of life (ONS 2012). Recognising these patients supports advance care planning and meeting patients’ wishes. Patients 
who are in their last year of life and on the GP End of Life Register can struggle to know what the appropriate service is when they enter 
a crisis. BHFT services (District Nurses, Specialist Nurses, Community Matrons, & Inpatients) are often in a position to raise with GPs the 
possibility that the patients on their caseloads may be entering the last year of life to support GP Practices maintaining an up to date End 
of Life register.  
 
When patients have been identified as potentially in the last year of life following a conversation between the GP and the patient and 
with the patients consent these patients will be flagged as EOL within BHFT RIO system, additionally in Berkshire West patients will be 
referred to the Palliative Care Hub (final name to be agreed.) These identified patients will be encouraged to contact the BHFT Health 
hub as a first point of contact 24 /7. The health Hub will undertake initial triage, identify the key issues and either liaise with the 
appropriate BHFT service or signpost to the most appropriate partner organisations. 

279,882 

Local  Dual Diagnosis  

BHFT is seeing an increase in numbers and complexity of patients where substance and alcohol misuse is a significant part of the 
presentation. Substance misuse amongst individuals with mental illness has been associated with significantly poorer outcomes 
including: • Worsening mental health • Increased incidents of suicide • Increased rates of violence and homicide • Increased use of in-
patient services • Poor medication adherence • Homelessness • Increased risk of HIV, Hepatitis infection • Poor social outcomes 
including impact on carers and family • Contact with the criminal justice system. In recent years, various agencies and interested parties 
have sought to improve treatment provision for this population at a local and National level and new guidance from NICE is expected in 
May 2016.  
 
CMHTs have made considerable efforts to improve partnership working with DAAT commissioned providers in localities, and continues 
to work on initiatives to promote joint working. CMHTs have taken steps to improve expertise and have developed the role of link 
workers and champions from within existing resources. Engagement in assessment and interventions has been identified as a significant 
barrier to achieve positive outcomes with these patients. Feedback from CMHT clinicians has indicated the limitations of existing 

559,764 

126



  

69 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

assessments and profiling tools to support engagement and outcomes for this client group, and teams welcome the introduction of a 
tool to support practice, and training to enhance skills.  
 
It is proposed that systematic use of an evidence based tool will improve the proactive clinical management of CPA patients with dual 
diagnosis (cluster 16) under the care of CMHT, with the aim of enhancing assessment and care plan review, ensuring needs and risks are 
identified, and improving outcomes. Training for staff to improve dual diagnosis practice, and to provide skills in use of a profiling tool 
with this client group improve engagement and provide focus to the assessment and intervention. The CQUIN includes identification of 
an appropriate profile tool, development and delivery of training, application of the selected tool to identified patient cohort to improve 
engagement, monitoring of progress and outcomes. In order to enhance interface working with DAAT services, the completed tool will 
be shared wherever applicable with the local provider service, to further enhance joint working, improve engagement with provider 
services and improve outcomes. Training module will be worked up as part of the CQuIN and will cover relevant areas to equip staff with 
the skills, attitudes, and tools to manage and coordinate the care for this group of patients, as well as equipping them in use of outcome 
measure (e.g. Maudsley Addiction Profile / TOPS or other evidence based tool – this is to be confirmed as part of the CQUIN) 
Preparatory work in 15-16: Calculate baseline (numerator and denominator) (expected to be approx. 100 cluster 16 based on Q4 
snapshot) 

Local 
Failure to 
Return from 
Agreed Leave  

At any time within the Inpatient Service, patients will leave the ward with permission for various activities to be undertaken off site. This 
may be escorted if clinical need dictates but more often unescorted following agreement by the MDT that a patient may utilise 
unescorted leave. Since the smoking ban came into force on 1st October 2015 the amount of unescorted leave being granted to patients 
will have increased as a large proportion of inpatients will be smokers. 
 
 The Failure to Return from Agreed Leave indicator (FTR) is designed to improve patient safety by ensuring staff are aware of patients’ 
movements and more importantly when they fail to return from an agreed leave period. For the purpose of the FTR indicator any 
inpatient, detained or informal, who fails to return later than 10 minutes over the leave period that was agreed and documented by 
ward staff, and who has not made contact with the ward to agree a later return time, will have a DATIX (incident) form raised to capture 
the breach. Weekly internally audit will analyse and process data of improvement and be reported on a quarterly basis. NOTE: By 
formulising the requirement for reporting all FTR on DATIX there is a risk that the number of incidents reported from Q2 will increase. 
However, this should still be seen as an indicator of improving patient safety secondary to the data collection and remedial clinical action 
that would be required thereafter.  

559,764 

127



  

70 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Appendix F CQUIN 2017/18 
To be included in Q4 once agreed 

 
Appendix G Statements from Stakeholders 
To be included in Q4 

 
Appendix H 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF BERKSHIRE HEALTHCARE NHS 
FOUNDATION TRUST ON THE QUALITY REPORT  
To be included in Q4 

 

Glossary of acronyms used in this report  
 

Acronym Full Name 

ASD Autistic Spectrum Disorder  

AWOL Absent Without Leave 

BAU Berkshire Adolescent Unit 

BHFT Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

BME Black and Minority Ethnic 

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 

CBT Cognitive Behavioural Therapy 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CDiff Clostridium Difficile 

CHS Community Health Service 

CMHT Community Mental Health Team 

CMHTOA Community Mental Health Team for Older Adults 

CPA Care Programme Approach 

CPN Community Psychiatric Nurse 

CQC  Care Quality Commission 

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 

CRHTT Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Team 

CST Cognitive Stimulation Therapy 

CYPIT Children and Young People’s Integrated Therapy Service 

DEAL Diabetes Education and Awareness for Life 

EPMA Electronic Prescribing and Medicines Administration 

FFT Friends and Family Test 

GDM Gestational Diabetes Mellitus 

HR Human Resources 

HTT Home Treatment Teams 

IAF Information Assurance Framework 

IAPT Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 

IG Information Governance 

IMROC Implementing Recovery through Organisational Change 

KF Key Finding 

LD Learning Disability 

MDT Multi-Disciplinary Group 

128



  

71 

 
www.berkshirehealthcare.nhs.uk 

 

Acronym Full Name 

MHA  Mental Health Act 

MHS Mental Health Service 

MIU Minor Injuries Unit 

MRSA Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus 

MSK Musculoskeletal 

MSNAP Memory Services National Accreditation Programme 

NCAPOP National Clinical Audit and Patient Outcomes Programme 

NCEPOD National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death 

NCISH National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide for people with Mental Illness 

NICE The National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 

NIHR National Institute of Health Research 

OAHSN Oxford Academic Health Science Network 

PAF Performance Assurance Framework 

PHSO  Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman 

POMH Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health 

PROMs Patient Reported Outcome Measures 

PU Pressure Ulcer 

QOF Quality and Outcomes Framework 

RTT Referral to Treatment Time 

SI Serious Incident 

TRIPS Telemedicine Referral Image Portal System 

WIC Walk-In Centre 

 
 
 

129



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Financial Update
	Appendix A Agresso Monitoring March Cabinet
	Appendix B Development Fund March Cabinet
	Copy of Appendix C Revenue Budget Movement March Cabinet
	Appendix D 12 month cashflow March Cabinet
	Appendix E Capital budget summary March cabinet

	5 Adult Services Business Plan 2017-2018
	Adult Services Optalis Business Plan 2017-2018 DRAFT

	6 Mental Health Services Update
	OVS Case Study 1
	OVS Case Study 2

	7 Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 2017 Quality Account

